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Excerpt from the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 
Schedule 2 

Health Professions Procedural Code 

Duty of College 

2.1  It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a matter  
 of public interest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of  
 qualified, skilled and competent regulated health professionals. 2008, c. 18, s. 1. 

Objects of College 

3. (1) The College has the following objects: 

1.  To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance with  
 the health profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and  
 the regulations and by-laws. 

2.  To develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification for persons to be issued  
 certificates of registration. 

3.  To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the  
 quality of the practice of the profession. 

4.  To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to  
 promote continuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members. 

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of knowledge,  
 skill and judgment relating to the performance of controlled acts common among health  
 professions to enhance interprofessional collaboration, while respecting the unique  
 character of individual health professions and their members. 

5.  To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members. 

6.  To develop, establish and maintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their rights  
 under this Code and the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991. 

7.  To administer the health profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions  
 Act, 1991 as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties and exercise the  
 other powers that are imposed or conferred on the College. 

8.  To promote and enhance relations between the College and its members, other health  
 profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the public. 

9.  To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges. 

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability of  
 members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in technology and  
 other emerging issues. 

Duty 

11. Any other objects relating to human health care that the Council considers desirable.  
 1991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s. 3 (1); 2007, c. 10, Sched. M, s. 18; 2009, c. 26, s. 24 (11). 

(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serve and protect the public interest.  
 1991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s. 3 (2). 



 

SCHEDULE 1 TO THE BY-LAWS 

Code of Conduct for Members of the Council and All Committees 

1. This Schedule applies to members of the Council and of all committees of the College. 

2. Council and Committee Members must, at all times, maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty 
when discharging their College duties. They must act in the best interest of the College. They shall: 

a.  be familiar and comply with the provisions of the RHPA, its regulations and the Code,  
 the Act, its regulations, and the By-Laws and policies of the College; 

b.  promote the public interest in his/her contributions and in all discussions and decision making; 

c.  direct all activities toward fulfilling the College’s objects as specified in legislation; 

d.  diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as appointed by  
 the Council; 

e.  regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions; 

f.  offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and committee,  
 when appropriate; 

g.  participate in all deliberations in a respectful and courteous manner, recognizing the  
 diverse background, skills and experience of members on Council and committees; 

h.  uphold the decisions made by a majority of Council and committees, regardless of the  
 level of prior individual disagreement; 

i.  place the interests of the College, Council and committee above all other interests; 

j.  avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts of interest; 

k.  refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the College in  
 any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and business cards. 

l.  preserve confidentiality of all information before Council or committee unless disclosure  
 has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1) of the RHPA; 

m.  refrain from communicating to Members, including other Council or Committee Members,  
 on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports, investigations,  
 disciplinary or fitness to practice proceedings which could be perceived as an attempt to  
 influence a statutory decision or a breach of confidentiality, unless he or she is a member  
 of the panel or, where there is no panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter; 

n.  respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual Council  
 or Committee Members; 

o.  be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be perceived  
 as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment; and 

p.  regularly evaluate his or her individual performance, and that of the collective to assure  
 continuous improvement. 

PROVISION 11.16 OF THE BY-LAWS - Language of Meetings 

Meetings of the Council and Committees shall be conducted in English. 

 



 

SCHEDULE 2 TO THE BY-LAWS 

Rules of Order of the Council 

1.  In this Schedule, “Member” means a Member of the Council. 

2.  Each agenda topic will be introduced briefly by the person or committee representative  
 raising it. Members may ask questions of clarification, then the person introducing the  
 matter shall make a motion and another Member must second the motion before it can  
 be debated. 

3.  When any Member wishes to speak, he or she shall so indicate by raising his or her hand  
 and shall address the presiding officer and confine himself or herself to the matter under  
 discussion. 

4.  Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the  
 presiding office to answer specific questions about the matter. 

5.  Observers at a Council meeting are not allowed to speak to a matter that is under debate. 

6.  A Member may not speak again on the debate of a matter until every other Member of  
 Council who wishes to speak to it has been given an opportunity to do so. The only  
 exception is that the person introducing the matter or a staff person may answer  
 questions about the matter. Members will not speak to a matter more than twice without  
 the permission of the chair. 

7.  No Member may speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except with the  
 permission of Council. 

8.  When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend it, to  
 postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council meeting or  
 to refer the motion to a committee. 

9.  A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only one  
 motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time. 

10. When it appears to the presiding officer that the debate in a matter has concluded, when  
 Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or when the time allocated to the  
 debate of the matter has concluded, the presiding officer shall put the motion to a vote. 

11. When a matter is being voted on, no Member shall enter or leave the Council room, and no  
 further debate is permitted. 

12. No Member is entitled to vote upon any motion in which he or she has a conflict of  
 interest, and the vote of any Member so interested will be disallowed. 

13. Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same session  
 except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present. 

14. Whenever the presiding officer is of the opinion that a motion offered to the Council is  
 contrary to these rules or the By-Laws, he or she shall rule the motion out of order and  
 give his or her reasons for doing so. 

15. The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide questions of  
 order, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate. 

16. The above rules may be relaxed by the chair if it appears that greater informality is  
 beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council requires strict adherence. 

17. Members are not permitted to discuss a matter with observers while it is being debated. 



 

18. Members shall turn off cell phones during Council meetings and, except during a break in  
 the meeting, shall not use a cell phone, blackberry or other electronic device. Laptops shall  
 only be used during Council meetings to review materials related to the matter under  
 debate (e.g., electronic copies of background documents) and to make personal notes of  
 the debate. 

19. Members are to be silent while others are speaking. 

20. In all cases not provided for in these rules or by other rules of Council, the current edition  
 of Robert’s Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be applicable. 

21. These rules shall apply, with necessary modifications, to meetings conducted by  
 teleconference or any other electronic means permitted by the By-Laws, including audio  
 or teleconference. 

SCHEDULE 3 TO THE BY-LAWS - Code of Ethics for Registered Members 

Code of Ethics for Registered Members 

All registered members of the College shall strive to attain the ideals identified in the College’s Code of Ethics. 
The College’s Code of Ethics for registered members is as follows: 

1. General Responsibility 

• Practise within the scope of TCM practice and abide by the laws of the jurisdiction; 
• Maintain high competence (i.e., skills, knowledge and judgment) at all times; 
• Practise professionally, honestly and with integrity; 
• Respect the authority of the College and uphold the principles of self-regulation; 
• Place the health and care of patients above personal gain. 

2. Responsibility to Patients 

• Recognize that the primary duty of a practitioner is the health and well-being of their patients; 
• Respect a patient’s value, needs, dignity and choices; 
• Provide care to patients regardless of their race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, 

citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, age, marital status, family status or disability; 
• Listen and explain to patients the available treatment options, and their goal, risks, effectiveness 

and cost. Provide the best treatment plan to the patient after the patient understands his or her 
options; 

• Provide timely and quality care that is consistent with the standards of the profession; 
• Provide the best care to patients, recognizing one’s own limitations and referring patients to other 

practitioners, or other health care providers when the level of care needed is beyond one’s 
competence; 

• Being honest and fair when charging fees for services and any products or prescriptions; 
• Protect patients from unsafe, incompetent and unethical care; 
• Respect the physical, emotional or financial integrity of patients; 
• Protect the privacy and confidentiality of the health information of patients. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

3. Responsibility to Oneself and the Profession 

• Acknowledge the limitation of one’s knowledge, skills and judgment; 
• State one’s qualification and experience honestly and fairly; 
• Continually upgrade one’s knowledge, skills and judgment to improve one’s services to 

patients; 
• Respect other health professionals and members of the TCM profession; 
• Refrain from passing judgment on the services of another health professional or another 

member of the TCM profession, except when required in the interest of the patient and after 
obtaining appropriate information; 

• Collaborate with other members of the TCM profession and with other health professionals 
in the interest of the patient and the public; 

• Be transparent and timely in providing information to patients, or a third party when 
requested or authorized by the patient or by law; 

• Contribute to the ongoing development of TCM practices and pass on one’s knowledge and 
skills to others; 

• Uphold the honour and dignity of the TCM profession. 

4. Responsibility to the Public 

 Contribute to improving the standards of health care in general; 
 Contribute in matters of public health, health education, environmental protection and 

legislation issues that affect the quality of care to the public; 
 Offer help in emergency situations, if appropriate; 
 Promote and enhance inter-professional collaboration; 
 Represent the profession well. 

 
  



 

 
 

Decision Making Tool for Council 

It is the mandate of the College to regulate the profession of traditional Chinese medicine and acupuncture in the 
public interest. As such, all decision made by Council must uphold the public interest. Below are a series of 
considerations for Council members to help guide their decision-making process. Council members should 
consider each question prior to making any policy decision. 

1. The proposed policy is related to the practice of traditional Chinese medicine and acupuncture.  
2. The proposed policy falls within the College’s statutory mandate in that it reflects a government directive 

or the duty, object of the College.  
3. The proposed policy is related to the public interest.  
4. The proposed policy is supported by the College’s strategic plan, mission or goals. 
5. The proposed policy impacts on: a) health care system, b) patients, c) College resources,  

d) College reputation, e) legal, f) stakeholders, or g) members? 
6. The proposed policy is consistent with current College policies/positions and best practices amongst 

regulatory colleges.  
7. The policy is being proposed to address a particular issue or concern.  
8. There are consequences for NOT supporting this policy at this time.  
9. After having considered all other alternatives, the policy is the most effective solution at this time. 



 

BRIEFING ON MEETING PROCEDURE 

Guideline for Observers Attending a Virtual Council Meeting 
 
Council meetings are open to the public. However, the public may be excluded from any Council 
meeting or part of a meeting pursuant to section 7 of the Health Professions Procedural Code. 
 
Individuals attending as observers are requested to: 
 

• Turn off or mute all electronic devices; 
• Refrain from recording of proceedings by any means, including the taking of photographs, video 

recordings, voice recordings or via any other means; 
• Ensure that your audio is on mute for the duration of the virtual meeting; 
• Avoid using any of the virtual meeting features such as chat, reactions, etc.; 
• Stop streaming video so that only Council members are visible to the Council; 
• Refrain from disruptive behaviour; 
• Refrain from addressing or speaking to the Council while the meeting is in process; 
• Refrain from lobbying of Council members during the meeting, even during breaks; 
• Respect that observers are not allowed to participate in debate of any matter before the 

Council, or ask any questions of the Council; 
• Respect the authority of the presiding officer. 

 

The College reserves the right to remove any observer from a Council meeting if these guidelines are 
not met. Once removed, you are prohibited from returning to the meeting. 

In the event that the Council goes in-camera pursuant to Paragraph (d) of Section 7(2) of the Code, all 
observers will be returned to the “waiting room/lobby” until the Council completes its in-camera 
discussions. When Council returns, observers who remain in the waiting room/lobby will be returned 
to the meeting. 

 

  



 

Robert’s Rules of Order – Quick Reference 
 

1. All those who wish to speak to an item MUST go through the Chair. 

2. The Chair will keep a list of who wishes to speak. The Chair will call  
on you to speak. 
 

3. Please raise your hand to let the Chair know you wish to speak. 

4. To speak more than once to the same item, you need to wait till everyone  
else has had a chance to speak. 
 

5. You may ask only one question at a time. 

6. Voting is done by a show of hands. If a secret ballot is necessary (i.e. elections)  
paper ballots are used. For teleconference meetings, members are asked to  
voice their vote. 
 

7. Each item to be decided will have a MOTION. A motion will be moved and  
seconded prior to discussion. 
 

8. Should an amendment be made to the motion, the amended motion will be the  
item to be discussed and voted upon. 
 

9. An amendment to a motion may be done as a “friendly” amendment, meaning  
the person who made the motion agrees with the change.  
And once again, the amended motion is the one that is voted upon. 
 

10. Once the Chair calls an end to the discussion, a vote will be taken on the motion  
or amended motion. 
 

11. Council members will be asked to vote: 

a. in favour of the motion; 

b. opposed to the motion; or 

c. abstain from voting. 

 (Abstentions do not affect the outcome of the vote) 

12. A simple majority is required to pass a motion. (50% plus 1) 

13. All votes will be noted by the minute taker. 
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE PRACTITIONERS AND 

 ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO  
 

AGENDA  
 

Open Meeting of the Executive Committee 
Wednesday, September 22, 2021 

9:00 a.m. – 3:50 p.m.  
via Webex 

 
Open meetings of the Executive Committee are held in lieu of Council meetings due to Council 

being unconstituted. 
 

Item 
Open/  

In-Camera Time Speaker Action 
1. Welcome and Call to Order  Open Session 9:00 a.m. 

(10 mins) 
D. Worrad 
Chair 

Information 

2. Declarations of Conflicts of Interest Open Session 9:10 a.m. 
(5 mins) 

D. Worrad 
Chair 

Information 

3. Briefing on Meeting Procedure Open Session 9:15 a.m. 
(5 mins) 

D. Worrad 
Chair 

Information 

4. Adoption of the Agenda 
 

Open Session 9:20 a.m. 
(5 mins) 

D. Worrad 
Chair 

Motion 

5. Consent Agenda 
a) Draft Minutes of June 22, 2021 Open 

Meeting of the Executive Committee  
b) Executive Committee Report 
c) Registration Committee Report 
d) Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee 

Report  
e) Quality Assurance Committee Report  
f) Patient Relations Committee Report 
g) Discipline Committee Report  
h) Fitness to Practise Committee Report 
 
A consent agenda is a single item on an  
agenda that encompasses all the things the 
Council would normally approve with little 
comment. All those items combine to become 
one item for approval on the agenda to be 
called the consent agenda. 
 
As a single item on the agenda, the consent agenda is 
voted on with a single vote - to approve the consent 
agenda. This means that there is no discussion on the 
items, that are listed in the consent agenda. 
 
However, if a person wishes to speak about any 
component of the consent agenda, they will alert the 
Chair. The component will be removed from the consent 
agenda and discussed at some point in the meeting. The 

Open Session 9:25 a.m. 
(5 mins) 

D. Worrad 
Chair 

Motion 
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Item 
Open/  

In-Camera Time Speaker Action 
remaining components of the consent agenda can then be 
approved. 
 
6. June 22, 2021 Meeting Evaluation 

Review  
Open Session 9:30 a.m. 

(5 mins) 
D. Worrad 
Chair 

Information 

7. President’s Remarks Open Session 9:35 a.m. 
(10 mins) 

R. Dong 
President 

Information 

8. Registrar’s Report Open Session 9:45 a.m. 
(10 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 

Information 

9. Draft Audited Statement Review 
a) Audit Findings 
b) Financial Statements 

Open Session 9:55 a.m. 
(30 mins) 
 

L. Bell & F. Zou 
Hilborn LLP 

Information 
Motion 

BREAK  10:25 a.m. 
(10 mins) 

  

10. Finance 
a) Appointment of Auditors for 2021-2022 
b) 1st Quarter Financial Statements 
c) Per Diem Policy 

 

Open Session 10:35 a.m. 
(25 mins) 

F. Ortale 
Director IT 
Finance & 
Corporate 
Services 
 
S. Cassman 
Policy & 
Governance 
Analyst 

Information 
Motion 

11. CPMF Requirements 
a) Financial Reserve Policy 
b) Organizational Chart 
c) KPIs & Strategic Plan 
d) Council Member Competencies 

Open Session 11:00 a.m. 
(55 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 
 
S. Cassman 
Policy & 
Governance 
Analyst 

Discussion 
Motion 

12. Draft 2020 – 2021 Annual Report Open Session 11:55 a.m. 
(5 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 

Motion 

LUNCH  12:00 p.m. 
(60 mins) 

  

13. QA Updates 
a) QA Program Enhancement Project 
b) Telepractice Guideline 

Open Session 1:00 p.m. 
(30 mins) 

I. Gontcharov 
Rigor 
 
S. Cassman 
Policy & 
Governance 
Analyst 

Information 
Motion 

14. Council Updates 
a) Government Relations Consultant 
b) Election Update 

Open Session 1:30 p.m. 
(25 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 

Discussion 
Motion 

BREAK  1:55 p.m. 
(10 mins) 
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Item 
Open/  

In-Camera Time Speaker Action 
IN CAMERA SESSION 
The meeting will move in-camera in 
accordance with Section 7.(2)b of the 
Health Professions Procedural Code, [7.(2) 
Despite subsection (1), the Council may 
exclude the public from any meeting or 
part of a meeting if it is satisfied that, (b) 
financial or personal or other matters may 
be disclosed of such a nature that the harm 
created by the disclosure would outweigh 
the desirability of adhering to the principle 
that meetings be open to the public;]. 

 2:05 p.m. 
(60 mins) 

  

15. Dr. Title Working Group Open Session 3:05 p.m. 
(15 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 

Discussion 
Direction 

16. Risk Management Report Open Session 3:20 p.m. 
(5 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 
 
S. Cassman 
Policy & 
Governance 
Analyst 

Information 

17. COVID-19 Updates 
a) COVID-19 Activity Log 
b) Council Member Survey Results 

Open Session 3:25 p.m. 
(5 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 

Information 
 

18. Other Business 
a) Launch of the Ontario Physicians and 
Surgeons Discipline Tribunal 
b) OFC Provisional Compliance Designation 

Open Session 3:30 p.m. 
(5 mins) 

A. Zeng 
Registrar & CEO 

Information 

19. Next Meeting Dates 
 

Open Session 3:35 p.m. 
(5 mins) 

D. Worrad 
Chair 

Information 

20. Meeting Evaluation Form 
 

Open Session 3:40 p.m. 
(5 mins) 

D. Worrad 
Chair 

 

21. Adjournment  Open Session 3:45 p.m. 
(5 mins) 

D. Worrad 
Chair 

Motion 

 
FOR YOUR INFORMATION:  
 
Grey Areas #258, Summer 2021       
Grey Areas #259, September 2021       
Response Letter to ADM re Governance Reform     
Educational Tips         
Workplan Update        
 



 

Open Meeting of the Executive Committee 
College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario 
June 22, 2021 
 

 
COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE PRACTITIONERS AND 

ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO 
 

OPEN MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES 
 

June 22, 2021 from 9:00 a.m. to 3:03 p.m. 
Via Webex 

 
 
IN ATTENDANCE 
 
External Chair 
Deborah Worrad 
 
Executive Committee 
Richard Guo Qing Dong Professional Member  
Ming C. Cha Professional Member 
Feng Li Huang Professional Member  
Pixing Zhang Public Member  
 
Staff 
Ann Zeng Registrar and CEO 
Francesco Ortale  Director, IT, Finance and Corporate Services 
Sean Cassman Policy and Governance Analyst 
Felicia Ng Executive Assistant  
Temi Adewumi Recorder 
 
Legal Counsel 
Rebecca Durcan Steinecke, Maciura LeBlanc 
 
Observers (Council) 
Matthew Colavecchia    Professional Member  
Joanne Pritchard-Sobhani    Professional Member  
Deborah Sinnatamby    Public Member 
Hai Su     Non-Council Professional member (as of 9:44 a.m.) 
Xianmin Yu      Professional Member 
Jin Qi (Jackie) Zeng    Professional Member 
 
Guest Speakers 
Allison Henry     Director, Ministry of Health (11:00 a.m. – 11:52 a.m.) 
Rob DeRooy     Vice-President, Governance Solutions Inc. 
 (1:00 p.m. – 2:31 p.m.) 
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Regrets 
Christine Fung 
Lihui Guo
Shiji (Stephen) Liu  

Professional Member 
Professional Member 
Public Member 

Observers (public) 
Teresa Baclig 
Pierre Chen  
Lynette Choo (available in afternoon session) 
Dylan Kirk (available in afternoon session) 
Suki Man 
Gefestelia Padrique 
Marian Golabek 
Salman Shaikh 
Call in user 2 (until 9:14 a.m.)  

1. Welcome and Call to Order

After calling the meeting to order at 9:05 a.m., the Chair welcomed participants to the 
June 22, 2021 Open meeting of the Executive Committee of the College of Traditional 
Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario. Open Executive 
Committee meetings are being held as Council is still unconstituted. 

2. Declarations of Conflict of Interest and Reminder of Confidentiality

The Chair asked if any Executive Committee members had any conflicts of interest with 
regard to the matters being considered at the day’s meeting. 

There were no conflicts of interest declared. 

3. BRIEFING ON MEETING PROCEDURE

The Chair provided an overview of the meeting procedure, including guidelines for 
observers attending a virtual meeting. An unidentified observer was removed from the 
meeting.  

4. Adoption of the Agenda

The agenda was adopted as presented. 

MOTION: R. Dong – M. Cha 
THAT the Agenda of the June 22, 2021 Open Meeting of the Executive Committee 
of the College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of 
Ontario be adopted as presented.  
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CARRIED 

 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Draft Minutes of March 25, 2021 Open Meeting of the Executive Committee 
b) Executive Committee Report 
c) Registration Committee Report 
d) Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report  
e) Quality Assurance Committee Report  
f) Patient Relations Committee Report 
g) Discipline Committee Report  
h) Fitness to Practise Committee Report 
i) Doctor Title Working Group Report 
j) Risk Management Report 
 
The Executive Committee agreed to move the Risk Management report under Other 
Business, in keeping with the governance review recommendations. 
 
The March 25 minutes outlined a consensus model for the Open Executive meeting. It 
was stated that clarification needs to be provided for the conditions under which Council 
members can provide feedback, as an actual consensus model would not require Council 
members to obtain approval from the Executive Committee. 
 
An amendment is not required, as the minutes reflect the meeting’s discussion. The 
Executive Committee, with the input of Council, makes decisions.  
 
 

MOTION: M. Cha – F. Huang 
THAT the Consent Agenda of the June 22, 2021 Meeting of the College of 
Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario, be 
approved as amended. 

 
CARRIED 

 
 
6. MEETING EVALUATION REVIEW 
a) Review of March 25, 2021 meeting 
 
Eight responses were received for the March 25 evaluation. members of the Council were 
thanked for the consideration and suggestions, as input from the Council is important to 
guiding future discussions. 
 
7. REGISTRAR’S REPORT 
 
Ms. Zeng provided an update on College activities which range from work on the CPMF, 
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work on governance and regulatory activities, as well as collaboration with the Ministry 
and other colleges.  
 
• The College continues to produce educational videos, host webinars, and provide 

communications outreach. Work is continuing on the accreditation project, with 
meetings held with stakeholders to respond to their concerns. A communications 
strategy will be developed to better engage with stakeholders in the future.  

 
• The College is working with a consultant to develop a QA program that meets 

legislation requirements. The consultant will be submitting a plain language summary 
of the final report to the QAC for final discussion. Any potential changes to the QA 
framework will be presented to Council for approval.  

 
• The College reduced the renewal fee to $1,000, in order to assist members during the 

pandemic. 98.6% of eligible members completed renewal by the deadline. 
 

• Financial audit was completed. 
 

• Staff performance reviews were conducted in March and April, and quarterly meetings 
are held with staff on their progress.  

 
• Staff received privacy training in April, on how to properly care and handle sensitive 

and confidential information on a daily basis. 
 
• Ms. Szeto is on maternity leave and Ms. Katie Mac has been hired as her 

replacement. Ms. Szeto was thanked for the work she completed to ensure a smooth 
transition. 

 
Council members and Ms. Zeng expressed gratitude to all staff for their professionalism 
during this challenging time.  
 
 
8. COUNCIL UPDATE 
 
Ms Zeng reported that the staff have followed up with the Public Appointments Secretariat 
(PAS), who are still waiting for direction from the Minister’s office. At the March 25 
meeting, a Council member provided suggestions on how to address the urgent need for 
public appointments. These were discussed by the Executive Committee, during its May 
19 meeting. The consensus was for staff to continue to follow up with PAS. 
 
The Ministry is seeking feedback on governance reform and is asking for a response by 
June 30. This also presents an opportunity for the College and Council to raise its 
concerns regarding the need for public members, with the Assistant Deputy Minister. 
 
 
9. MAY 19, 2021 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING DECISIONS 
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The Executive Committee directed the Registrar to set October 28, 2021 as the election 
date for District 3 elections. The nomination package will be sent out on July 14, with a 
due date of August 18. Members who are eligible to vote can start as of September 28, 
2021, ending October 28. If Council is constituted by that date, the first Council meeting 
after the election will be December 9.  
 
Some members may serve shorter terms due to the lack of constitution, and some have 
not been able to commence their terms. By-Law amendments would be necessary to 
extend terms. However, any extensions should be done for public, and not personal 
interest. 
 
 
10. COVID-19 ACTIVITY LOG 
 
Ms. Zeng provided an overview of COVID-19 activities. Staff are continuing to operate 
remotely. A survey will soon be sent to staff and Council to determine whether in-person 
work may commence, or if remote work policies should be developed. 
 
The website is frequently updated, and stakeholders are being kept informed via email, 
announcements and social media posts. The College is also assisting public health units 
in communicating vaccination information. 
 
In response to members practising virtually and the need for infection control, the QAC 
has adopted a new comprehensive practice guideline. This is currently undergoing 
consultation. 
 
 
11. COLLEGE PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK 
a) Competency requirements 
 
At its previous meeting, the Executive Committee asked staff to conduct research on how 
other colleges have created a competency framework. Mr. Cassman provided an 
overview of the research, noting that colleges that have implemented competency are 
doing so within the election process. Some have member nominations with a screening 
process, or a separate elections committee to determine if candidates meet the criteria to 
run in elections. 
 
An overview was provided of the research, along with examples provided by HPRO. The 
College would have to determine how to use and adapt the templates, and decide what 
competencies are mandatory or optional. Examples were also provided of the College of 
Kinesiologists’ model, as well as those of the College of Nurses, the College of Dental 
Hygienists of Ontario and the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario.  
 
Further research will be conducted to determine how different colleges will implement the 
process. From there, staff will develop draft competencies to present to Council.  
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The recommendation was also made for the creation of a working group to establish 
competencies. This would apply to both professional and public members. 
 
There was agreement on the need for a framework to ensure Council members’ 
qualifications. The Executive Committee will discuss this matter during its next meeting. 
 
 
12. LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 
 
a) Governance Reform 
 
Ms. Zeng referred Council members to a memo from the Assistant Deputy Minister of the 
Ministry of Health which outlines the opportunities for governance reform under the 
RHPA, with a goal of increasing college efficiency. As a reply is expected by June 30, a 
draft response was shared with the Executive Committee and the members of the Council 
prior to the meeting to obtain support and feedback 
b) Bill 283 
 
On April 27, 2021, the government introduced Bill 283, the Advancing Oversight and 
Planning in Ontario Health Systems Act. The Bill will enact the Health and Supportive 
Care Providers Oversight Authority Act, 2021, which would create a new oversight 
authority to oversee personal support workers, and, possibly other professions in the 
future.  
 
The Bill will also amend the Medicine Act, 1991, to regulate physician assistants under the 
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario.  
 
The Psychology Act, 1991 will now be replaced with the Psychology and Applied 
Behaviour Analysis Act, 2021. This will change the name of the College of Psychologists 
of Ontario to the College of Psychologists and Behaviour Analysts of Ontario, and 
regulate the profession of behaviour analysis under that college.  
 
 
Ms. Allison Henry joined the meeting at 10:59 a.m. 
 
Ms. Henry presented on Bill 283 and the CPMF. 
 
Highlights of the presentation: 
 
An outline was provided of Bill 283’s four main schedules, one of which is the  
creation of a new oversight authority to regulate personal support workers. Similarities 
between the Oversight Authority and the Regulated Health Professions Act are its use of 
a Board of Directors and CEO, as well as establishing education and skill-based 
qualifications for individuals seeking to be registrants with the authority.  
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The differences are no exclusive scopes of practice or titles, even though visual marks or 
identifiers will be created for the exclusive use for registrants. An exclusive scope and 
titles are not feasible due to the broad nature of the personal support worker profession, 
with its multiple roles, different skill sets, and diverse qualifications. 
  
A code of ethics will also be established, which will establish unbecoming conduct for the 
profession. There will also be registration processes, and the obligation to maintain a 
public register of information about registrants. The Authority will also include a 
complaints process which involves investigation and disciplinary processes.  
 
Registration to the Authority is voluntary, with the long-term view of making it mandatory.  
As personal support workers are the backbone of work in long term care, requiring 
registration and competencies at this time could disrupt the workforce. 
 
In response to an inquiry on whether there were plans to move the College to the new 
Authority or the new model, Ms. Henry confirmed their focus is on the personal support 
workers only. No decision or plan has been made for other professions in the workforce, 
whether regulated or unregulated.  
 
CPMF 
 
The CPMF was developed to provide standardized reporting across the health colleges, in 
the aim of helping colleges improve their regulation. It consists of several measurement 
domains which cover a variety of performance requirements. 
 
The Ministry is not currently assessing the colleges, but is focused on collecting data and 
information. There is also a goal of ensuring accountability between the colleges and the 
Ministry, to ensure stronger public trust and confidence. 
 
Along with Bill 283, CPMF is about modernization and continuous improvement. Its goal is 
to help colleges perform at a high manner in order to instill public confidence and trust. 
 
Ontario is the first province in Canada to develop this performance framework, which was 
based on international best practices and subject matter experts in regulatory 
performance and measurement. A working group of Ontario citizens also contributed. It is 
expected that there may be challenges in the implementation. The first reporting cycle will 
be observed, with the framework’s measures refined.  
 
A summary report will be provided on the College website.  
 
Council competencies have been identified as one of the major gaps in the CPMF. The 
Ministry is interested in competency-based appointments and can serve as a partner to 
collaborate with colleges. Some of that work may come out of the Oversight Authority, as 
its board of directors will be appointed based on competency.  
 
In response to queries about the appointment of public members, Ms. Henry emphasized 
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that the PAS is aware of the need for additional members. PAS’ role was defined as a 
government body which functions independently, even as it partners with the MOH. The 
College was invited to continue to contact the PAS, and Ms. Henry offered to be the 
College’s advocate in this matter. 
 
Ms. Henry left the meeting at 11:52 a.m. 
 
As per a Council member’s request, an invitation will be sent to the PAS to see whether 
they would be available to speak with the Council at the next Council/open EC meeting.  
 
Council members provided feedback on the draft response to the Assistant Deputy 
Minister. The Executive Committee with the support of Council members agreed the letter 
should be sent.  
 

MOTION: M. Cha – R. Dong 
THAT the Executive Committee of the College of Traditional Chinese Medicine 
Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario approve the draft letter to the Assistant 
Deputy Minister as presented. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 
13. FINANCE 
a) Statement of Operations 4th quarter 
b) 2020-2021 Financial Audit 
 
Note: This discussion was held after the in-camera meeting.  
 
Mr. Ortale presented the fourth quarter financials of the 2020-2021 fiscal year.  
 
Revenue: Despite the pandemic, the College’s revenue is on target at 103%, with renewal 
fees at 99%. There was a slight increase in registration and other fees, for the Safety and 
Jurisprudence tests. Other income, such as for the Pan-Canadian exam and bank 
interest, are just below target. 
 
Overall, at 80.3%, expenses are 20% below target, in most categories. The Pan-Canadian 
exam is over budget due to fees collected on behalf of CARB.  
 
Most of the savings are due to the pandemic. This also means that the College has a net 
income of $700,000 for this fiscal year. 
 
The audit was completed the week of June 14 to 18. Results will be shared with the 
Council once ready. 
 
 
MOVING IN-CAMERA 



 
Open Meeting of the Executive Committee 
College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario 
June 22, 2021 
  
 Page 9 

 

 
MOTION: R. Dong – M. Cha 
THAT, in accordance with Sections 7. (2)b of the Health Professions Procedural 
Code, the meeting will now move in-camera. 

  
CARRIED 

 
The discussion held during the in-camera session is recorded separately. 
 
 

MOTION: M. Cha – F. Huang 
THAT the meeting be moved out of camera at 2:33 p.m. 
 
CARRIED 

 
 
15. WORK PLAN UPDATE  
 
Ms. Zeng provided an overview of the work plan. 
 
The College is on track with most items. An overview of its progress towards the goals in 
the strategic plan was provided.  Some adjustments have been made to the timeline due 
to the pandemic, and Council being unconstituted.  
 
Executive Committee and Council members were invited to present questions or 
comments. 
 
 
16. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
a) Risk management report 
 
The request was made to move the risk management report out of the consent agenda 
permanently, in keeping with best practice, and its importance to College’s operations. 
 
Mr. Cassman provided an overview of the high-risk sections in the risk management 
report. 
 
• Governance: The College is taking steps towards governance. Due to the lack of 

public members, lack of quorum is a high risk.  
 
• Financial management: The College has accomplished all of the previous items. The 

development of a five-year financial plan and a reserve fund have been instrumental to 
lowering fees for 2021. The risk priority has been downgraded to 2 from 4. 

 
• Accreditation project: The College has started work on an educational approval 
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framework. Its risks have not yet been assessed, as it has not yet been completed. 
The long term goal would be for the Ministry of Colleges and Universities to regulate 
TCM educational institutions. 

 
• CPMF: This statutory obligation has just been added, so its risks have not yet been 

assessed.  
 
• Registration examination: The Pan-Canadian examination has now moved to a 

computer-based format, which has not affected its risk priority. 
 
 
17. NEXT MEETING DATES 
 
The next meeting dates will be held on September 22 and December 8/9. 
 
 
18. MEETING EVALUATION 
 
Council members were encouraged to complete the evaluation forms via SurveyMonkey. 
 
 
19. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:03 p.m. 
 

MOTION: P. Zhang – M. Cha 
THAT the Open Meeting of the Executive Committee of the College of Traditional 
Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario of June 22, 2021 be 
adjourned until the next meeting or at the call of the President. 

 
CARRIED 
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FOR:  Information 
 
SUBJECT: Executive Committee Report 

 
Executive Committee Members 
Richard Guo Qing Dong (President)  Professional Member 
Ming C. Cha (Vice-President)   Professional Member 
Feng Li Huang     Professional Member 
Pixing Zhang     Public Member 
 
Since the previous open meeting of the Executive Committee held on June 22, 2021, the Executive 
Committee met once on August 19, 2021 for an Executive Committee meeting.  
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 

1) Draft Audited Statement Review 
The auditors from Hilborn LLP presented on the audit findings and draft financial statements to the 
EC.  The auditors expressed overall satisfaction with the College’s accounting, and that the College is 
in good financial shape. The statements will be brought forward to the September 22, 2021 Council 
meeting or open meeting of EC for approval. 
 
2) Finance 
a) 1st Quarter Financial Statements 
An overview of the 1st quarter financial statements was provided to the EC. The EC was updated on 
legal counsel’s recommendation to take further steps to enforce and collect certain outstanding cost 
awards. The EC agreed that a stronger approach to obtain cost awards was needed. The EC 
requested staff to provide the dates of when each cost award was ordered. 
 
b) Per Diem Policy 
The EC reviewed a draft per diem policy for processing per diem claims of professional members. 
The purpose of the policy is to provide consistency in the process. The EC discussed the changes and 
provided feedback for revisions. The EC recommended that the policy be brought to the next open 
EC meeting for feedback from Council before a decision is made.  
 
3) Governance Review Report 
The EC reviewed the revised governance review report received from Governance Solutions Inc.  The 
EC discussed their concerns with the report. The report will be brought to the next open meeting for 
further feedback from Council.  
 
4) Council Related Updates 
a) Government Relations Consultant 
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The EC was updated on the status of public appointments to the College. A government and public 
relations firm presented a proposal to the EC on assisting the College with acquiring public 
appointments and other potential government relations matters. The Committee expressed that it 
was necessary for the College to work with a government relations consultant, and discussed the 
cost and duration of the contract. The EC recommended that the proposal be brought to the next 
open EC meeting for feedback from Council.  

 
b) Election Update 
The EC was advised that the nomination package for District 3 was sent out electronically to eligible 
members on July 14, 2021. Two nomination packages were received for the three available seats on 
Council for District 3. The two acclaimed members will begin their term at the next regular Council 
meeting. Until then, the Council members who currently hold their seats will continue their term. 
 
c) COVID-19 Council Member Survey 
The EC was advised that a survey was sent to Council members to obtain feedback on the College’s 
current format of virtual meetings, and their level of comfort if in-person meetings were to be 
resumed. EC was advised that the results will be shared at a later date. 

 
5) CPMF Requirements 
a) Financial Reserve Policy 
As per the CPMF requirements, the College’s financial reserve policy was reviewed by an auditor. 
The Executive Committee reviewed the changes that were made by the auditors. The updated policy 
will be brought to the next open meeting of EC for decision.  
 
b) Organizational Chart 
As per the CPMF requirements, the College’s organizational chart was provided to the EC for their 
information. 
 
c) KPIs & Strategic Plan 
EC was presented with a draft chart to measure the College’s progress against its strategic plan. The 
chart will be updated quarterly with key items that relate to the strategic plan. 
 
d) Council Member Competencies 
The CPMF includes a requirement that Council and Committee members meet a set of 
competencies to be eligible for the role. The EC was presented with in-depth examples of current 
competency-based election processes. 
 
The EC agreed that all Council members should determine the competencies. The proposal will be 
brought before Council members at the open meeting of EC.  
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6) Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion Training 
Given the importance of equity, diversity, inclusion and belonging at the College and the health 
regulatory community, EC was advised that training will be provided to all staff, Council members 
and members of the College. EC was advised of the different consultants that staff have contacted, 
and the price range for those that were available to provide training.  

 
7) CARB-TCMPA Updates 
a) Pan-Canadian Examinations 
The EC was provided with a summary of the April 2021 Pan-Canadian examination results, the 
upcoming examination dates for the October 2021 sitting, and number of applications received.  
The Committee was also updated on the memo from CARB which states that the government of 
British Columbia has provided special funding to the CTCMA to support the development and 
delivery of the translated exam in 2022 and 2023. 
 
b) CARB-TCMPA TCM Program Accreditation Project 
The EC was advised that feedback from the national consultation on the draft national accreditation 
standards for TCM and acupuncture education programs was reviewed, and revisions were made to 
the draft standards. A second consultation will be held in early September to discuss the revised 
standards. 

 
8) Matters from June 22, 2021 General Meeting 
The EC discussed matters relating to a Council member. 
 
9) Workplan Update 
An overview of the College’s workplan and progress were provided to the EC. 

 
 
This report is current to September 1, 2021 in anticipation of the open meeting of the Executive 
Committee scheduled for September 22, 2021. 
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FOR:  Information 
 
SUBJECT: Registration Committee Report  

 
Registration Committee Members 
Ming C. Cha (Chair)      Professional Member 
Feng Li Huang        Professional Member 
Shiji (Stephen) Liu      Public Member 
Joanne Pritchard-Sobhani      Professional Member 
Deborah Sinnatamby       Public Member 
Xianmin Yu        Professional Member 
 

Since the last quarterly report, the Registration Committee met once on August 18, 2021. Additionally, one 
panel meeting was held on July 7, 2021. All meetings were held via Webex meeting. 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

1. PAN-CANADIAN EXAMINATIONS 
 

• April 2021 Examinations 
 
The April 2021 Pan-Canadian examinations were held on April 21, 2021, and April 22, 2021. A 
total of 41 applicants wrote the Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioner examination and a 
total of 75 applicants wrote the Acupuncturist examination. Of the 116 applicants who wrote 
the examinations, 92 applicants successfully passed, and 24 applicants were unsuccessful. The 
results for the examinations were released on June 25, 2021, and the national results have been 
posted on the College’s website.  
 

• October 2021 Examinations 
 
The application for the October 2021 Pan-Canadian Examinations closed on July 15, 2021. The 
College received a total of 217 Pan-Canadian Examination applications. Of the 217 applications, 
74 candidates applied for the Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioner examination, and 143 
applied for the Acupuncturist examination.  

 
The Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners examination is scheduled for October 6 and 7, 
2021. The Acupuncturists examination is scheduled for October 27 and 28, 2021.  

The Registration Committee continues to monitor the Pan-Canadian Examinations. At the August 18, 
2021 meeting, the Committee discussed the following issues related to examinations: 
• The Candidate Handbook updates.   
• Notice from CARB-TCMPA regarding the language of the examinations indicating that in British 

Columbia, CARB-TCMPA will continue to administer the translated (Simplified Chinese, or 
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Traditional Chinese) versions of the PCE in October 2022 and October 2023. The translated 
exams are offered in BC only and are funded by the Government of BC and CTCMA-BC.  

• Preliminary plans for future exam administrations. 
  

2. EDUCATION PROGRAM REVIEW 
 

The Registration Committee reviewed and subsequently approved the education qualifications for a 
candidate for the Pan-Canadian Acupuncturists examination. 

3. REFRESHER COURSES APPROVAL 
 
Under the Registration Regulation, members registered in the General Class who have not completed a 
minimum of 500 TCM patient visits over each three-year period must complete a refresher program 
approved by the Registration Committee. The Registration Committee reviewed and subsequently 
approved three refresher program proposals in this reporting period.  

4. SCHOOL ACCREDITATION PROGRAM 
 
Earlier this year, CARB-TCMPA conducted a national survey to solicit detailed feedback on the draft 
accreditation standards. The College has submitted a response in March 2020. The project consultant is 
now conducting an analysis of the responses; they are also working on a list of frequently asked 
questions based on the survey respondents’ feedback. CARB-TCMPA is to send out a draft of the 
standards for a second consultation later this year.  

5. OFC RISK-INFORMED COMPLIANCE FRAMEWORK 
 

The OFC released its Risk-informed Compliance Framework and Policy on April 1, 2021. The framework 
has been specifically designed to:  

1. To enable regulators to more effectively comply with their legal obligations, and to adopt 
associated best practices, in order to achieve better registration outcomes for all applicants.  

2. To promote the identification of targeted risk factors to enable necessary mitigation and 
remediation efforts. 

3. To reduce unnecessary burdens on regulators and OFC staff, recognizing that all public sector 
organizations operate with constrained resources. 

 
The OFC is now in a transition period. In this first year of operation, the assessment of a regulator’s risk 
category will be based mostly on historical performance. They will then place regulators in provisional 
risk categories. The full implementation of the new framework is expected to happen on April 1, 2022. 
 
We plan to invite the OFC to present at a future Council meeting to provide an overview of the new 
framework.  
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6. SAFETY PROGRAM AND JURISPRUDENCE COURSE TESTS 
 
The Registration Committee reviewed the College’s current approach to the safety program and 
jurisprudence course tests. In May 2020, in response to COVID-19, both tests were moved to an online 
proctored format. This is a temporary solution that allows the College applicants to complete the tests 
during the pandemic. The Committee is now discussing updating our approach to both the safety 
program and jurisprudence course.  
 

7. REGISTRATION COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2021 – 2022 
 

The Registration Committee has reviewed and approved the 2021 – 2022 work plan. The work plan 
included in-progress projects and planned projects.  
 

8. REGISTRATION COMMITTEE PANEL UPDATES (From April 1, 2021 – September 1, 2021) 
 

 

Decisions made by the Registration Committee 

Approved 
Approved 
with TCLs Refused Total 

General Class application 0 3 0 3 
Title Variation 1 0 0 1 
TCL Variation  1 0 0 1 
Transfer from Inactive Class 0 1 0 1 
Totals 2 4 0 6 

 
 
9. QUATERLY MEMBERSHIP STATS (As of September 1, 2021) 
 
Registration by District 
 

  
District 

1 
District 

2 
District 

3 
District 

4 
District 

5 
Practicing 

outside ON Unknown Total 
General 183 126 1552 500 76 26 22* 2485 
Inactive 10 8 82 18 3 19 11 151 
Student 0 0 10 1 0 0 0 11 
Total 
Members 193 134 1644 519 79 45 33 2647 

 
*Please note that General Class members who recently registered with the College are given 30 days 
to submit their business address. We are following up with 22 General Class members who did not 
provide their business address information to the College.  

 
Registration updates as of September 1, 2021 
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Changes within the Quarter 
 

 
Oct. 1, 2020-
Dec. 31, 2020 

Jan. 1, 2021-
Mar. 31, 2021 

April. 1, 2021 – 
Jun. 2, 2021 

June 3, 2021 – 
Sept 1, 2021 

New members 19 48 63 40 
Resignations 3 31 24 3 
Revocation 0 0 0 0 
Suspensions 0 1 35 1 
Expired 0 0 0 0 
Net Change 16 16 4 36 

Members practicing with terms, conditions and limitations: 312 
 
2021 Jurisprudence Course Tests  

Passed Failed Total 
168 2 170 

 
 

2021 Safety Program Tests 
Passed Failed Total 

180 1 181 
 
 
This report is current to September 1, 2021 in anticipation of the open meeting of the Executive Committee 
scheduled for September 22, 2021. 

 31-Dec-20 31-Mar-21 2-Jun-21 1-Sep-21 

General R. Ac 1214 1236 1210 1236 

General R. TCMP 1240 1256 1233 1249 

Student R. Ac 8 8 6 6 

Student R. TCMP 5 6 5 5 

Inactive R. Ac 66 61 81 81 

Inactive R. TCMP 50 49 71 70 

Current Members 2583 2616 2606 2647 

 
Resigned 358 389 414 415 

Expired 658 658 658 658 

Revoked 88 88 87 87 

Suspended 93 89 123 120 

Total Registrants 3780 3840 3888 3927 
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FOR:  Information 
 
SUBJECT: Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report 

 
Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Members 
 
Panel 1 
Pixing Zhang (Chair of ICRC and Panel 1)  Public Member  
Richard Dong      Professional Member 
Lihui Guo     Professional Member 
Deborah Sinnatamby     Public Member  
 
Panel 2 
Xianmin Yu (Chair of Panel 2)   Professional Member 
Jinqi Zeng     Professional Member 
Matthew Colavecchia    Professional Member 
Fanny Ip     Professional Member (Non-Council Member) 
Stephen Liu     Public Member 
Joanne Pritchard-Sobhani   Professional Member 
 
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (the “ICRC”) is divided into two main panels to 
accommodate the number of ongoing matters, and to accommodate the selection of panel members, 
should the need arise for a discipline hearing. An ICRC training was conducted on June 24, 2021. Since the 
last quarterly report, the ICRC met on July 14, 2021 and on August 4, 2021. 
 
New Cases and Nature of Concerns 
Note: Some cases may have more than one concern 
Complaints Nature of Concerns Registrar Report 

Investigations 
Nature of Concerns 

 
 

 
 

3 

 Advertising  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 Advertising 

 Billing and Fees  Billing and Fees 

 Communication  Communication 

 Competence / Patient Care   Competence / Patient 
Care 

3 Fraud  Fraud 

 Professional Conduct & 
Behaviour 

 Professional Conduct & 
Behaviour 
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 Record Keeping  Record Keeping 

 Sexual Abuse / Harassment / 
Boundary Violations 

 
 

Sexual Abuse / 
Harassment / Boundary 
Violations 

 Unauthorized Practice  Unauthorized Practice 

 
Completed Cases and Outcomes*  
Note: Some decisions have more than one outcome 

Complaints Outcomes Registrar Reports 
Investigations 

Outcomes 

4 

 Take no action  

1 

 Take no action  
3 Advice  Advice 
 Written Caution  Written Caution 
 Oral Caution  Oral Caution 
 SCERP  SCERP 
 Refer to Discipline 1 Refer to Discipline 
1 Undertaking  Undertaking 

 
Complaints cases before Health Professions Appeal and Review Board  

New Cases Pending Cases 
2 1 

 
 
Pending Cases  

Complaints Registrar Report Investigations Incapacity Inquiries Total # cases 
16 17  33 

 
 
This report is current as at September 7, 2021 in anticipation of the Council meeting scheduled for 
September 22, 2021. 
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FOR:  Information 
 
SUBJECT: Quality Assurance Committee Report 

 
Quality Assurance Committee Members 
Feng Li Huang (Chair)  Professional Member  
Lihui Guo    Professional Member  
Matthew Colavecchia   Professional Member 
Ming C. Cha   Professional Member 
Pixing Zhang   Public Member 
 
 
Since the last quarterly report, the Quality Assurance (QA) Committee met once on August 12, 2021.  
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
1. Quality Assurance Program Enhancement Project 

 
A Request for Proposals (RFP) was announced in February 2020 for a Quality Assurance Program 
Enhancement Project. In June 2020, the Committee approved Igor Gontcharov as the Consultant for 
the QA Program Development project. The project service agreement was finalized on July 22, 2020. 

The project includes four inter-connected methods: 1. Policy Review (Jurisdictional and Literature 
Review), 2. Program Review (QA Program Review/Needs Analysis, Online Self-Assessment Tools and 
Tracking Solution Review), 3. Key Stakeholder Interviews, 4. Report and Recommendations. A draft 
of the final report and recommendations were presented to the QA Committee at the June 3, 2021, 
committee meeting. At their August 12, 2021 meeting, the QA Committee accepted the final report 
for Phase 1. Phase 1 recommendations and an overview of a new Responsive and Reflexive Quality 
Assurance Framework (RRQA) will be presented to the Council at the September 22 open Executive 
Committee meeting. The QA Committee recommends that Council adopt, in general, the RRQA as 
the CTCMPAO QA Framework. If adopted, the QA Committee and staff will develop a detailed 
framework and implementation plan.  

 
2. Standards and Guidelines 

 
a) Telepractice Guideline 
 

In April 2020, in response to COVID-19 and the restrictions imposed on members’ practice, the QA 
Committee developed a Telepractice Position Statement. The Committee is now in the process of 
developing a more comprehensive telepractice guideline to help members understand their 
accountabilities when providing care using telecommunication technologies.  
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The draft guideline was approved on June 3, 2021, for key stakeholder consultation. College staff 
has circulated the draft guideline with Ontario TCM Schools, Ontario TCM associations, and other 
Canadian TCM regulators. The College received three responses, which were reviewed by the 
Committee at the August 12, 2021 meeting. The QA Committee is now recommending that Council 
approve the draft guideline for a consultation to members. 

3. Quality Assurance Program 
 

a) 2020 Random Selection 
 
Self-Assessment and Professional Development  
 
253 members received notice of selection by mail and email on December 2, 2020, and had until 
March 8, 2021, to submit their documents.  

The following chart indicates the final status of the submissions.  

Categories # of members 
Completed and Approved Submissions 242 
Deficient PD Hours (To be deferred) 1 
Incomplete Submissions 1 
Did not submit (Active members) 1 
Suspended (Did not complete renewal)  3 
Other 5* 

 
*Three of the selected members resigned. The College received notification that two of the selected members had passed away. 
 
The QA Committee has directed that the non-compliant active member undergoes a Peer and 
Practice Assessment. Members who are currently under suspension will be referred to undergo a 
Peer and Practice Assessment when their General Class certificates are reinstated. 
 
Note: Due to COVID-19, there were no members randomly selected to undergo the Peer and 
Practice Assessments in 2020. 

 
b) 2019 Peer and Practice Assessments 

 
In 2019, 11 members were randomly selected for a Peer and Practice Assessment. As of August 
2021, four assessments have been completed. The College’s Peer and Practice Assessments were 
put on hold in April 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The QA Committee approved the 
resumption of in-person assessments based on the province reopening plan, and staff are now in 
the process of scheduling the remaining assessments.   
 

c) 2021 Peer and Practice Assessments – Members Selected on the Basis of Criteria Specified by the 
QA Committee 
 
The QA Committee approved specific criteria for members to undergo a peer and practice  
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assessment at the March 4, 2021 meeting. The criteria have been posted on the College website, 
and 74 members were notified of their selection via email and regular mail. 
 
As of June 14, 2021, notices of selection were sent to 62 members, with a deadline of July 23rd to 
submit documentation. Twelve (12) members had either transferred to the Inactive class or resigned 
from the College. To date, the College has received submissions from 46 members. 
 

d) Peer and Practice Assessors  
 
One of the responsibilities of the QA Committee is to appoint Peer Assessors, who are qualified 
members of the College, to conduct Peer and Practice Assessments (PPA). A call for Peer and 
Practice Assessors was issued on February 19, 2021, with a submission deadline of March 12, 2021. 
Following interviews conducted by members of the QA Committee, 10 of the applicants have been 
appointed as Peer and Practice Assessors. The College's current Peer Assessors have also been 
reappointed. The virtual assessor training session took place on July 9th. The assessors are now 
completing in-clinic training.  
   

e) Non-Compliance Declarations  
 

QA staff were provided with a list of 22 members who declared non-compliance with the QA 
program on their 2021 renewal applications.  

• 10 members were exempt from the 2020 QA Program period, as they had completed their 
initial registration in the same year. 

• 8 members submitted their completed Self-Assessment Forms and were found to be 
satisfactory.  

• 1 member requested an extension to submit their documentation.  
• 3 members requested a deferral from the Self-Assessment and Professional Development.  

 
4. QAC Workplan for 2021 

 
The QA Committee approved a workplan for the upcoming year. The workplan outlines the projects 
that the QA Committee will be undertaking, most of which are contingent on the QA Program 
Development Project. 

 
 
This report is current to September 1, 2021 in anticipation of the Council meeting scheduled for 
September 22, 2021. 

 



 

 
Patient Relations Committee Report – September 22, 2021 

 
 
FOR:  Information 
 
SUBJECT: Patient Relations Committee Report 

 
Patient Relations Committee Members 
Deborah Sinnatamby (Chair)  Public Member 
Christine Kit Yee Fung    Professional Member 
Feng Li Huang     Professional Member 
Jin Qi (Jackie) Zeng   Professional Member 
 
 
The Patient Relations Committee has not held a meeting since the last quarterly report. The Committee 
will be holding a training session and meeting on September 16, 2021.  

 



 

 
Discipline Committee Report – September 22, 2021 

 
FOR:  Information 
 
SUBJECT: Discipline Committee Report 

 
Discipline Committee Members 
Jin Qi (Jackie) Zeng (Chair)  Professional Member 
Ming C. Cha    Professional Member 
Matthew Colavecchia   Professional Member 
Richard Guo Qing Dong   Professional Member 
Christine Kit Yee Fung   Professional Member 
Lihui Guo    Professional Member 
Feng Li Huang    Professional Member 
Shiji (Stephen) Liu   Public Member 
Joanne Pritchard-Sobhani  Professional Member 
Deborah Sinnatamby   Public Member 
Xianmin Yu    Professional Member 
Pixing Zhang    Public Member 
 
Since the last quarterly report, the Discipline Committee presided over one matter in this quarter. The 
Committee did not release any decisions in this quarter. As of September 7, 2021, there is three open 
cases which has been referred to the Discipline Committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports 
Committee (ICRC). 
 

  Member Name  Status 

1 Esther Yu Kwan 
Cheng 

The Notice of Hearing was served on the Member on April 27, 2021. A Pre-
Hearing Conference was held on July 19, 2021. The Hearing for this matter 
was held on August 23, 2021. 
 

2 Sen Ching Cheung The Notice of Hearing was served on the Member on August 6, 2021.  
 

3 Shuangjin Zhang The Notice of Hearing was served on the Member on August 19, 2021.  

 
There is one discipline decision currently under appeal by the Member. This matter relates to the Nathalie 
Xian Yi Yan decision. 
 
This report is current as at September 7, 2021 in anticipation of the open meeting of the Executive 
Committee scheduled for September 22, 2021. 

https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/public/decisions/Decision_and_Reasons_NathalieYan_20181001.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/public/decisions/Decision_and_Reasons_NathalieYan_20181001.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/public/decisions/Decision_and_Reasons_NathalieYan_20181001.pdf


 

 
Fitness to Practise Committee Report – September 22, 2021   
 

FOR:  Information 
 
SUBJECT: Fitness to Practise Committee Report 

 
Fitness to Practise Committee Members 
Jin Qi (Jackie) Zeng    Professional Member 
Ming C. Cha    Professional Member 
Matthew Colavecchia   Professional Member 
Richard Guo Qing Dong   Professional Member 
Christine Kit Yee Fung   Professional Member 
Lihui Guo    Professional Member 
Feng Li Huang    Professional Member 
Shiji (Stephen) Liu   Public Member 
Joanne Pritchard-Sobhani  Professional Member 
Deborah Sinnatamby   Public Member 
Xianmin Yu    Professional Member 
Pixing Zhang    Public Member 
 
Pursuant to the College Bylaw, every member of Council is a member of the Fitness to Practise Committee.  
 
Since the last quarterly report, the Fitness to Practise Committee did not meet.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Survey was shared with the Executive Committee and all 
members of Council. 7 responses were received. 

 

 
Committee Meeting Evaluation Results 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2021 

 

 Item Yes Most 
of the 
time 

No Other Please provide 
comments  

1. The agenda and supporting materials were 
provided one week prior to the meeting.  
 

7     

2 The materials were presented in a clear, succinct, 
and timely manner to allow meeting preparation. 
 

7     

3. The meeting agenda was well planned and allowed 
for adequate time to deal with the necessary 
committee business.  

 

5 2    

4. The Chair managed the meeting well allowing each 
member an adequate opportunity to participate in 
discussion and decision-making. 
 

6 1    

5. The treatment of all persons was courteous, 
dignified and fair. 
 

7     

6. I received sufficient information and training to 
participate in deliberations and decision-making. 
 

7     

7. Technology: 
I was able to access the material on the Cloud 
easily. 
Webex Meetings and other communication devices 
worked well. 
 

7     

8. Any further comments?  
It was well done. Would be even better to include the material for general meeting. If any additional information 
to be discussed, better to be clear to indicate which part/page of the meeting package is related. This is not a 
complaint. Just minor suggestions. I am satisfied with the meeting and appreciate for the hard work of registrar 
and staff. Thank you. 
 
N/A 
 
The chair kept her microphone on when others were speaking most of the time. We still have people using 
speakerphones, and that is very disruptive and poor quality. We need a chat moderator appointed to each 
meeting, and someone to police the 'you left your microphone on' situations. I was doing it because no one else 
seemed to be on top of it. I would prefer if staff were to do it instead of another member. 
 
No 
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A message from Liana Bell 
 
I am pleased to provide you with the findings of our audit of the financial statements of College of 
Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario (the “College”) for the year 
ended March 31, 2021. 
 
Our audit findings communication is designed to highlight and explain key issues, which we believe 
to be relevant to the audit and to continue effective two-way communication with you regarding our 
audit. This will assist the Executive Committee in fulfilling your responsibility of overseeing the financial 
reporting process of the College. 
 
This communication has been prepared to comply with the requirements outlined in Canadian Auditing 
Standards 260, Communication with those Charged with Governance. The information in this 
document is intended solely for the use of the Executive Committee, the Council and management 
and should not be distributed to others without our consent. 
 
We look forward to discussing our audit findings with you in detail as well as any other matters that 
you may wish to address. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Liana Bell, CPA, CA 
Partner 
Hilborn LLP 
August 12, 2021 
 

“Our 
commitment 
to quality is 
reflected in 
every aspect 
of our work. 
If you have 
any questions 
or comments, 
please contact 
me.” 

 

moneeta.pal
Hilborn Signature
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“At Hilborn, we are committed to audit quality and 
strong client service. Audit quality is integral to our 
business and is an overarching consideration in our 

training, our processes, and our systems and 
controls.”  

Your client service team  

Liana Bell, Engagement Partner 
lbell@hilbornca.com 
 
Fiona Zou, Senior Manager 
fzou@hilbornca.com 
 
John Campbell, Partner and Tax 
Group Leader 
jcampbell@hilbornca.com 
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Executive Summary 
 
 

 
 
Audit status 
 
We have substantially completed our audit of the financial 
statements of the College for the year ended March 31, 2021, 
with the exception of the following procedures:  
 

 Completion of subsequent events procedures 
 Receipt of the signed management representation letter 
 Council approval of the financial statements 

 
These procedures require completion before we may issue our 
auditor’s report. If we become aware of significant matters after 
completing these procedures, we will bring them to your 
attention. 
 

 
 
Auditor’s report and representations from management 
 
We expect to issue an unmodified opinion. The expected form 
and content of our report is included in Appendix A.  
 
A copy of the management representation letter, we would ask 
management to sign and return to us before we issue our 
auditor’s report is included in Appendix B. 
 

 

 
 
Significant difficulties encountered 
 
There were no significant difficulties encountered while 
performing the audit.  
 

 
 
Changes from the audit plan 
 
Our audit approach was consistent with the approach 
communicated to you in our audit plan dated June 14, 2021. 
 
Final materiality is consistent with preliminary materiality set at 
$90,000. 
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Significant Qualitative Aspects of the College’s Accounting Practices 
 

 

Canadian Auditing Standards require that we communicate with you the significant qualitative aspects of the 
entity’s accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement 
disclosures. 

 
Accounting policies, accounting estimates and 
financial statement disclosures Hilborn’s response and views 

The significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1 
to the financial statements.  Management is responsible for 
the appropriate selection and application of accounting 
policies under Canadian accounting standards for not-for-
profit organizations. 

- We reviewed all accounting policies adopted by the College, and 
based on audit work performed, the accounting policies are 
appropriate for the College and applied consistently. 

- A description of the Property and Technology Reserve Fund was 
added during the year and included under the Basis on 
Accounting – Operations section

Management has considered the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the College’s financial statements and 
concluded that a note disclosure is appropriate to describe 
that the impact on the future operations of the entity cannot 
be estimated. 

- We worked with management to understand the implications of 
COVID-19 on the College and its future operations. 

- The financial statement disclosures related to COVID-19 are clear 
and transparent and meet the requirements of the College’s 
financial reporting framework. 

Management is responsible for the accounting estimates 
included in financial statements. Estimates and the related 
judgements and assumptions are based on management’s 
knowledge of the operations and past experience about 
current and future events. 

 

 

 

 

- Based on audit work performed, we are satisfied with the 
estimates made by management. 
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Accounting policies, accounting estimates and 
financial statement disclosures Hilborn’s response and views 

Annual report 

- We acknowledge that a copy of the College’s financial statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2021 and a copy of our audit report 
related to the financial statements will be included in the College’s 
annual report. As agreed in our engagement letter, we will review 
the annual report prior to it being finalized to ensure that there are 
no inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. 
 

- If, based on the work that we will perform on the annual report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of the annual 
report we will communicate that fact to you. 
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Other Significant Matters  
 
 
In accordance with Canadian Auditing Standards, there are a number of communications that are required in 
connection with an audit relevant to those charged with the governance oversight of the financial reporting process. 
Those communications will primarily be written in the form of our audit plan and audit findings communication. We 
may also communicate orally through discussions. The table below summarizes the communications required at the 
conclusion of the audit. 

 

 
Significant Matter Discussion 

Summary of uncorrected misstatements 
 
We did not identify any misstatements that remain uncorrected in the 
financial statements. 

Corrected misstatements  
During the course of the audit, management and Hilborn LLP worked 
collaboratively to identify adjustments required in the financial 
statements. All the adjustments proposed by Hilborn were approved and 
made by management.  

Significant deficiencies in internal control 
 
 

We did not identify any control deficiencies that, in our judgement, would 
be considered as significant deficiencies. It should be noted that due to 
the size of the College and the limited number of personnel involved, 
adequate segregation of duties is not practical; therefore, reliance is 
placed on supervision and approvals by the Executive Committee and 
the Council. 

Fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations 

No fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations came to our 
attention during the course of the audit. 

We would like to reconfirm with the Executive Committee and the 
Council that you are not aware of any fraud or non-compliance with laws 
and regulations not previously discussed with us. 
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Significant Matter Discussion 

Significant difficulties encountered  
No difficulties were encountered while performing the audit and there are 
no unresolved disagreements. We received full cooperation from 
management during our audit. 

Related party transactions  We did not identify any related party transactions and balances that 
require disclosure in the financial statements. 

Subsequent events No subsequent events, which would impact the financial statements 
have come to our attention. 
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DRAFT

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Council of College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of
Ontario (the "College"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2021, and the statements of
operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the  financial position of the
College as at March 31, 2021,  and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of our auditor’s report. If, based on the work we will
perform on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the College to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the College.

1



DRAFT

Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
internal control of the College.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the ability of the College to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the College
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants
Date to be determined Licensed Public Accountants
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College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of
Ontario

705 - 55 Commerce Valley Drive West, Thornhill, ON, L3T 7V9

Hilborn LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
401 Bay Street, Suite 3100
P.O. Box 49
Toronto, Ontario
M5H 2Y4

Dear Sirs/Madams:

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of College
of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario (the "College") for the year
ended March 31, 2021,  for the purpose of expressing a conclusion as to whether the financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

We acknowledge that we are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and for the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls to prevent and detect fraud and error. We
understand that your audit was planned and conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards so as to enable you to express an opinion on the financial statements.  We
understand that while your work includes an examination of the accounting system, internal control and
related data to the extent you considered necessary in the circumstances, it is not designed to identify,
nor can it necessarily be expected to detect fraud, shortages, errors or other irregularities, should any
exist.

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material.  An item
is considered material, regardless of its monetary value, if it is probable that its omission from or
misstatement in the financial statements would influence the decision of a reasonable person relying on
the financial statements. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we consider
necessary for the purpose of informing ourselves as of TBD, the following representations made to you
during your audit:

Financial Statements

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter
dated June 14, 2021.

2. The financial statements referred to above comprise the  statement of financial position as
at March 31, 2021, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies. These financial statements  present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the College as at March 31, 2021, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
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3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal controls to enable us to prepare financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. We are not aware of any significant
deficiencies in internal control of the College.

4. We have reviewed and approved the adjusting journal entries and trial balance.

5. The financial statements have been produced by you, and we have designated someone
in management with the suitable skill, knowledge and financial expertise to accept
responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements. We hereby approve the
financial statements for issuance.

Going Concern

6. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which we believe
to be appropriate and consistent with our assessment of the College.

Completeness of Information

7. We have made available to you all financial records and related data and all minutes of
the meetings of the Executive Committee and Council through TBD.

8. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
financial  statements.

9. We are unaware of any known or probable instances of non-compliance with the
requirements of regulatory or governmental authorities, including their financial reporting
requirements.

10. We are unaware of any violations or possible violations of laws or regulations, including
illegal and possibly illegal acts, the effects of which should be considered for disclosure in
the financial statements or as the basis of recording a contingent loss.

11. We are aware of the environmental laws and regulations that impact the College and we
are in compliance.  There are no known environmental liabilities that have not been
accrued for or disclosed in the financial statements.

12. We have disclosed to you the identity of all known related parties and all related party
relationships and transactions, including guarantees, non-monetary transactions and
transactions for no consideration.  We have appropriately accounted for and disclosed
such relationships and transactions in the financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

13. We have disclosed all material non-monetary transactions or transactions for no
consideration undertaken by the College.

Fraud and Error

14. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

Page 2 of 4



15. We have no knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the College involving
management; employees who have significant roles in internal control; or others, where
the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

16. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the
College's financial statements as communicated by employees, former employees,
analysts, regulators or others.

17. There are no uncorrected financial statement misstatements or uncorrected presentation
and disclosure departures

Recognition, Measurement and Disclosure

18. We believe that the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates,
including those relating to fair value measurements included and disclosed in the financial
statements, are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances.

19. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

20. The nature of all material measurement uncertainties has been appropriately disclosed in
the financial statements, including all estimates where it is reasonably possible that the
estimate will change in the near term and the effect of the change could be material to the
financial statements.

21. We have informed you of all outstanding and possible claims, whether or not they have
been discussed with legal counsel.

22. All liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with guarantees, whether
written or oral, have been disclosed to you and are appropriately reflected in the financial
statements.

23. The College has satisfactory title to all assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on
the College's assets, nor has any asset been pledged except as disclosed in the financial
statements.

24. We have disclosed to you, and the College has complied with, all aspects of contractual
agreements that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of
non-compliance, including all covenants, conditions or other requirements of all
outstanding debt.
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25. There have been no events subsequent to the date of the financial statements through to
the date of this letter that would require recognition or disclosure in the financial
statements. Further, there have been no events subsequent to the date of the
comparative financial statements that would require adjustment of those financial
statements and the related notes.

Yours very truly,

College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario

Ms. Ann Zeng, Registrar & CEO

Mr. Francesco Ortale,
Director IT, Finance and Corporate Services
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Council of College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of
Ontario (the "College"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2021, and the statements of
operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the  financial position of the
College as at March 31, 2021,  and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of our auditor’s report. If, based on the work we will
perform on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the College to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the College.

1
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
internal control of the College.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the ability of the College to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the College
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants
Date to be determined Licensed Public Accountants
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT MARCH 31, 2021

2021 2020

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash $ 7,813,449 $ 6,940,671
Accounts receivable (note 3) 118,447 144,651
Prepaid expenses 30,920 32,090

7,962,816 7,117,412

Capital assets (note 4) 410,217 453,493

8,373,033 7,570,905

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 175,010 251,850
Deferred membership dues 2,481,150 2,227,300

2,656,160 2,479,150

Deferred lease inducements (note 5) 93,078 121,001
2,749,238 2,600,151

NET ASSETS

Operating Fund 3,423,795 3,470,754
Investigations and Hearings Reserve Fund 1,000,000 1,000,000
Sexual Abuse Therapy Fund 150,000 40,000
Strategic Initiatives Fund 400,000 260,000
Contingency Reserve Fund 500,000 200,000
Property and Technology Fund 150,000 -

5,623,795 4,970,754

$ 8,373,033 $ 7,570,905

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

Approved on behalf of the Council:

_______________, President       _______________, Vice-President
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

2021 2020

Revenues
Membership dues $ 3,279,475 $ 3,217,459
Examination fees 269,700 315,100
Other 109,767 167,409

3,658,942 3,699,968

Expenses 
Salaries and employee benefits 1,387,189 1,456,649
Council and committees 529,234 638,198
Consulting and professional services (Schedule) 82,248 138,954
Special programs and project (Schedule) 549,280 400,356
Office and general operational costs (Schedule) 359,344 671,434

2,907,295 3,305,591

Excess of revenues over expenses from operations before the following 751,647 394,377

Depreciation (98,606) (88,158)

Excess of revenues over expenses for the year $ 653,041 $ 306,219

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

4
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS
OF ONTARIO

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

2021
Operating

Fund

Investigations
and Hearings
Reserve Fund

Sexual Abuse
Therapy Fund

Strategic
Initiatives

Fund
Contingency

Reserve Fund

Property and
Technology

Fund Total

Balance - at beginning of year $ 3,470,754 $ 1,000,000 $ 40,000 $ 260,000 $ 200,000 $ - $ 4,970,754

Excess of revenues over expenses for the
year 653,041 - - - - - 653,041

Inter-fund transfers (note 1) (700,000) - 110,000 140,000 300,000 150,000 -

Balance - at end of year $ 3,423,795 $ 1,000,000 $ 150,000 $ 400,000 $ 500,000 $ 150,000 $ 5,623,795

2020 Operating Fund

Investigations
and Hearings
Reserve Fund

Sexual Abuse
Therapy Fund

Strategic
Initiatives Fund

Contingency
Reserve Fund

Property and
Technology

Fund Total

Balance - at beginning of year $ 4,664,535 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 4,664,535

Excess of revenues over expenses for the
year 306,219 - - - - - 306,219

Inter-fund transfers (note 1) (1,500,000) 1,000,000 40,000 260,000 200,000 - -

Balance - at end of year $ 3,470,754 $ 1,000,000 $ 40,000 $ 260,000 $ 200,000 $ - $ 4,970,754

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from members $ 3,903,358 $ 2,923,674
Interest received 18,767 98,180
Cash paid to employees and suppliers (2,994,017) (3,094,683)

928,108 (72,829)

Cash flows from investing activity
Purchase of capital assets (55,330) (2,935)

Change in cash during the year and cash at end of year 872,778 (75,764)

Cash - at beginning of year 6,940,671 7,016,435

Cash - at end of year $ 7,813,449 $ 6,940,671

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

6
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

The College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario (the "College")
regulates the practice of traditional Chinese medicines and governs the actions and conduct of its
members to ensure the public has access to safe, competent and ethical services from qualified traditional
Chinese medicine professionals.

The College is a not-for-profit organization, incorporated without share capital by a special act of the
Ontario Legislature and, as such, is generally exempt from income taxes. The College is governed by the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and the Traditional Chinese Medicine Act, 2006.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations and are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. These financial statements have been prepared within the framework of the
significant accounting policies summarized below.

Basis of Accounting - Operations

The operating fund reflects the day-to-day activities of the College which are financed generally
by registration, renewal and application fees. All investment income earned is allocated to the
operating fund.

The College's Council has internally restricted net assets to be used for specific purposes. These
funds are not available for operations without approval of the Council. The details of internally
restricted funds are as follows:

(a) The Investigations and Hearings Reserve Fund is designated to cover costs, including legal
costs, for the conduct of inquiries, investigations, discipline hearings, fitness to practice
hearings, the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board registration appeals hearings and
other hearings that may arise related to regulating the profession.  During the fiscal year, the
Council approved the transfer of $NIL ($1,000,000 - 2020) from the operating fund.

(b) The Sexual Abuse Therapy Fund is designated to cover costs for funding for therapy and
counseling.  During the fiscal year, the Council approved the transfer of $110,000 ($40,000 -
2020) from the operating fund.

(c) The Strategic Initiatives Fund is designated to meet the anticipated future requirements of
the College for strategic directions and key activities as outlined in the College’s Strategic
Plan.  During the fiscal year, the Council approved the transfer of $140,000 ($260,000 -
2020) from the operating fund.

(d) The Contingency Reserve Fund is designated to provide for extraordinary expenses that
exceed or fall outside of the provisions of the College’s operating budget and are not
otherwise covered by the Investigations and Hearings Reserve Fund or to fund the College’s
obligations in extreme circumstances as determined and approved by the Council of the
College including in the event that the College ceases to exist as a corporate statutory body.
During the fiscal year, the Council approved the transfer of $300,000 ($200,000 - 2020)
from the operating fund.

7
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of Accounting - Operations (continued)

(e) The Property and Technology Reserve fund is designated to cover costs, for future needs of
the College such as office moves and renovations. It is also designated to fund expenses
related to asset replacement, rehabilitation, and significant repair for equipment that fall
outside of the provisions of the College’s operating budget. During the fiscal year, the
Council approved the transfer of $150,000 ($NIL - 2020) from the operating fund.

Financial Instruments

(i) Measurement of financial instruments

The College initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value adjusted
by, in the case of a financial instrument that will not be measured subsequently at fair value, the
amount of transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument. 

The College subsequently measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost.
Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction for
impairment. Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost include cash, accounts
receivable and  accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

(ii) Impairment

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of
possible impairment. When a significant adverse change has occurred during the period in the
expected timing or amount of future cash flows from the financial asset or group of assets, a
write-down is recognized in net income. The write down reflects the difference between the
carrying amount and the higher of:

- the present value of the cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or group of
assets;

-  the amount that could be realized by selling the assets or group of assets;

When the events occurring after the impairment confirm that a reversal is necessary, the reversal
is recognized in net income up to the amount of the previously recognized impairment. The
amount of the reversal is recognized in income in the period that the reversal occurs.

8
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Capital Assets

The costs of capital assets are capitalized upon meeting the criteria for recognition as capital
assets, otherwise, costs are expensed as incurred. The cost of capital assets comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use .

Capital assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment
losses.
Depreciation is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, using
methods and rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated useful
lives. The annual amortization rates and methods are as follows: 

Furniture and equipment - straight line over 5 years
Computer equipment - straight line over 3 years
Computer software - straight line over 3 years
Customized computer software - straight line over 10 years
Leasehold improvements - over the term of the lease

Capital assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any potential impairment is identified, the
amount of the impairment is quantified by comparing the carrying value of the capital assets to its
fair value. Any impairment of capital assets is recognized in income in the year in which the
impairment occurs. An impairment loss is not reversed if the fair value of the capital assets
subsequently increases. There were no impairment indicators in 2021.

Deferred Lease Inducements

Deferred lease inducements are amortized on a straight line basis over the term of the premise
lease.

Revenue Recognition

The College's principal source of revenue is membership dues which are recognized as revenue in
the period to which the membership dues relate. Membership dues received in the current year,
applicable to a subsequent year are recorded as deferred revenue on the Statement of Financial
Position and will be accounted for as revenue in the year to which they pertain.

Other fees and revenue include application fees, examination fees, course fees and interest.  Fees
are recognized as revenue when the services and courses have been provided.  Interest is recorded
when earned. Fees received in the current year, applicable to a subsequent year are recorded as
deferred revenue on the Statement of Financial Position and will be accounted for as revenue in
the year to which they pertain.

9
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the College's financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the year.

Key areas where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments include
allowance for doubtful accounts and useful lives of capital assets. Actual results could differ from
these and other estimates, the impact of which would be recorded in future affected periods.

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT

The College is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a measure of the College's risk exposure at the statement of financial position date.

The financial instruments of the College and the nature of the risks to which those instruments
may be subject, are as follows:

Risks
Market risk

Financial instrument Credit Liquidity Currency Interest rate Other price
Cash X
Accounts receivable X
Accounts payable and accrued

liabilities X

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. The College is exposed to credit risk on
its cash and accounts receivable. 

The College reduces its exposure to the credit risk of cash by maintaining balances with a
Canadian financial institution.

The College mitigates its exposure to the credit risk of accounts receivable by monitoring
receivable balances on a regular basis and providing for receivables that are uncollectible.
Management has included a provision for doubtful accounts receivable in these financial
statements (see note 3).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The College is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of
its accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The College expects to meet these obligations as
they come due by generating sufficient cash flow from operations.

10
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The College is not exposed to significant
currency, interest rate or other price risks.

Changes in Risk

There have been no changes in the College's risk exposure from the prior year.

3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable includes an amount receivable for cost awards totalling $101,576 ($110,910
- 2020) net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $475,104 ($475,104 - 2020).

4. CAPITAL ASSETS

Details of capital assets are as follows:

2021 Cost
Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Book
Value

Furniture and equipment $ 248,524 $ 247,907 $ 617
Computer equipment and software 106,751 85,507 21,244
Customized computer software 558,560 263,011 295,549
Leasehold improvements 302,859 210,052 92,807

$ 1,216,694 $ 806,477 $ 410,217

2020 Cost
Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Book
Value

Furniture and equipment $ 248,524 $ 247,289 $ 1,235
Computer equipment and software 76,353 73,661 2,692
Customized computer software 533,628 207,155 326,473
Leasehold improvements 302,859 179,766 123,093

$ 1,161,364 $ 707,871 $ 453,493

11
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

5. DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENTS

Deferred lease inducements represent the unamortized amount of a leasehold improvement
allowance under the premise lease and free rent at various times during the lease.

2021 2020

Balance - at beginning of year $ 121,001 $ 148,924
Amortization of lease inducements (27,923) (27,923)

Balance - at end of year $ 93,078 $ 121,001

6. LEASE COMMITMENT

The College has entered into a lease for its premises which expires on July 31, 2024. The
minimum annual lease payments are as follows:

Fiscal year ending March 31 2022 $ 114,384
2023 114,384
2024 114,384
2025 38,128

$ 381,280

In addition, the College is obligated to pay its proportionate share of operating costs and taxes
which amounted to $55,176 ($87,434 - 2020).

7.  CONTINGENT LIABILITY

There is currently a matter under review to assess whether the College has a potential liability. As
the outcome of this matter is not determinable at this time, no amounts have been recorded in the
financial statements.

8.  IMPACT OF GLOBAL PANDEMIC

During March 2020, the global pandemic of the virus known as COVID-19 led the Canadian
Federal government, as well as provincial and local governments, to impose measures, such as
restricting foreign travel, mandating self-isolations and physical distancing and closing non-
essential businesses. These measures have temporarily reduced certain operations of the
College. The College is continuing to serve its members remotely and through online formats.

Because of the high level of uncertainty related to the outcome of this pandemic, it is difficult to
estimate the financial effect on the College. No adjustments have been made in the financial
statements for these events.

12
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COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE
PRACTITIONERS AND ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021

2021 2020

Consulting and professional services
Professional services $ 82,248 $ 138,954

82,248 138,954

Special programs and projects
Special projects and programs 331,665 214,939
Information technology 217,615 185,417

549,280 400,356

Office and general operational costs
General operating costs 359,344 671,434

$ 359,344 $ 671,434

13
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Actuals of Q1

 2021-2022

 Annual Budget

 2021-2022 

 Actual to Budget 

% 

Budget Remaining 

(balance of Year)

GL Code Revenue

4101000 Registration Fees 78,400.00$               124,750.00$             62.85% 46,350.00$                   

4102000 Renewal  Fees 2,441,200.00$          2,381,000.00$          102.53% (60,200.00)$                  

4200000 Administration Fees 40,600.00$               48,350.00$               83.97% 7,750.00$                     

4300000 Pan Can Examination Fees 159,730.00$             255,800.00$             62.44% 96,070.00$                   

4500000 Other Fees 11,600.00$               26,000.00$               44.62% 14,400.00$                   

4600000 Other Income 10,805.12$               30,000.00$               36.02% 19,194.88$                   

Total Income  $        2,742,335.12  $        2,865,900.00 95.69%  $               123,564.88 

GL Code Expenses

Council & Committees 81,864.82$             919,750.00$           8.90% 837,885.18$               

6100000 Council 6,392.75$                 93,500.00$               6.84% 87,107.25$                   

6201000 Executive Committee 5,086.00$                 29,000.00$               17.54% 23,914.00$                   

6202000 Registration Committee and Panel 6,916.44$                 50,500.00$               13.70% 43,583.56$                   

6203000 ICRC Committee 31,901.65$               189,000.00$             16.88% 157,098.35$                 

6204000 Quality Assurance Committee 12,848.79$               128,000.00$             10.04% 115,151.21$                 

6205000 Patient Relations Committee 770.00$                    48,750.00$               1.58% 47,980.00$                   

6206000 Discipline Committee 17,949.19$               374,000.00$             4.80% 356,050.81$                 

6207000 Fitness to Practice Committee -$                           4,250.00$                 0.00% 4,250.00$                     

6208000 Examination Appeals Committee -$                           2,750.00$                 0.00% 2,750.00$                     

6300000 Professional Services 18,557.25$             91,000.00$             20.39% 72,442.75$                 

6301000 Legal Fees 16,919.57$               50,000.00$               33.84% 33,080.43$                   

6302000 Accounting Fee 1,612.62$                 26,000.00$               6.20% 24,387.38$                   

6303000 Other Fees 25.06$                       15,000.00$               0.17% 14,974.94$                   

6400000 Special Programs/Projects 182,239.97$           388,300.00$           46.93%  $               206,060.03 

6401000 Pan-Canadian Examinations 158,851.23$             195,800.00$             81.13% 36,948.77$                   

6402000 Doctor Title -$                           58,500.00$               0.00% 58,500.00$                   

6403000 Strategic Initiatives 18,599.80$               60,000.00$               31.00% 41,400.20$                   

6404000 School Program Approval -$                           57,000.00$               0.00% 57,000.00$                   
6405000 Safety and Jurisprudence Test 4,788.94$                 17,000.00$               28.17% 12,211.06$                   

6500000 Salaries and Benefits 332,715.82$           1,439,303.00$        23.12% 1,106,587.18$            

6500000 Salaries and Benefits 331,456.54$             1,409,303.00$          23.52% 1,077,846.46$             
6502000 Casual Labour 1,259.28$                 30,000.00$               4.20% 28,740.72$                   

6600000 Information Technology 41,656.52$             274,960.00$           15.15% 233,303.48$               

6602000 Equipment Expenses 167.25$                    10,000.00$               1.67% 9,832.75$                     

6603000 Software Development 20,408.87$               145,000.00$             14.08% 124,591.13$                 

6604000 Maintenance and Support Contracts 11,206.59$               68,760.00$               16.30% 57,553.41$                   

6605000 Online Services 9,308.81$                 43,200.00$               21.55% 33,891.19$                   

6606000 Network Security 565.00$                    8,000.00$                 7.06% 7,435.00$                     

6700000 Operating Expenses 91,197.72$             511,950.00$           17.81% 420,752.28$               

6701000 General Operating Costs 65,967.50$               266,950.00$             24.71% 200,982.50$                 

6702000 Payment Gateway 10,490.21$               110,000.00$             9.54% 99,509.79$                   

6703000 Subscriptions and Conferences 13,316.05$               60,000.00$               22.19% 46,683.95$                   

6704000 Communications and Publications 1,423.96$                 75,000.00$               1.90% 73,576.04$                   
    

Total Expenses 748,232.10$           3,625,263.00$        20.64%
  

Net Income 1,994,103.02$         $         (759,363.00)  
 

UNAUDITED  College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario
Statement of Operations 

1st Quarter ( April 01,2021- June 30,2021)
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What is a Balance Sheet? 

The balance sheet presents a company's financial position at the end of a specified date. The balance 
sheet can be described as a “snapshot” of the financial position of the organization at a point in time. 

For example, the amounts reported on a balance sheet dated March 31, reflect that instant when all the 
transactions through March 31 have been recorded. 

The major components of the Balance Sheet are: Assets, Liabilities and Equity 

Assets: Assets are the resource with economic value that the company owns or controls. It will provide 
benefits to the company. (for example: Cash, Account Receivable, Prepaid Expenses, Fixed Assets, etc.) 

Liabilities:  Liabilities are obligations or financial debt of the company that requires the company to give 
up an economic benefit to settle past transactions or events. (for example: Account Payable, Deferred 
Revenue, Accrued Expenses, etc.) 

Equity: Equity states the value left over for shareholders if a company would utilize its assets to meet 
the liability obligations. The accounting equation is: Assets minus Liabilities equals Equity 

What is a Profit & Loss Statement? 

The Profit & Loss statement is a financial statement that summarizes the revenue, expense that incurred 
over a particular period. The purpose of the profit and loss statement is showing whether the company 
earned or lost money during the period being reported. 

Under the accrual basis of accounting, the profit and loss statement consisted of: 

• the revenues (sales, service fees) that were earned during the accounting period, and
• the expenses (salaries, rent, legal fee etc.) that match the revenues being reported or have

expired during the accounting period
• the profit is the financial benefit when the amount of revenue exceeds the amount of expense.

Profit is calculated as revenues minus expenses.
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What is a Statement of Operations? 
 

The statement of operations summarizes a company's revenues and expenses over the entire reporting 
period.  

The Statement of Operations measures the budget variance between budgeted and actual figures. In 
expense section, a favorable budget variance refers to positive variances or gains, and unfavorable 
variance refers to a negative budget variance or shortfall; it’s on the opposite under revenue section, a 
favorable various refers to a negative variance, and unfavorable variance refers to a positive variance.  
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1. Background

To provide an overview of the highlights and major point of interest defined in the provided Financial 
Statements (Balance Sheet, Profit & Loss and Statement of Operations) for the 1st  Quarter of the 2021-
2022 fiscal year (April 2021 - June 2021).  

Variance between Actuals and Annual Budget prediction is compared with the assumption that a 
quarter value has a 25% cap. 

For example, for the third quarter we expect expenses or revenue close to 75% will indicate that we are 
on target, any expenses or revenue less or greater than 75% indicates over budget or underbudget. 

First Quarter – 25% Second Quarter – 50% Third Quarter - 75% Fourth Quarter – 100% 

Having said that, there are few exceptions to take in consideration. For example, our main source of 
revenue is collected between Feb-March of the current calendar year and is deferred to the first quarter 
of the new fiscal year, that means the actual revenue will far exceed the 25% percent expectation of a 
first quarter. 

Same exceptions may also apply for item line expenses, where the bulk of the expense (for example 
Audit) is incurred in one single quarter. 

2. Balance Sheet
2.1 Point of Interests for 1st Quarter Balance Sheet 
Current Assets: 

The College has 4 Bank Accounts, each one of them with its own purpose: 

1. Investment Account: This is the total amount of “cash” owned by the College.
As per June 30,2021 the college owns $ 7,259,793.28 (already reconciled with checks not 
cashed out)

2. Cheque Account: This is the account used to pay all our creditors. ($306,605.86)
3. Savings Account: This account holds all revenue generated from Credit Card transactions and

Money Orders. Moneris (our payment gateway) transfers on a daily basis all CC generated
revenue directly to this account, the College deposits money orders and\or cheques every 2
weeks.
Every 2 Weeks, the savings account is cleared and the funds are transferred to the Checking
Account to be used to pay our creditors. Most often further funds are required and the
difference is transferred from the Investment Account.

4. Reserve Account: As of June 30,2021, the reserve account is a total of $2,200,502.04.
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Interest collected in the reserve account is transferred on a monthly basis to the Investment account. 

The table below shows how the funds are allocated for the reserve account. 

Note: Funds from this account can only be used for a specific purpose described in the table below and 

it requires Council approval. 

As of June 30, 2021, the below table displays the amount of funds allocated to the Reserve account. 

Other Current Assets: 

2.2 Cost Orders 
The College has a total amount of Cost Orders receivable for the amount of $358,965.05 (excluding 
doubtful allowance), this is the total amount of ordered to the College for all adjudicated matters. 

During the first quarter a total of $2000.00 in cost orders was granted to the College and a total of 
$3,900.00 was collected from previously awarded cost orders. 

Name Cost Orders awarded in Q1 Collected in Q1 
Dan Micu $1,500.00 
Liudmila Brusentseva $2,000.00 
Anna Slavin $400.00 
TOTAL $3,900.00 

Reserve 

Internally Restricted for Complaints and Discipline $        1,000,000.00 

Internally Restricted for General Contingency $    500,000.00 

Internally Property and Technology Funds $    150,000.00 

Internally Restricted Therapy and Counselling Funds $    150,000.00 

Internally Restricted for Strategic Initiatives $    400,000.00 

Total Reserve $     2,200,000.00 
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Below is a list of currently cost orders outstanding balance: 

Note: Nathalie Xian Xi Yan matters is under appeal. 

Philipp Tran cost award ($105,000 – Jan 2017) and FOTCMA cost award ($110,815.05 – March 2015) are 
not included in the previous table since they have been added to the balance sheet as allowance for 
doubtful account. 

“The allowance for doubtful accounts is a reduction of the total amount of accounts receivable 
appearing on a company's balance sheet, and is listed as a deduction immediately below 
the accounts receivable line item. “ 

As part of the College’s mandate to regulate the profession in the public interest, the College routinely 
reviews on a case-by-case basis, the most cost-efficient model to enforcing the awards issued by the 
Discipline Committee. 

The College has recently sought a proposal to preserve the College’s rights in collecting the funds owed 
as a result of the FOTCMA cost award of $110,815.05. The College has reviewed this matter and is in the 
midst of taking further steps to enforce and collect the amount owed. The proposal will likely incur an 
added expense of approximately $26,000 which is approximately 24% of the cost award. The College has 
been advised of the necessity and importance of taking this additional step to increase the probability of 
the College in collecting the funds owed and preserving our rights. In the interest of reducing the burden 

Name Outstanding Balance Awarded 

1102022 · Cost Order Jie Dong Wang  $    2,065.15 March,2016 
1102029 · Cost Order Ebrahim Taeb  $     750.00 March,2017 
1102030 · Cost Order Kui Li  $    3,500.00 March,2017 
1102038 · Cost Order Dan Micu  $    40,000.00 May,2018 
1102047 · Cost Order Nathalie Xian Xi Yan  $    65,000.00 January,2019 
1102048 · Cost Order Alan Canon  $    20,000.00 February,2019 
1102052 · Cost Order Diana Turevski  $    10,000.00 November,2018 
1102053 · Cost Order Yatwah Cheung  $    60,000.00 January,2018 
1102054 · Cost Order George Li  $    125,750.00 October,2019 
1102055 · Cost Order Mark Lannard $    28,299.90 January,2019 
1102056 · Cost Order FOTCMA  $   500.00    February,2019 
1102058 -Cost Order Anna Slavin  $   1,600.00    April,2021 
TOTAL $      358,965.05  
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of cost awards to the current membership, the College is taking the necessary steps to ensure the FOTCMA 
cost award is collected, and the terms of the court order upheld.    

Fixed Assets 

Fixed assets are long-term tangible or intangible properties that the College owns to generate income. 
For the College, fixed assets consist of furniture and equipment, computer, leasehold improvements, 
and software. 

The fixed asset’s value decreases as they age, they are subjected to periodic depreciation. The net value 
(book value of a fixed assets minus depreciation) of fixed asset represents the asset’s long-term value. 

Our current fixed asset value is $410,217.44, please review the Balance Sheet for details. 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities are the debts or obligations due within a year. On our Balance Sheet, the balance of 
the current liabilities is $216,926.15. 

3. Profit & Loss
3.1 Point of Interests for 1st Quarter Profit & Loss 
Revenue Summary 

As of June 30, 2021, the College’s revenue totaled $2,742,335.12.  The amount consists of membership, 
administration and exams revenue $2,719,930.00 and other income $10,805.12 (Cost Orders & Bank 
Interest). Please refer to the P&L document for the breakdown. 

Revenue is at 95.69%, below target considering that we collect our main source of Revenue from Annual 
Renewal between February and March. 

Annual Renewal (including General Class, Inactive and Professional Corporation) is above budget by 
2.53%.  

Pan Canadian Examination Fees also a steady increase of applications, see below breakdown 

Exam Application Fee = $44,700.00 

 Computer Base Exam Fee R.AC = $65,420.00 

 Computer Base Exam Fee R.TCMP = $49,610.00 

For a total  of $159,730.00  

Reminder:  the College only retains the Application fee and the Exam Fee becomes an expense and send 
directly to CARB. 
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Expenses Summary 

Overall total expenses are at 20.64% below target for the first quarter being at 25%.  

The current pandemic situation still sees a reduction of expenses in some of the components , in 
particular Council and Committees expenses and Operating Expenses. 

4. Statement of Operations
4.1 Point of Interests for 1st Quarter Statement of Operations 

Individual budget items considerations: 

The items are numbered according to the Statement of Operations for ease of cross reference against 
Profit & Loss financial document. 

(Note: For easy of reference refer to the first column on the Statement of Operations) 

4102000: Revenue – Renewal Fees 

Annual Renewal fees were collected in bulk during the February-March period of 2020 and 
the revenue was deferred to the 2020-2021 fiscal year. 

4101000: Revenue – Registration Fees  

Registration fees also are above target at 62.85%. 

4200000: Revenue – Administration Fees 

Application fee are at 83.97%.  

6100000-X: Expenses – Council & Committees 

All well below budget, with a total of only 8.9%. 

6300000: Expenses – Professional Services 

Professional Services are at 20.39%.  

The Legal fees includes general legal counsel fees (mostly HR related), Litigation and 
Unauthorized Practice. 

6300000: Expenses – Special Programs/Projects 

   Special Programs/Projects is above budget at 46.93%.  

  The Pan-Canadian Examinations is at 81.13% which include the last rate of collected funds in  

  the previous years(~44k) and the examination fees collected in this fiscal year(~111k). 
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6500000: Expenses – Salaries and Benefits 

Slightly below budget at 23.12% but on target. 

6600000: Expenses – Information Technology 

Below budget at 15.15% 

6600000: Expenses – Operating Expenses 

    Below budget at 17.81% 

In summary ,total expenses is at 20.64% , which is almost 5% below budget. 



EXECUTIVE

Issue 
The College does not have a formal policy for processing per diem claims of professional members. This 
has led to inconsistency in the process, and confusion over what members are eligible to claim. 

Public Interest Rationale 
The College is required to be financially responsible and transparent. A lack of per diem policy puts the 
College at risk of not meeting this requirement, as it is currently unable to ensure that per diems are 
processed consistently or transparently. 

Background 
College staff have drafted a policy for the Committee’s consideration. This policy will apply to 
professional members of Council and Committees, and has been drafted based on current practices as 
to not cause much disruption to members. However, some changes are being proposed to improve the 
process.  

The policy is set out in three sections: 

Procedures 
The first section deals with procedure, and the major change being proposed is in this section. Staff are 
proposing that instead of submitting a per diem form after each meeting/claim, members will instead 
submit their forms once a month, with all claims from that month included. Staff will ask that members 
submit their forms within 7 days of the end of the month, so that payments can be processed on the 
first payroll date of the month. Forms received after 7 days, may be processed on the second payroll 
date of the month. In addition, claims from previous fiscal years will not be processed, unless they are 
received shortly after the end of the fiscal year (fiscal year is April 1 – March 31). 

This is being proposed because this will create a more efficient system, and reduce the amount of 
paperwork for both Council members and staff. After an adjustment period, it is anticipated that this will 
improve the process greatly. 

Per Diem Rates 
This section sets out the per diem rates. No changes are being proposed in this section. 

Per Diem Eligibility 
This section sets out requirements for a claim to be eligible for a per diem. Only items in this list can be 
claimed. The list is largely similar to the College’s current process. 

Once this policy is finalized and approved, College staff will follow it for processing all claims from 
professional members.  

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: Per Diem Policy 

Reported By: Sean Cassman, Francesco Ortale 

Action: Motion 



EXECUTIVE
Next Steps 

• Committee to discuss policy contents.
• Request changes or approve policy to be implemented.

 Encl: Per Diem Policy 



 
 
Background 

The purpose of the policy is to establish the amounts and process for compensation of professional 
Council and Committee members of the College. Professional members of CTCMPAO’s Council or its 
committees will receive remuneration for participation in College business as set out in this policy. 

Procedures 

In order to ensure consistent and efficient processing of claims, the following process will apply to all per 
diem claims: 

• Members may submit claims based on rates and eligibility as set out in this policy. 
• Members must submit their claims via the College Per Diem Form to College staff designated by 

the Registrar. 
• Receipts are required in support of all expense claims. Receipts must be submitted with Expense 

Form. 
- Exception for meals. Receipts not required for eligible meal claims.   

• Claims will be verified by program managers, and processed by College staff. 
• Members will submit one Per Diem Form per month, and include claims that occurred in that 

month. 
- Payment for each month will be processed following the College’s payroll schedule. For 

members to receive payment on the first payroll date of the month, they should submit 
their form within 7 days of the end of the month. Forms received after 7 days may be 
processed on the second payroll date of the month. If a delay in processing happens, 
College staff will notify the member of the delay. 

- If members do not include a claim from a particular month on the Per Diem Form from 
that month, they may include it on future submissions, provided it is within the same 
fiscal year. Claims from a previous fiscal year, that are received more than 14 days after 
that fiscal year ends (current fiscal year is April 1 – March 31), will not be processed. 

• Tax documents will be provided by staff annually. 

To ensure the relevancy of this policy, College staff will bring it to Council for review on an annual basis. 
Items to be reviewed are per diem rates, items eligible for claims, and the procedure for processing 
claims. 
 
Per Diem Rates 
The charts below set out the rates and maximum allowable per diems. Actual amounts will depend on 
the specifics of the claim. Members must follow the Per Diem Eligibility section below when entering 
their claims into the Per Diem Form. 

Full and Half Per Diem Amounts 

Position Full Per Diem Half Per Diem 
Professional Council/Committee 
Member 

$275 $137.50 

Committee Chair $350 $175 



 
 

President $350 $175 
Vice-President $325 $162.50 

 

Additional Rates and Maximum Allowable Amounts 

Claim Type Rate Maximum 
Decision Writing and Deliberation $45/hour $275/item 
Travel Time $20.69/hour $90/meeting 
Preparation Time $45/hour  $275/meeting 
Meals N/A Breakfast: $10 

Lunch: $12.50 
Dinner: $22.50 

 

Per Diem Eligibility 

Below is a list of items that are eligible for Per Diem claims. Only claims that meet the requirements of 
this list will be honoured.  

• Meeting attendance 
- Members are eligible for a per diem for any Council or Committee meeting they attend, 

whether in-person or remotely. This may include mandatory training and orientation, 
panel meetings, hearings, etc. 

- Meetings over 3 hours are eligible for a full per diem. 3 or fewer hours eligible for a half 
per diem. 

- Members are eligible to claim up to one full per diem per day, even if they attend 
multiple meetings in one day. 

• Meeting preparation time 
- Members will be paid hourly for meeting preparation, up to the number of hours equal 

to the scheduled meeting time, unless this total exceeds the maximum allowable 
amount. In this case, the maximum for preparation time will be paid. 

• Decision writing 
- Discipline Committee and Fitness to Practice members are eligible for 1 maximum claim 

per matter. 
- Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports Committee and Registration Committee members 

are eligible for Per Diem on an hourly basis for the review of decisions, up to the 
maximum allowable amount.  

• Presidential duties 
- The President of the College Council is eligible for a per diem for activities necessary for 

the fulfilment of their role. 
- The per diem for presidential duties will be paid on an hourly basis, up to a maximum of 

a full per diem. Hourly rate will be based on 7 ¼ hours being a full per diem. 
• Travel Time 

- Members are eligible for compensation of travel time if they are attending an in-person 
meeting that exceeds 7¼ hours and the travel time 1 way is 1 hour or more. 



 
 

- Only eligible for travel on day of meeting 
• Travel Expenses 

- Air travel is permitted if it is the most practical and economical way to travel.  
- When air travel is necessary members are required to choose the most efficient, 

effective and/or economical rate. It is expected that members will fly economy (coach). 
- Where a personally-owned vehicle is used and the radius of distance between residence 

and meeting site exceeds 40 km (ie. is greater than 40 km one-way) the member will be 
reimbursed for mileage. 

- Lesser distances are considered to be part of a normal day’s work. 
- The rate for Southern Ontario is $0.40 and Northern Ontario $0.41 per kilometer. 

• Accommodations  
- If you reside outside of a 40 km radius of the meeting site you may be eligible to claim 

an accommodation expense at the lowest available hotel rate 
- Members should consult with College staff on hotels offering a discounted rate to the 

College 
• Meals 

- For in-person meeting attendance only 
- To be eligible to claim a breakfast expense you must depart your residence 2-hours prior 

to start of scheduled meeting time. If breakfast is provided at the meeting, members 
may not claim a breakfast expense. 

- To be eligible to claim a lunch expense you must attend a full-day (7 ¼ hour day) 
meeting. If lunch is provided at the meeting, members may not claim a lunch expense. 

- To be eligible to claim a dinner expense you must:  
 Have attended a full day (7 ¼ hour day) meeting which extends past 4:00pm; 
 have not been provided dinner; and 
 your return trip exceeds 2 hours. 

- Alcohol is not eligible to be claimed. 
• Cancelations 

- If an in-person meeting is cancelled three or fewer days before the meeting date, 
Council members are eligible to claim a Per Diem. 

- In all eligible cases, members will receive per diems for the planned duration of the 
canceled meeting. 

- Cancellation of remote (virtual, teleconference, etc.) or ad-hoc meetings is NOT eligible 
to claim a Per Diem. 

- Discipline Hearings that are cancelled in process and are multi-day can claim one 
additional Per Diem. 

- If the meeting is canceled without a new date being set, members may also claim 
preparation time for the canceled meeting. If the meeting is rescheduled, members may 
not claim preparation time. 

 



EXECUTIVE

Issue 
The College continues to make progress in meeting the requirements of the CPMF. 

Public Interest Rationale 
The CPMF has been implemented by the Ministry of Health to ensure colleges are regulating in the 
public interest according to Ministry standards. The College will be required to make changes to meet 
these standards.  

Background 
As previously reported, the College did not meet all standards of the CPMF (see attached Executive 
Summary for reference). In this item, staff will provide information on meeting 3 of the deficiencies. 

a. Financial Reserve Policy
Standard 4.1 b. of the CPMF asks if colleges have a financial reserve policy in place that has been 
validated by an auditor. The College does have a financial reserve policy, and it has been reviewed by an 
auditor; however, the auditor has made some minor suggestions to improve our policy. In order to fully 
meet this requirement, the Executive Committee will need to review these changes for decision. Please 
see attached the College’s financial reserve policy. 

b. Organizational Chart
Standard 4.1 c. of the CPMF states that Council is responsible for ensuring that the organization had the 
workforce that it needs to be successful. The College has an organizational chart (attached), and it is 
providing it to the Executive Committee for their information.  

c. KPIs and Strategic Plan
Standard 15.1 a. requires colleges to provide information on key performance indicators (KPIs) used in 
measuring the College’s success. Currently, the College uses its workplan to measure its progress against 
the strategic plan, but it does not have a public document to demonstrate this. Staff have put together a 
draft chart to detail this information, which could be put on the College’s website. This chart will be 
updated quarterly with key items that relate to the strategic plan. Please see the chart attached below. 

In the future, setting KPIs will need to be part of the strategic planning process to comply with the 
CPMF. The College’s current strategic plan has expired; however due to the Council being unconstituted, 
the strategic planning session is currently on hold. 

Next Steps 
The Executive Committee can discuss these items and provide any comments or feedback they may 
have. 

Staff will continue to update Council members on our progress towards meeting CPMF requirements. 

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: College Performance Measurement Framework 

Reported By: Ann Zeng, Sean Cassman 

Action: Discussion, Motion 
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Measurement Framework 
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Executive Summary
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Summary of Responses 
Each standard of the CPMF contains a set of measures and requirements. Many of these ask 
colleges the requirements of the measure (response options of yes, partially, or no). In total, 
Colleges are asked to respond to 37 of these questions. For these 37 questions, the college 
responded yes to 26, partially to 9, and no to 2. The standards within Domain 3 (standards 5, 6, 
and 7) do not contain any of these questions. Below is a summary of the College’s responses:  

 

 Action Items 
The College has reviewed measures where it has indicated that it has not met or partially met 
the requirement, and identified a plan to address each deficiency. The College believes some 
deficiencies will be addressed in the next reporting period, while others may require a long-term 
project to address. The College will ensure to provide updates on these action items in the next 
CPMF report. Below is a table of these action items. Please note that these are initial plans to 
address deficiencies, and may change over time. 

26
70%

9
24%

2
6%

College Responses

Yes Partially No
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Domain Measure Requirement 
Met? 

Requirement Action Item 

Domain 
1 

1.1a Partially a. Professional members are 
eligible to stand for election to 
Council only after:  

i. meeting pre-defined 
competency / suitability 
criteria, and  

ii. attending an orientation 
training about the College’s 
mandate and expectations 
pertaining to the member’s 
role and responsibilities. 

The College has 
initiated a 
governance review, 
to be conducted by a 
third party, for 2021. 
The College has 
identified the issue 
of competency 
criteria as an 
outcome for this 
project 

1.1b Partially b. Statutory Committee candidates 
have: 

i. met pre-defined competency 
/ suitability criteria, and  

ii. attended an orientation 
training about the mandate 
of the Committee and 
expectations pertaining to a 
member’s role and 
responsibilities. 

The College has 
identified this issue 
as a potential 
outcome for the 
governance review 

1.2a Partially a. Council has developed and 
implemented a framework to 
regularly evaluate the 
effectiveness of: 

i. Council meetings; 

ii. Council 

 

The College has 
identified this issue 
as a potential 
outcome for the 
governance review 

1.2b No b. The framework includes a third-
party assessment of Council 
effectiveness at a minimum 
every three years. 

The College expects 
the governance 
review project to 
fulfill this 
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requirement for the 
next reporting period 

3.1a Partially a. Council minutes (once approved) 
are clearly posted on the 
College’s website. Attached to 
the minutes is a status update on 
implementation of Council 
decisions to date (e.g. indicate 
whether decisions have been 
implemented, and if not, the 
status of the implementation). 
 

The College will 
commit to posting 
status updates on 
the implementation 
of Council decisions 
once the Council 
become constituted 

Domain 
2 

4.1b Partially  b. The College: 

a. has a “financial 
reserve policy” that sets out 
the level of reserves the 
College needs to build and 
maintain in order to meet its 
legislative requirements in 
case there are unexpected 
expenses and/or a reduction 
in revenue and furthermore, 
sets out the criteria for using 
the reserves; 

b. possesses the level 
of reserve set out in its 
“financial reserve policy”. 

The College must 
have Council 
approve auditors 
recommended 
amendments to the 
Financial Reserve 
Policy 

4.1c Partially c. Council is accountable for the 
success and sustainability of the 
organization it governs. This 
includes ensuring that the 
organization has the workforce it 
needs to be successful now and, 
in the future (e.g.  processes and 
procedures for succession 
planning, as well as current 
staffing levels to support College 
operations). 
 

The College will 
update Council on 
the current 
organizational chart 
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Domain 
6 

11.1 Partially a. Provide examples of how the 
College assists registrants in 
implementing required changes 
to standards of practice or 
practice guidelines (beyond 
communicating the existence of 
new standard, FAQs, or 
supporting documents). 

 

The College will 
develop a policy and 
procedure document 
to outline how we 
educate and support 
registrants in 
applying the 
standards of practice 
and practice 
guidelines applicable 
to their practice 

11.2 Partially a. The College has processes and 
policies in place outlining: 

i. how areas of practice that are 
evaluated in QA assessments 
are identified in order to 
ensure the most impact on the 
quality of a registrant’s 
practice; 

ii. details of how the College 
uses a right touch, evidence 
informed approach to 
determine which registrants 
will undergo an assessment 
activity (and which type if 
multiple assessment 
activities); and 

iii. criteria that will inform the 
remediation activities a 
registrant must undergo based 
on the QA assessment, where 
necessary. 

 

The College will 
ensure outcomes of 
its review of the QA 
program will align 
with right touch 
regulation. 

Domain 
7 

15.1a Partially a. Outline the College’s KPI’s, 
including a clear rationale for why 
each is important. 

At its upcoming 
strategic planning 
session, it will make 
efforts to be more 
transparent in 
selecting KPIs 
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15.3 No a. Performance results related to a 
College’s strategic objectives and 
regulatory activities are made 
public on the College’s website. 

The College will be 
more transparent 
with its performance 
in implementing the 
new strategic plan 
 



 

   

1 
 

 

 

 

RESERVE POLICY – APPENDIX A 

Purpose 

The purpose of the reserve policy for the College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners 
and Acupuncturists of Ontario is to ensure the stability of the mandate, vision, employment and 
continuity of on-going operations of the organization, or to offset liabilities in the event of future 
catastrophic unknown costs.  

Three classes of reserves: 

1. Invested in Capital Assets 
2. Net Assets Internally Restricted 
3. Unrestricted Net Assets 

Invested in Capital Assets 

• This is equal to our actual Net Fixed Assets. 

The College has two types of net asssets: 

1. Internally restricted net assets 
2. Unrestricted net assets  

Net Assets Internally Restricted Internally Restricted Net Assets 

• Internally restricted net assets are reserves are identified by specific need or strategic 
activity. These are funded based on estimates prepared by the College and can be 
adjusted as new information becomes available. 

• Reserves can be added or retired as the operational needs of the College require, subject 
to Council approval. 

• The College shall establish and maintain the following reserve funds: Investigation and 
Hearings Fund, Sexual Abuse Therapy Fund, Strategic Initiatives Fund, Contingency 
Reserve Fund, any other reserve funds as deemed appropriate by the Council.  

• All transfers to and from reserve funds shall be approved by the Council upon 
recommendation of the Executive Committee, unless otherwise stated. 

• The details of the funds are as follows:    
 
a. Investigations and Hearings Reserve Fund 
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The Investigation and hearings Reserve fund is designated to cover costs, including 
legal costs, for the conduct of inquiries, investigations, discipline hearings, fitness to 
practice hearings, the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board registration 
appeals hearings and other hearings that may arise related to regulating the 
profession.  
 
The amount to be maintained in this fund is $1,000,000 or such other amount as may 
be determined by the Council. 
 
 

b. Sexual Abuse Therapy Fund 
The Sexual Abuse Therapy Fund is designated to cover costs for funding for therapy 
and counselling.   
 
The amount to be maintained in this fund is $40,000 or such other amount as 
determined by the Council. 
 

c. Strategic Initiatives Fund 
The Strategic Initiatives Fund is designated to meet the anticipated future 
requirements of the College for strategic directions and key activities as outlined in 
the College’s Strategic Plan.   
 
The amount to be maintained in this fund is $260,000 or such other amount as 
determined by the Council.  
 

d. Contingency Reserve Fund 
The Contingency Reserve Fund is designated to provide for extraordinary expenses 
that exceed or fall outside of the provisions of the College’s operating budget and are 
not otherwise covered by the Investigations and Hearings Reserve Fund or to fund the 
College’s obligations in extreme circumstances as determined and approved by the 
Council of the College including in the event that the College ceases to exist as a 
corporate statutory body. 
 
The amount to be maintained in this fund is $200,000 or such other amount as may be 
determined by the Council. 
 

• The aggregate value of all internally restricted reserve funds shall not exceed $3,000,000 
(12 months of budgeted operating expenses) or such other amount as may be approved by 
the Council of the College.   

• In the event there are surpluses in excess of this amount, the Executive Committee, will 
consider whether to recommend to Council means for reducing revenues or for increased 



 

   

3 
 

spending in the service of the public, members and other stakeholders, in subsequent 
years. 

Unrestricted Net Assets 

• This is where residual funds available after each of the other funds has been met would 
be maintained.  Operational surpluses or losses would be funded to/from this reserve. 

• Unrestricted reserves funds net assets shall be maintained at an amount sufficient to cover 
at least 6 months of budgeted operating expenses in a five-year projection or such other 
amount as may be approved by the Council of the College. 

 
 
Fund Access Authorization 
 

• This policy will be reviewed annually by the Executive Committee.  Changes to this 
policy are subject to the direction of the Council upon the recommendation of the 
Executive Committee. 
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The below chart is an update of the College’s progress on strategic plan items for the 2021-2022 fiscal year (starting April 1, 2021). This chart will 
be updated quarterly. 

Strategic Direction Ongoing Projects Actions Taken 

Good Governance • Governance Review 
 
 
 
 
 

• Competency-Based 
Council Elections 

 
• Annual By-Law Review 

 

• Submitted College governance documents to GSI for review.  
• Scheduled interviews between GSI and Council members and senior staff. 
• GSI has provided the College with the completed report. 
• Received revised governance review report from consultant. 

 
 

• Presented information on competency requirements to Council. Began planning project to 
develop competencies for CTCMPAO 
 

• Potential By-Law changes identified as a result of governance review 

Practitioner 
Competence 

• Modernization of 
Standards of Practice 
 

• Webinars 
 
 

• Enhanced Entry to 
Practice Examination 
 
 
 

• Enhance QA Program 
 
 
 

• Educational Tips 

• Standard for Fees and Billing into force April 1, 2021 
 

• Webinar on fees and billing – June 25, 2021 
 

• CARB will be offering two sittings of the Pan-Can exam in 2021 in the new computer 
format 

• Work to assume the development and administration of Pan-Can Exams has been returned 
to CARB-TCMPA from the Consortium of TCM Regulators  
 

• The College began work with consultant to conduct stakeholder interviews and program 
reviews 

• Stakeholder interviews and survey completed. Program review completed.  
• Final report and recommendations received from consultant 

 



 
 

• After focusing on COVID-19 communications for much of the 2020-2021 year, the College 
began to ramp up educational tips communications for the 2021-2022 year. 

Stakeholder 
Communication 

• Stakeholder Outreach • Semi-annual meeting with schools – May 26, 2021 
• Qi newsletters continue to be sent out quarterly 
• Staff presented to schools on registration process and Pan-Can exams 
• Continued to maintain a dedicated webpage for COVID-19 communications which includes 

information for members and the public. 
Public Confidence • CPMF Report 

 

• Program Accreditation 
Project 
 
 
 
 
 

• Educational Videos 

• First CPMF report submitted; College has begun working on identified action items from 
the report 
 

• The College submitted its response to the draft education standards developed by CARB-
TCMPA 

• ARAC reviewed feedback from survey and made revisions to standards for a second 
consultation. The College is preparing feedback for second consultation 

• Consultation with Ontario educators regarding draft standards was held on September 9, 
2021 
 

• Completed two videos on “What is the Public Register?” and “How to File a Complaint” 
• Began work with third-party video production company on video for “How to Become a 

Registered Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioner and/or Acupuncturist in Ontario?” 
 

For full details on the progress since the beginning of the strategic plan period, refer to Workplan. For full details on the progress since the 
beginning of the strategic plan period, refer to Workplan.  
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Issue 
The College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Includes a requirement that Council and 
Committee members meet a set of competencies to be eligible for the role. In addition to this, 
competency-based selection is a major recommendation of most governance reviews and reforms by 
regulators across Canada, and is something that has been implemented by other Colleges already. 
Because of this, it is strongly recommended that the Executive Committee considers how the College 
may implement a competency framework for its Council. 

Public Interest Rationale 
Council and Committee members are responsible for the decision making on policy matters of the 
College, and for ensuring that decisions are in the interest of public protection. It is because of this 
important function that there is increased pressure to have council and committee members meet a 
competency framework to be eligible.  

Background 
At the previous open meeting of the Executive Committee, staff presented an HPRO template of 
competencies, which is already being adopted by other Colleges, that the College may use as a starting 
point. The Executive Committee and observing Council members requested that staff prepare more 
research on how different colleges have implemented competencies into their election. For this meeting 
staff have prepared some examples of election processes with competencies. 

Ontario College of Pharmacists of Ontario 
The Ontario College of Pharmacists (OCP) asks potential Board members to complete an application 
form, which beyond the type of information we currently ask, also asks the members to fill out 
information on their relevant experience and core competencies, behavioural attributes, and three 
letters of reference that directly speak to the members leadership and governance experience.  

It should be noted that in addition to looking for certain competencies, the OCP identifies other needs 
that should be filled by professional members. For example, the OCP is currently looking for Board 
members with patients in northern or remote communities, patients in long-term care, patients treated 
at community hospitals, and other specific areas of practice. 

The applications will then go through a number of levels of screening. First, staff will do a screening to 
make sure the member meets basic eligibility (i.e. is a member in good standing). Next, the OCP 
contracts external governance consultants to conduct a short- listing of candidates based on their 
review of candidates’ application, including self-assessment of their own skills, competencies, attributes 
or particular expertise. This short list is then provided to the Screening Committee of the OCP. 

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: Council Member Competencies 

Reported By: Ann Zeng and Sean Cassman 

Action: Decision 



  EXECUTIVE 
The Screening Committee, which is composed of the chair of the Governance Committee and 4 
additional members (3 of which must be public members). Once the Screening Committee has a short-
list of candidates, they review the applications, and invite candidates to participate in an interview. The 
interview will focus on determining if candidates meet the essential criteria as well as desired personal 
and behavioral competencies. The Screening Committee is responsible for ensuring there are candidates 
that range of needs on the board are met with qualified candidates.  
 
Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario 
The Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario (RCDSO) is another College that has adopted 
competency requirements to be eligible for elections. These competencies were approved in June of 
2020, and cover the three categories of values and behaviour, relevant knowledge, and skills and 
abilities. As part of the requirements for standing for election, members must submit a letter detailing 
how they meet the competencies.  
 
The information provided by the member in their letter is then reviewed by the RCDSO’s Elections 
Committee. The Committee is comprised of 3 public members of the RCDSO’s Council, and their primary 
function is to address eligibility of members to run for election. The Committee will review each 
candidate’s competency, and issue a written decision with reasons. Members who are not otherwise 
eligible to stand for election may appeal to the Elections Committee for special consideration. In these 
cases, the Committee may wave certain requirements to allow a member to be eligible for election. 
 
The RCDSO has an additional requirement for eligibility, which is the Candidate Eligibility Course. All 
members who wish to sit on Council or Committees must successfully complete this course as a by-law 
requirement. The Elections Committee will also ensure compliance with this requirement before a 
candidate can be allowed to stand for election. The course covers six sections: 
 

• About RCDSO 
• Governing legislation 
• RCDSO committees 
• RCDSO Council 
• Council member conduct 
• Communications support 

 
The RCDSO has been using this course for 5 years, and is planning to refresh it ahead of its 2022 
elections. 
 
College of Opticians 
The College of Opticians of Ontario also uses a competency-based system to determine eligibility for 
elections; however, it does not include all of the components of the ones listed previously. To assess if a 
member has the necessary competencies to be a Council member, their Governance Committee will 
conduct an interview with the member. During the interview, members must demonstrate the 
competence in the following areas: 
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• Passion – public service oriented  
• Exemplified integrity 
• Unbiased and openminded 
• Critical judgement and decision making 
• Collaboration and inclusion 

 
The College of Opticians Governance Committee must include 2 public members, 1 professional 
member from Council, and 1 professional member who is not on Council. 
 
In addition to demonstrating their competencies, candidates must also complete chapter 4 of their 
jurisprudence course, which covers the RHPA. 
 
Next Steps 
At the open Executive Committee meeting of June 22, 2021, it was suggested that a working group be 
put together to develop competencies. It may be important to revisit this suggestion to further evaluate 
the pros and cons of establishing a working group. 
 
As HPRO has developed a competency template that the College can use as a starting point, the amount 
of work involved with this project has been reduced. The main challenge will be deciding on which 
specific competencies will be used. For this, College staff is proposing that it will be better to have the 
full input of everyone on Council who wishes to provide it. Making decisions on specific competencies in 
a working group may limit the amount of input, and have some Council members feeling left out of the 
process. This will also save costs on holding separate working group meetings. 
 
Staff are proposing to hold a special meeting dedicated to competencies to get the process started. This 
could possibly take place before the regularly scheduled meeting in December. Staff are proposing that 
this meeting be chaired by a facilitator to guide discussion and ensure that all Council members may 
participate. The agenda could include: 
 

• A presentation by a representative of a college that currently uses competencies for their 
Council. 

• Priority setting: 
- Detailed review of initial draft competencies prepared by staff, based on HPRO 

competencies  
- What are the biggest needs of CTCMPAO’s Council (how does it differ from other 

colleges)? 
- What are the most challenging aspects of a Council member’s role? 
- What attributes might an ideal Council member have? 

• Deciding on high level competencies, which would be broken down into more specific indicators 
later. 

 
Following this meeting, Council can continue to discuss indicators at regularly scheduled open executive 
meetings/Council meetings as required.  
 
Once Council has agreed upon a set of competencies and indicators, the next step would be to 
determine how we will assess the competencies of candidates. 
 
Encl: HPRO Board/Council Competencies and Eligibility/Disqualification Criteria 
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INTRODUCTION 

 

This document articulates broad Board/Council competencies for RHPA College consideration. Competencies are listed for both individuals and 

Boards/Councils as a whole, and they include definitions/descriptions of those competencies and indicators for competency measurement. 

Indications on whether the competency is a “must have” as the person assumes the role or if the competency can be learned are also provided. 

Note that competencies related to clinical knowledge and experience have not been included in the competencies for individual directors.  

 

These competencies can also be applied to committees and committee members, although perhaps not as rigorously. It is recognized that 

committee service could assist in training/educating a person for a future position on the Board/Council. 

 

A list of eligibility and disqualification criteria follows. This information was gathered from 14 RHPA Colleges’ current by-laws, processes and/or 

procedures. Any application to a position on the Board/Council or Committee must be consistent with that criteria or the person applying would 

not proceed further in the application process.  

 

Reference documents are also listed at the conclusion of this document. This material includes recent reports and promising practices in health 

profession regulation.  

 

Colleges are encouraged to use this document and reference material, customizing the information to suit individual profession-/organizational 

culture-specific needs.  

 

WORDS OF APPRECIATION  

 

Sincere thanks are extended to the Governance Working Group who dedicated months of time and talent to create this resource: 

• Deborah Adams, College of Registered Psychotherapists of Ontario (joined July 2019) 

• Fazal Khan, College of Opticians of Ontario 

• Brenda Kritzer, College of Kinesiologists of Ontario (through September 2019) 

• Kevin McCarthy, College of Nurses of Ontario (Working Group resource) 

• Andrew Parr, College of Naturopaths of Ontario (joined July 2019) 

• Andrea Lowes, College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario (joined September 2019) 

• Melisse Willems, College of Dietitians of Ontario 

• Melanie Woodbeck, College of Opticians of Ontario 
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BOARD/COUNCIL COMPETENCIES 

To understand the competencies required of a member of the Board of Directors or Council of the College, it is imperative to understand the 

role of the Board.  In his 2018 Report on the College of Dental Surgeons of British Columbia, Harry Cayton articulated the role of the Board as: 

• to ensure the College complies with its mandate and the law

• to set strategy, to monitor performance

• and to hold the registrar and chief executive to account for delivery.

This approach to the role of the Board and competency-based Board appointments is consistent with most current literature regarding Boards of 

Directors and effective governance. 

COMPETENCIES FOR INDIVIDUALS DIRECTORS ON THE BOARD 

Section Definition/Description Competency – Indicator Must 

Have 

Can 

Learn 

Leadership Demonstrates skills and ability 

to lead others to solve 

problems, adapt and manage 

change, innovate and achieve 

results 

Vision – understands the importance of an organizational vision and 

the methods/processes for developing a collective vision 

Yes No 

Team-Building – knowledge and understanding of team building 

techniques and dynamics 

No Yes 

Facilitation – knowledge and understanding of consensus building 

and use of effective facilitations techniques 

No Yes 

Change Management – knowledge of change management 

techniques for both projects/plans the College generally 

Yes Yes 

Flexibility – knowledge of the importance of flexibility to the 

negotiation and decision-making processes 

Yes No 

Professionalism/ 

Good Character 

Acts transparently with 

integrity, discretion, and 

humility to consider a range of 

perspectives and diverse ways 

of thinking to challenge the 

status quo, reject 

Diplomacy – is diplomatic in interactions with others Yes Yes 

Judgement – demonstrates good judgement in decisions and actions Yes No 

Ethical Behaviour – knowledge and understanding of ethical 

responsibilities and dilemmas and demonstrating ethical behaviour 

Yes No 

Respectfulness – ability to respect others regardless of their 

background, culture, or divergent opinions; able to effectively 

locate/center issues considering the individuals and/or concerns 

Yes Yes 
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Section Definition/Description Competency – Indicator Must 

Have 

Can 

Learn 

assumptions, and take nothing 

for granted 

 

Attributes of integrity, 

accountability, and openness 

support Board/Council 

members in exercising proper 

authority and good judgment 

in dealing with all 

stakeholders in a responsible, 

respectful, and professional 

manner 

involved; able to weigh/discuss competing considerations in a 

manner that is appropriate and respectful 

Honesty & Integrity – ability to commit to being honest in actions and 

to act with integrity 

Yes No 

Transparency – emanates openness; adheres to established rules on 

transparency  

Yes Yes 

Credibility – perceived trustworthiness; delivers on commitments to 

others to build credibility 

Yes No 

Compliancy – adheres to the code of conduct and acts in a way that 

exemplifies and reinforces culture and values  

Yes Yes 

Emotional Intelligence The capacity to be aware of, 

control, and express 

emotions, and to handle 

interpersonal relationships 

judiciously and empathetically 

Collaboration – inclusive and unifying; consensus-building; seeks 

stakeholder/partnerships as appropriate  

Yes Yes 

Self-Awareness/Recognition of Limits – understanding personal 

strengths, areas of development and potential biases and remaining 

open to self-reflection, feedback, continuous growth and 

improvement; open about mistakes and knows when to ask for help; 

recognizing how individual strengths can be leveraged to improve the 

performance of the board 

Yes Yes 

Relationship-Building – able to relate to others congenially and 

connect with others to support teamwork and cooperation; seeks 

appropriate relationships to further the work of the College 

Yes  Yes 

Tenacity – demonstrates perseverance; works effectively under 

pressure, not giving up in spite of difficulties  

Yes No 

Resiliency – coping in spite of setbacks, barriers, or obstacles and 

demonstrates perseverance in the face of challenges and strong 

personalities  

Yes No 

Motivation – recognizes and celebrates success to reward and 

motivate others 

Yes Yes 
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Section Definition/Description Competency – Indicator Must 

Have 

Can 

Learn 

Tactfulness – understanding of the need to be tactful in individual 

and group discussions 

Yes Yes 

Communicator Able to communicate clearly, 

concisely, and accurately, 

orally and in writing 

Articulate – has the ability to describe thinking to others in a manner 

that is clear and concise 

Yes Yes 

Participatory – actively interacting and continuing to participate 

when difficulties arise 

Yes No 

Active Listening – has the ability to listen to others and articulate the 

views of others  

Yes Yes 

Understanding of 

Governance/     

Fiduciary Duties 

 

Understands the 

Board/Council Member’s role, 

fiduciary duties, good 

governance principles, and the 

stewardship responsibilities of 

a Board/Council: 

• Risk Management 

• Business Acumen 

• Human Resources 

• Financial Literacy 
 

Governance competence 

supports the provision of 

strategic direction and 

oversight for Boards/Colleges; 

it allows members to able to 

carry out the stewardship 

responsibilities, creates robust 

accountability for regulatory 

and financial performance, 

Understanding of the Roles of the Board/Council – understands the 

role of the Board/Council and the role of individual Board/Council 

Members  

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Understanding of the Roles of Management – understands of the 

distinction between the role of the Board/Council versus role of 

management, while being rigorous in asking the Registrar for 

information to support the Board/Council in carrying out its fiduciary 

duty 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Understanding of the Relationship with the Registrar – 

understanding responsibilities related to the sole employee 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Risk Management – understands the concept of risk management 

and commits to identification and mitigation of organizational risk 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Loyalty – understands and commits to the duty of loyalty to the 

organization and places this loyalty above all other obligations for self 

and corporate interests; identifies viable options and puts aside 

vested interests to make decisions that are most likely to achieve the 

College’s  mandate of public protection; actively avoids conflicts of 

interest or otherwise declares and manages them 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Accountability – understands the concept of accountability, both 

individually and organizationally, and is committed to ensuring 

Board/Council-based accountability; ensures decisions are in the 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 
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Section Definition/Description Competency – Indicator Must 

Have 

Can 

Learn 

and enables Board/Council to 

set and achieve strategic goals 

 

Board/Council members have 

a commitment to the public 

and their right to safe, ethical 

care, demonstrated by an 

understanding and 

appreciation of, and 

commitment to, the public 

protection mandate and the 

time required to execute the 

role effectively 

public interest and that appropriate information is available to the 

public  

Equality – understands that all Board/Council Members are to be 

treated equally, including access to information and resources 

No Yes 

Financial Literacy – an understanding of finance and generally 

accepted accounting principles; can read, interpret, and ask questions 

about financial statements; applies a basic understanding of financial 

management to ensure the integrity of financial information received 

by the Board/Council 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Adherence to Confidentiality – understands and adheres to 

confidentiality obligations 

Yes No 

Preparedness – understands the need to be prepared for 

Board/Council meetings; commits to reading, understanding and 

questioning information presented; devotes the required time and 

energy to the role, determined to achieve best possible outcomes in 

public protection 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Thinks Broadly Listening to others’ views and 

considering them; being 

openminded to information 

presented 

Analytical/Critical Thinking/Objectivity – ability to understand and 

interpret information from different sources and system knowledge, 

process the information, connect ideas and concepts and draw logical 

connections and conclusions 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Independence – free expression without considering personal 

interests or interests outside the College’s interests 

Yes No 

Strategic Thinking – ability to recognize the issues facing the 

organization; can think long term, set long term goals and identify a 

path to achieving long term objectives; ensures risks are assessed and 

monitored 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Innovative – ability to step outside of perceived limitations, consider 

new ideas, willing to experiment with new approaches to solutions 

No Yes – 

Adv 



BOARD/COUNCIL COMPETENCIES AND ELIGIBILITY/DISQUALIFICATION CRITERIA 

 

As of 2019-10-31     Page 6 of 11 

Section Definition/Description Competency – Indicator Must 

Have 

Can 

Learn 

Proactive – has the ability and willingness to discuss and debate 

matters before they become organizational issues or crises; thinks 

ahead and beyond current day issues 

No Yes 

Commitment to Continuous Learning – determining mechanisms for 

enhancing knowledge and understanding and developing and 

monitoring learning plans to support personal improvement arising 

from self-awareness; setting goals and working on initiatives that 

improve Board/Council performance   

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Unbiased Attitudes and Behaviour– recognizing personal biases and 

working to mitigate effects of those biases  

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Inclusiveness/ 

Respectful of Diversity 

Understanding and valuing 

differences in the values and 

norms of others and having 

the ability to apply this 

knowledge of the experience 

of diversity to deliberations 

and decision-making 

Appreciation of Different Perspectives – shifting personal cultural 

perspectives and incorporating varying perspectives into decision-

making related to attributes such as differences in gender, ethnicity, 

religion, sexual orientation, disability, and socio-economic class, or 

profession-specific diversities such as region of practice, practice 

setting and context, specialization or modality; responding to 

inappropriate and non-inclusive behaviour to re-direct and build 

awareness 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Adaptability – adapting behavior to work effectively with others who 

have attributes different than their own and conducting self-

assessments to understand how personal attitudes and values might 

create bias; adjusting and adapting communication  behavior to 

reduce the impact of bias and to be effective across diverse contexts 

(e.g., not using ethnophaulisms or outdated terms; using preferred 

terms)  

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Openness – contributes to an environment and culture that 

welcomes diverse perspectives, new partners, and ideas 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Awareness of the complex 

system in which the College 

Commitment to Public Service – committed to serve the public and 

the people of the Province of Ontario 

Yes No 
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Section Definition/Description Competency – Indicator Must 

Have 

Can 

Learn 

Understanding of 

Systems and 

Organizations 

works, including the 

stakeholders in the system, 

and the impact that the 

College’s decisions have on 

the public  

Commitment to Serving in the Public Interest – knowledge of the 

concept of public interest and the ability to place the interests of the 

broad public ahead of the interests of individuals and organizations 

and to communicate this to others 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Understanding of Health Systems – knowledge of the health care 

system in Ontario and Canada, the roles played by different levels of 

government and institutions and the political, economic and social 

context within which health systems operate; understands how these 

systems intersect and impact the public 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

Understanding of Health Regulation – knowledge of the health 

regulatory system, its purpose and how it functions; analyzes the 

potential impact of decisions on the public; able to think strategically 

about systemic issues and the role of the organization in the broader 

regulatory and profession-specific sectors 

Yes – 

Basic 

Yes – 

Adv 

 

 

ADDITIONAL COMPETENCIES FOR THE BOARD/COUNCIL AS A WHOLE 

 

Competency Definition/Description Indicator Board 

as a 

Whole 

One or 

more 

individ

-uals 

Diversity Deliberations are informed 

and decisions include and 

respect diverse perspectives, 

biases are identified and 

questioned, and the College’s 

collective work of public 

protection supports positive 

Recruitment Strategies – adoption of recruitment strategy to ensure 

representation of a variety of cultural and historical perspectives, 

region of practice, practice setting and context, specialization or 

modality  

 

Yes  

Performance Evaluation – evaluating Board/Council performance 

using measures that assess inclusivity 

 

Yes  
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Competency Definition/Description Indicator Board 

as a 

Whole 

One or 

more 

individ

-uals 

systemic change in these and 

other areas: 

• Cultural – including 

indigenous cultures 

• Gender – representation 

from individuals with 

differing gender identities 

• Educational – including 

individuals with and 

without post-secondary 

education and training 

• Regional – including rural 

and urban as well as 

northern communities 

• Background/Experience – 

including work experience 

Risk Mitigation – recognition of organizational risks that lack of 

diversity can present and identification of ways to mitigate risk 

Yes  

Correction – formalized processes to respond to inappropriate and 

non-inclusive behavior 

Yes  

Experience Previous experience in 

governance work, either at a 

Board, committee or 

community level 

Spectrum of Experience – identification of the various aspects of 

experience needed 

Yes  

Clinical Knowledge Knowledge of the legislation 

and regulations governing the 

profession  

Training – has knowledge of the regulated health profession being 

governed and an in-depth knowledge of the written and unwritten 

standards of practise of the profession 

 Yes 
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ELIGIBILITY/DISQUALIFICATION CRITERIA 

 

In order to qualify for a position on the Council/Board or a Committee, a person must meet the following criteria. 

 

Eligibility Criteria Note 

Current member Holds certificate of registration 

No default in anything owing to the College Including fees, forms, or requested information, e.g., quality 

assurance program requirements 

No proceedings/findings Inside or outside of Ontario, including 

terms/conditions/limitations, professional misconduct, 

incompetence, discipline, incapacity, revocation or suspension, 

fitness to practice, informal disposition or resolution, or 

Registrar’s investigation, SCERP 

No finding of guilt of criminal offence In any jurisdiction 

No offence relevant to the registrant’s ability to practice the profession Such as bail conditions 

No conflict of interest  

Not College employee/staff member  Of this College or any other 

Not director, officer, or staff member of a professional advocacy 

organization  

That relates to the College in any way 

Not holding a responsible position with any organization/group whose 

mandate or interests conflict with the College 

 

Not a member of the Board/Council of any other RHPA College  

Has not initiated, joined, continued, or materially contributed to a legal 

proceeding against the College, its Committee, or its representative 

 



BOARD/COUNCIL COMPETENCIES AND ELIGIBILITY/DISQUALIFICATION CRITERIA 

 

As of 2019-10-31     Page 10 of 11 

Not a consultant to third party provider  

No bankruptcy or subject of a consumer proposal Within the last seven years 

Not found to be mentally incompetent  

Computer literate Able to send/receive emails, open and process pdfs, word 

processed documents, and spreadsheets 

Available  Time to meet the needs of their roles at the College 

 

Disqualification Criteria Note 

Fails to uphold any eligibility criteria See list above 

Misses no more than xx meetings  Consecutive, without reason 

Fails to attend hearing or proceeding of a panel Whether Chair or member 

Fails to be in the class/specialty/faculty represented on the Board   

Breaches conflict of interest  

Breaches confidentiality S26 of the Act 

Misuse of social media Any posting that would harm the reputation of the College 

Fails to comply with Code of Conduct  

Resigns from Council  

Advocates or makes a public statement (other than at a Council meeting) 

against a position taken by Council or the College 
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REFERENCE DOCUMENTS: 

• AGRE Committee Eligibility and Competency Framework

• BCCNP Board and Committee Composition Matrices

• CMO Governance Resources

• CNO Governance Resources

• FHRCO Governance WG Competency Comparison

• FHRCO Governance Survey

• Field Law Article – “Professional Regulation: The Political Winds Are Blowing”

• Government of Ontario – Member-Regulatory and Adjudicative Agencies

• NAPRA Board Competencies

• Ontario College of Teachers – Governance Review Report

• PSA Good Practice in Making Council Appointments

• RCDSO Resources



EXECUTIVE 

Issue 
The Executive Committee to approve the draft 2020 – 2021 Annual Report. 

Public Rationale  
The College is mandated to regulate the profession in the public interest, and we must be able to 
demonstrate that we are doing this in order to maintain the trust of those we are accountable to 
(namely the public and Ministry of Health). The annual report helps us do that by detailing the activities 
of the College over the previous year. This is used by the Ministry, along with the new CPMF, to monitor 
our performance. It can also be accessed by the public and members of the profession. Therefore, 
approving an annual report that gives a transparent look at the College’s activities is an important 
function of Council each year. 

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Subject: Draft 2020 – 2021 Annual Report 

Reported By: Ann Zeng 

Action: Motion 
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Issue 
To review the proposed recommendations developed as part of the QA Program Enhancement Project 
(Phase 1).  
 
Public Interest Rationale 
The goal of the Project is to develop a QA Program that meets both the College’s legislative 
requirements and supports professional development and continued competence of the profession. The 
QA Program supports TCM practitioners and acupuncturists in the delivery of safe, effective, and ethical 
care to their patients.  
 
Background 
A Request for Proposals (RFP) was announced in February 2020 for a Quality Assurance Program 
Enhancement Project. In June 2020, the Committee approved Igor Gontcharov as the Consultant for the 
QA Program Enhancement Project.  
 
The Project includes four inter-connected methods: 1. Policy Review (Jurisdictional and Literature 
Review), 2. Program Review (QA Program Review/Needs Analysis, Online Self-Assessment Tools and 
Tracking Solution Review), 3. Key Stakeholder Interviews, 4. Report and Recommendations. A draft of 
the final report and recommendations were presented to the QA Committee at the June 3, 2021, 
committee meeting. At their August 12, 2021 meeting, the QA Committee accepted the final report for 
Phase 1. The key outcome identified at the end of Phase 1, is that the College needs to increase the 
responsiveness and reflexivity of the current QA Program. To this end, the final report recommends a 
Responsive and Reflexive Quality Assurance Framework (RRQA). The RRQA Framework focuses on 
advancing the QA infrastructure through evidence-based, collaborative and participatory program 
development. 
 
The final report recommends the following as the key components of an RRQA Program: 

1. Online platform for effective administration and support of the QA Program 
2. Establishment of a Base and Specialized QA process 
3. An integrated professional development ecosystem, RRQA places all components of the QA 

Program under the umbrella of professional development 
4. Responsive QA tools 
5. Two-step Peer and Practice Assessment 

a) STEP 1 - a conversational online scenario-based interview 
b) STEP 2 - a reworked RRQA version of the current PPA process. 

 
The report also highlights the need to engage stakeholders in the development of the QA Program.   

 
 

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: QA Program Enhancement Project  

Reported By: Ann Zeng  

Action: Motion 
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A copy of the Executive Summary and a summary of the recommendations are included for review. We 
have also invited the Project consultant, Mr. Igor Gontcharov, to present a summary of the report and 
the framework to Council.  
 
The QA Committee recommends that Council adopt, in general, the Responsive and Reflexive Quality 
Assurance Framework (RRQA) as the CTCMPAO QA Framework. If adopted, the QA Committee and staff 
will develop a detailed framework and implementation plan.  
 
Next Steps 

To consider whether to adopt, in general, the Responsive and Reflexive Quality Assurance 
Framework (RRQA) as the CTCMPAO QA Framework. If adopted, the QA Committee and staff 
will start Phase 2 of Project by developing a detailed framework document and implementation 
plan. 

 
Activity Highlights 

• July 30, 2020 – the Consultant met with College staff for the Project kick-off meeting.  
• August 10, 2020 – Mr. Gontcharov joined the QA Committee for a brief Project update and Q&A.   
• September 16, 2020 – the Summary Report for Quality Assurance (QA) in the Context of 

Regulated Health Professions: Policy Review, Best Practices, and Emerging Trends was received 
and reviewed by the QA Committee. 

• December 21, 2020 – the Program Review Summary Report was received and reviewed by the 
QA Committee.  

• January 15, 2021 – the stakeholder survey was sent to the membership. Over 100 members 
participated in the survey.  

• March 4, 2021 - the Stakeholder Interviews Summary Report and the member survey results 
were received and reviewed by the QA Committee. 

• March 16, 2021 – a draft of the final report was received. 
• June 3, 2021 – Mr. Gontcharov presented the draft final report to the QA Committee.  
• August 12, 2021 – the QA committee accepted the final report for Phase 1. 

 
Encl: Executive Summary and Summary of Recommendations  



QA Enhancement Project – Final Report 

Executive Summary 
This Report offers recommendations to enhance the Quality Assurance (QA) Program of the College of 

Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario. The solutions are based on 

the outcomes of the QA Enhancement Project, Phase 1 – Research, conducted in August 2020 – February 

2021. Phase 1 includes the Conceptual and Jurisdictional Analysis, Program Review, Stakeholder 

Interview, and the QA Program Survey. 

The need to increase the responsiveness and reflexivity of the current QA Program is the key outcome of 

the research phase of the QA Enhancement Project. A Responsive and Reflexive Quality Assurance 

Framework (RRQA) has been developed as a methodology for enhancing the College’s approach to QA. 

The RRQA framework assumes a broader critical perspective at QA to comprehensively assess the 

regulatory space of QA and contributions of multiple policy actors. RRQA is a knowledge mobilization 

strategy that enables regulatory health colleges to optimize the resources and increase the quality and 

effectiveness of the College’s QA Program through continuous evidence-based and participatory 

program development. 

The Regulated Health Professions Act (RHPA), 1991, s.80.1, requires regulatory health colleges to set up 

a QA Program with (a) Professional Development, (b) Self-, Peer-, and Practice Assessment, and (c) 

methods to monitor compliance, as its major components. These requirements define the minimum 

standard for the Quality Assurance Program. The Ontario Regulation 28/13: Quality Assurance Program 

of the Traditional Chinese Medicine Act, 2006, also includes promoting Interprofessional Collaboration 

under (a) Professional Development. Accordingly, the College's QA Program incorporates the minimum 

requirements (as set out in the RHPA), along with the interprofessional collaboration provision as part of 

professional development. 

Regulators face multiple challenges in designing and maintaining a comprehensive and effective QA 

Program. The regulatory space of QA has some points of tension and is characterized by pre-existing 

standards and expectations. Regulated professions are unique with their own distinct backgrounds, 

resources, and priorities. Data on the performance of the QA Program’s components and processes are 

limited, and regulatory solutions are not directly portable. 

The RRQA Framework, offered here for the consideration of the QA Committee and the Council, 

considers QA within a broader context of professional governance, in which the College’s QA Program 

plays an integral part. The focus is made on advancing the QA infrastructure in a close collaboration with 

the public and the profession. RRQA enables the responsiveness and reflexivity of the governance 

nodes, thus increasing the capacity and activating the policy actors’ ability of contributing to QA.  

RRQA is a forward-looking solution that is designed to generate performance data, while encouraging a 

deeper understanding of “public interest” and “self-regulation”, thus supporting a continuous evidence-

based QA Program development that is consistent with the College Performance Measurement 

Framework (CPMF) and right touch regulation. 

RRQA utilizes a new approach to monitoring compliance to address the limitations of the current 

models. In contrast to “administrative” approaches as a primary way of ensuring compliance, RRQA 

emphasizes “soft” approaches, as well as promotes the culture of Quality Assurance and Quality 

Improvement (QI) in the profession. 



QA Enhancement Project – Final Report 

Knowledge mobilization, trust, strong professional, interprofessional and social networks, best practices 

exchange, professional ethics, active research agenda, community engagement, and life-long learning 

are central to supporting a vibrant and responsive professional environment. These elements are key to 

effective social control – an indirect “soft law” approach to monitoring compliance. 

The enhanced QA Program will be implemented in two stages during 2021-2024: 

Stage 1. Implementation (24 months) – major points: 

Engages Stakeholders in QA governance to develop an RRQA-based QA Program. Program development 

is an integral part of the RRQA Program. 

Introduces a new Online Platform for effective administration and support of the QA Program. The 

Online platform features an intuitive remotely accessible database, engaging and personalized PD tools, 

while tracing PD activity and communicating the right information back to members, and generating 

aggregate statistics for the College. 

Establishes Base and Specialized QA processes. The distinction supports a more effective use of 

resources to support day-to-day operations, while promptly identifying and addressing common and 

emerging issues, as well as rapidly responding to changes in practice and regulatory environment.  

Advances an Integrated PD Ecosystem. From being subsidiary to monitoring participation in and 

compliance with the QA Program, Self-Assessment and Peer and Practice Assessment come to the front 

as approaches to Professional Development. Educational tools that focus on the standards of practice 

and best practices exchange are envisioned as central to the Integrated PD Ecosystem. 

Develops Responsive Tools with feedback options on the tool itself and the QA Program to promote 
member engagement and responsibility for the QA Program outcomes, while improving communication 
with members. 

Introduces a Two-Step Peer and Practice Assessment (PPA) process that optimizes the use of resources 
and increases PPA’s effectiveness by providing more attention and support to those practitioners who 
require it most, and by identifying common (standards of practice and business-related) issues that are 
best addressed through Specialized QA Processes. 

The Two-step PPA process consists of 

STEP 1 is a conversational online scenario-based interview to 
(a) assess how practitioners understand and follow the Standards of Practice and the 

QA Program requirements. 
(b) detect common issues (=> addressed through Specialized QA). 
(c) identify practitioners for a deeper PPA at the place of practice (=> STEP 2). 

STEP 2 is a reworked RRQA version of the current PPA process. 

Stage 2. Review and Adjustment (6 months) 

Reviews the performance of the RRQA model and introduces necessary corrections.
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QA Program Enhancement Project (Phase 1) – Summary of Recommendations 
 
The key outcome identified at the end of Phase 1, is that the College needs to increase the 
responsiveness and reflexivity of its QA Program. To this end, the final report recommends a Responsive 
and Reflexive Quality Assurance Framework (RRQA). The RRQA Framework focuses on advancing the QA 
infrastructure through evidence-based, collaborative and participatory program development. The 
terms “responsive” and “reflexive’ are defined on page 3. The proposed RRQA includes the following key 
elements: 

• Knowledge mobilization and exchange - to progressively address knowledge gaps and develop 
effective regulatory solutions; 

• Continuous program review and development - engages stakeholders in designing and testing 
professional development tools and processes; aligned with the principles of right touch 
regulation (see definition on page 3); 

• Transition from paper-based processes to a Digital Office (e.g., Member Portal, electronic QAP 
tools and records (SAT, PD, PPAs) to facilitate staff reviews and monitoring of emerging trends, 
feedback mechanisms, monitoring and analysis of emerging/common issues); 

• Integrated PD ecosystem - Self-Assessment, and Peer and Practice Assessment as approaches to 
Professional Development. 

 

The following provides a summary of the Phase 1 recommendations: 

1. Develop QA Program performance indicators, incorporating CPMF criteria and right touch 
regulation requirements 

2. Develop an online platform for effective administration and support of the QA Program.  

3. Establish Base and Specialized QA Processes 

a. Base QA  

i. Professional development - integrated PD ecosystem; Self-Assessments, and 
Peer and Practice Assessments are approaches to Professional Development. 
Develop learning tools and feedback mechanisms 

• Member portal / PD platform - multi-mode (webpage, newsletter, 
survey, direct communication, social media) Professional Development 
Space. Include online professional development tools and scenario-
based interactive learning tools 

ii. Self-assessment - checkboxes phase-out; develop a new approach to self-
assessments. Enable self-assessment by supporting members’ engagement in 
professional development 

iii. Peer and practice assessment - a Two-Step Peer and Practice Assessment 
process to optimize the use of resources and increase PPA’s effectiveness by 
providing more attention and support to those practitioners who require it 
most, and by identifying common (standards of practice and business-related) 
issues that are best addressed through Specialized QA Processes 
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• STEP 1 - Conversational online scenario-based interview to (a) assess 
how practitioners understand and follow the Standards of Practice and 
the QA Program requirements; (b) detect common issues (=> addressed 
through Specialized QA); (c) identify practitioners for a deeper PPA at 
the place of practice (=> STEP 2) 

• STEP 2 is an RRQA version of the current PPA process 

iv. Compliance monitoring - establish mechanisms to monitor compliance through 
the Member Portal; engage indirect ways of ensuring compliance through social 
means, e.g., broader community audit, visibility of peer-assessment, promotion 
of the culture of QI and QA (see definitions on page 3) 

v. Remediation - develop mechanisms to pre-emptively address common and 
emerging issues through Specialized QA (see below); enhance the current case-
based approach with the launch of the Online Professional Development 
Platform 

b. Specialized QA  

i. Develop Specialized QA processes to promptly address common and emerging 
issues. Specialized QA is a more flexible, situational approach to QA that is 
based on continuous QA and QI research, analysis of the QA Program 
performance data, broader QA governance, inter-program knowledge exchange. 
Specialized QA Processes may include such methods as educational tools, 
special studies, research programs, awards, collaborative projects, and 
interactive learning 

ii. QA Research and Governance Working Group - to establish partnerships with 
policy actors, and coordinate knowledge mobilization initiatives, such as 
interprofessional collaboration. 

4. QA Governance - engage stakeholder groups (e.g., TCM Schools and Associations, the Ontario 
Ministry of Health, Regulatory Health Colleges, Communities of Practice, Members, and 
Patients) in QA and standard-setting; the QA Program as an integral element of the College’s 
regulatory strategy, designed to mobilize knowledge across programs and among stakeholders 
and to advance the College’s agenda in respect to practitioner competence, stakeholder 
engagement, and public confidence. 

 
 
Definitions 
 
The final Phase 1 report provides the following definitions: 
 

• Quality Improvement (QI)*1 emphasizes contextual and experiential frameworks and various 
sets of principles, such as proportionality to the posed risks, consistency, transparency, 
accountability, lifelong learning, interprofessional collaboration, reflexivity, and adaptability. 
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• Responsiveness - the QA Program’s capacity to learn from and with its participants. Stakeholder 

engagement in program evaluation and development is one way to increasing responsiveness.  
 

• Reflexivity - the QA Program's capacity to generate meaningful data on its performance and act 
on the findings. 

 
• Right-touch regulation - the Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care 

proposed six guiding principles of right-touch regulation: it is proportional to the posed risks, 
consistent, targeted on the problem, transparent, accountable, and agile (reflexive and 
adaptable). Right-touch regulation discourages the use of regulation if professionals themselves 
can address the risk more effectively, avoids being overly prescriptive, and encourages 
regulatory measures leading to positive professional changes and the exercise of professional 
judgement (Right-touch regulation, October 2015). 

 
1 In their Technical Specifications for Quantitative College Performance Measurement Framework Measures, the 
Ontario Ministry of Health provides the following definitions for QA and QI 
 
QA activity and assessment: the different types of QA activities and assessments that registrants 
undergo/undertake to improve their practice and/or a College uses to assess the ongoing competence of 
registrant’s practice, including any activity and assessment that assesses (either through self-assessment or College 
assessment) knowledge, skills and judgment or expectations for a registrant's practice and where non-compliance 
may lead to a QA Committee referral (e.g., article review, peer circles, CPD portfolio review/audit, practice site 
visit/inspection, patient chart audit/chart-simulated recall, examination, multi-source feedback/360-degree 
reviews, clinical simulation or objective structured clinical examination, direct observation in practice, etc.). 
 
QI activity and assessment: the different types of quality improvement activities and assessments that use a 
preventative/proactive approach and are more focused on individual practice and self-assessments to identify 
opportunities for self-directed learning and improvement in an individual’s practice. These activities occur outside 
of the legislated QA Program and include activities, such as, for example a Quality Improvement Survey, Practice 
Profile, Self-Guided Chart Review; Data-Driven Quality Improvement; and a Practice Improvement Plan. 
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Issue 
The creation of a telepractice guideline: 

• to help members of the College understand the complexities of telepractice; and
• to help members determine if telepractice is an appropriate approach in their practice.

The guideline will highlight the key standards and regulations that apply to telepractice. 

Public Interest Rationale 
With a changing work and social environment, alternative methods to in-person service have become 
important considerations in providing healthcare. Telepractice is one of the methods that has grown in 
use in recent years. The goal of the telepractice Guideline is to help practitioners understand their 
responsibilities when providing care using telecommunication technologies. This is to ensure that 
practitioners engaged in telepractice comply with all existing practice requirements and provide safe, 
effective, and ethical care to patients. 

Background 

The Quality Assurance Committee has approved a draft Telepractice Guideline for consideration at a 
previous QAC meeting. The draft guideline has been sent to key stakeholders including TCM 
associations, TCM schools, and other TCM regulators in Canada. The College did not receive any 
negative feedback from these organization, with most comments saying it was well done and would 
benefit members.  

The next step if for the Executive Committee to review the draft before it is sent for a public 
consultation.  

Next Step 
Review the guideline and decide if further revisions are necessary. Otherwise approve for public 
consultation. 

After the public consultation, the guideline will be brought back to Council for final approval. 

Encl:  Telepractice Guideline 

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: Telepractice Guideline 

Reported By: Sean Cassman 

Action: Motion 



 

The College would like to thank the members of the Quality Assurance Committee for their ongoing guidance and 
for providing the necessary vision for the development of this guideline 
 

 

DRAFT Telepractice Guideline 
Version 6.0 
May 2021 

1. Introduction 

With a changing work and social environment, alternative methods to in-person service have become 
important considerations in providing healthcare. Telepractice is one of the methods that has grown in 
use in recent years.  
 
In the Spring of 2020, the College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of 
Ontario (CTCMPAO) developed a position statement on telepractice. The College developed the position 
statement as a temporary measure to provide guidance on telepractice as an alternative to in-person 
service during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as technology evolves and is increasingly integrated 
into the provision of healthcare services, it is expected that telepractice will become a more prominent 
model of care. Building on the June 1, 2020 position statement, this guideline is designed to provide a 
more comprehensive overview that will help practitioners understand their responsibilities when 
providing care using telecommunication technologies.   
 
Telepractice (also called virtual practice) can be defined as the use of telecommunications technology to 
deliver healthcare services without direct contact between the practitioner and the patient. While 
technology continues to change, some examples of technology used in telepractice include telephone, 
email and video conferencing.  
 
It is important to note that this guideline cannot address all situations that may arise with the use of 
telepractice. Members engaging in telepractice are expected to stay informed on relevant changes to 
regulations, standards, and policies and to use their knowledge, skill and judgment to ensure they 
comply with the expectations of the College.  
 
For the purposes of this guideline, members of CTCMPAO will be referred to as “practitioners.” 
 

Key points 

• Practitioners engaged in telepractice are accountable for the care they provide to 
their patients. They must use their professional judgement to assess on a case-by-
case basis if the use of telepractice is in the patient's best interest. 

• Practitioners engaged in telepractice must comply with all existing practice 
requirements, including the profession's scope of practice, the standards of 
practice, and any relevant regulations.  

• Practitioners who engage in telepractice must ensure they have the competencies 
(knowledge, skills, and judgment) to provide safe and effective virtual care to their 
patients.  
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2. Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) and Telepractice  

The Traditional Chinese Medicine Act, 2006, defines the scope of traditional Chinese medicine as the 
assessment of body system disorders through traditional Chinese medicine techniques and treatment 
using traditional Chinese medicine therapies to promote, maintain or restore health.  
 
In the context of traditional Chinese medicine, the primary benefit of telepractice is ensuring the 
continuity of care and accessibility. Providing virtual care can improve accessibility when, for example, 
physical contact is discouraged due to a health pandemic, there is a shortage of practitioners in a 
geographical region, or when patients have transportation or mobility issues. However, it should be 
noted, telepractice has its limitations. For example, TCM practitioners and acupuncturists rely on several 
diagnostic methods to conduct patient assessments. This includes physically assessing patients by 
palpitation or pulse examination. In the case of telepractice, these physical assessment methods are not 
feasible. In addition, telepractice limits the number of modalities used in traditional Chinese medicine; 
these include, for example, acupuncture, cupping, gua sha, and Tuina. 
  
Taking into consideration both the limitations and benefits of telepractice, practitioners must use their 
professional judgement to determine on a case-by-case basis:  

• If telepractice is appropriate and in the best interest of the patient? 

• If the virtual examination is sufficient to formulate a TCM diagnosis and treatment plan? Or if 
other diagnostic methods are more appropriate for the particular patient? 

• If treatments available through telepractice are the best options for the patient's condition? 

 
Practitioners must also consider if they have the skills and competencies required to treat patients 
remotely. For example, do they have the communication skills to obtain the necessary information 
through questioning? Further, do they have the necessary technological equipment to effectively 
provide TCM care via telepractice? 
 
If a practitioner determines that virtual care is appropriate for a particular patient, they will need to 
ensure that there is a plan in place to deal with unforeseen and adverse events such as medical 
emergencies or technological/connection problems.  
  
The following list includes examples of TCM services that may be provided via telepractice: 

• Initial assessment and monitoring - in addition to a review of the patient’s medical history, diet, 
lifestyle and habits a practitioner, may use the TCM diagnostic technique of inquiry to collect 
information to determine a diagnosis. 

• Home-based modalities – for example, in some cases, it may be appropriate to guide the patient 
to perform acupressure or practice therapeutic exercises such as Taiji or Qi Gong. 

• Herbal medicine – if the practitioner believes enough information has been collected to 
determine a diagnosis, a herbal prescription can be prescribed to proceed with an herbal 
treatment of the patient.   

• Dietary therapy and lifestyle advice – similarly, when appropriate, practitioners may provide 
dietary and lifestyle advice remotely. 
 
 
 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/06t27
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NOTE: Telepractice is not acceptable in the following two scenarios: 

• Clinical Experience Requirement - Applicants for registration are 
required to complete a program of clinical experience in the profession, 
which involves specified hours of direct patient contact. It is the 
College's position that all supervised clinical training must be provided in 
person. The clinical experience requirement cannot be satisfied through 
telepractice.  

• Supervised Practice Requirements - Some members of the College may 
be required to practice under supervision. It is the College's position 
that the supervisor and the practitioner being supervised are, at all 
times, physically present at the treatment location. The supervised 
practice requirement cannot be satisfied through telepractice.   

 

3. Jurisdictional Considerations and Registration Requirements 

The jurisdiction for the traditional Chinese medicine practice is dependant on a variety of factors, 
including the location of the patient and the practitioner. A practitioner must be registered with 
CTCMPAO to preform any of the controlled acts 1authorized to the profession or use the protected titles 
in Ontario. Although acupuncture cannot be provided via telepractice, communicating a TCM diagnosis 
can occur. Therefore, a practitioner must be registered in Ontario to communicate a TCM diagnosis to a 
patient in Ontario. For example, if a practitioner based in British Columbia were to communicate a TCM 
diagnosis to a patient in Ontario, they would have to be registered with CTCMPAO.  
 
CTCMPAO members treating patients residing outside of Ontario must comply with the 
registration/licensing requirements in Ontario and the jurisdiction where the telepractice service will be 
provided. For example, if a CTCMPAO member were to provide remote care to a patient in British 
Columbia, the practitioner would be expected to abide by the regulations and standards in Ontario and 
British Columbia. Practitioners should also check with their professional liability insurance provider to 
ensure that they have proper coverage for providing care to patients located outside of Ontario. 
 

4. Privacy and Confidentiality  

Practitioners must maintain the privacy of all patient personal health information as required by 
the Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004 (PHIPA) and the Personal Information Protection 
and Electronic Documents Act (PIPEDA). These requirements apply to both in-person and virtual care. 
Under PHIPA, practitioners are expected to take steps to ensure that personal health information is 
protected against theft, loss and unauthorized use or disclosure. Practitioners must also follow the law 

 
1 CTCMPAO Members are authorized to perform two controlled acts: 
 

1. Communicating a traditional Chinese medicine diagnosis identifying a body system disorder as the cause 
of a person’s symptoms using traditional Chinese medicine techniques. 

2. Performing a procedure on tissue below the dermis and below the surface of a mucous membrane for the 
purpose of performing acupuncture. 

https://r.xdref.com/?id=097J0L5m046350&from=registrars-bounce@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca&to=ann.zeng@ctcmpao.on.ca&url=https://www.priv.gc.ca/en/privacy-topics/privacy-laws-in-canada/the-personal-information-protection-and-electronic-documents-act-pipeda/pipeda_brief/
https://r.xdref.com/?id=097J0L5m046350&from=registrars-bounce@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca&to=ann.zeng@ctcmpao.on.ca&url=https://www.priv.gc.ca/en/privacy-topics/privacy-laws-in-canada/the-personal-information-protection-and-electronic-documents-act-pipeda/pipeda_brief/
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for collecting, using, and sharing personal health information. PHIPA sets out when a member must ask 
for consent to collect, use, and disclose personal health information. 
 
Practitioners are ultimately responsible for ensuring virtual care is provided in a manner that protects 
patients' confidentiality and the privacy of their personal health information. To this end, practitioners 
must ensure that the technology and devices they use (e.g., laptops or phones) do not allow for 
accidental access of patient information to unauthorized parties. Practitioners should also evaluate if 
the patient's physical setting and their own setting provide a safe, secure and confidential environment. 
Phone calls and videoconferencing sessions should not be recorded unless the practitioner has the 
patient’s consent and can ensure the recording is stored properly. 
 

Note: Telepractice visits should only be conducted in a private space so that the privacy and 
confidentiality of the patient’s personal health information are not compromised. Practitioners 
should take measures to ensure that an unintended third party cannot overhear their 
conversations with patients at either end of the conservation. 

 
It is crucial that patients understand the risks of receiving treatment by telepractice and provide consent 
before proceeding. For more information, see the Consent to Treatment section below. 

The Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario developed a fact sheet for Privacy and Security 
Considerations for Health Care Visits. Although, the fact sheet applies primarily to public sector and 
government organizations, many of the recommendations included in the document also apply to 
practitioners as health information custodians. Practitioners providing virtual care are strongly 
encouraged to review the guide.  

 
NOTE: When providing clinical advice or treatment information by email, practitioners should 
consider whether it's appropriate for the patient to receive this information electronically. Using 
encryption and password protection, a secure internet connection, and limiting how much personal 
health information is sent, may help to improve the safety and security of transmitting patient 
health information. For more information, see the Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario 
(IPC) Fact Sheet: Communicating Personal Health Information by Email.  

 
At the start of the virtual visit, practitioners should verify the patient's identity. The practitioner's 
identity, location, and CTCMPAO registration status should also be confirmed. If anyone else is 
present with the practitioner, it is important to ensure that they are introduced and that the patient 
consents to them being present during the visit. Practitioners should also check if anyone is 
accompanying the patient and, if so, confirm the patient's consent. 

 

5. Technology 

The College cannot recommend a specific technology provider; practitioners are expected to choose the 
communication technologies that are most appropriate for their practice.  
 
Practitioners engaged in telepractice must understand the capabilities and limitations of the technology 
they choose such as security, data storage and technical trouble shooting. Any technology that is used to 

https://www.ipc.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Health-Fact-Sheet-Communicating-PHI-by-Email-FINAL.pdf
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provide virtual care must meet the Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004 (PHIPA) 
requirements.  PHIPA sets out the rules about the collection, use and disclosure of personal health 
information. These rules apply to all health information custodians in Ontario and to all individuals and 
organizations that receive personal health information from health information custodians. Under 
PHIPA, heath information custodians must implement technical, physical and administrative safeguards 
to protect personal health information. The Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario (IPC) 
provides examples of different measures to safeguard privacy, for example: 

• Administrative Safeguards: privacy and security policies and procedures, staff training and 
confidentiality agreements, using professional (not personal) email accounts 

• Technical Safeguards: strong authentication and access controls, strong passwords and 
encryption, maintaining up-to-date software, firewalls and anti-malware scanners 

• Physical Safeguards: controlled access to locations where personal information is stored, 
Keeping portable devices in secure location 

 
For more information, please see the Guide to the Personal Health Information Protection Act.   
 
Practitioners must ensure that they have the skills and training in the use of the telecommunication 
technology and that they have access to appropriate technical support. Practitioners should also 
consider the patient’s needs, reliability and security of their devices (e.g., home computer, laptop, 
tablet, or cellphone), internet access, and access to technical support.  
 

Note: At the outset of a telepractice visit/session, practitioners should arrange for alternate 
means of contact in case of technical difficulties/connection loss. 

  

6. Consent to Treatment 

The requirement for practitioners to obtain patients' consent for treatment is the same for telepractice 
and in-person patient care. However, in addition to receiving informed consent to provide treatment, 
practitioners should also obtain informed consent from patients to conduct an appointment via 
telepractice.  In order to obtain informed consent before providing treatment through telepractice, 
practitioners must inform the patient about the risks, scope and limitations of telepractice. Practitioners 
must also have the patient’s consent to collect, use and disclose personal health information using 
telecommunication technologies.  

 
Note: Before providing a telepractice treatment, practitioners should ensure that the patient is 
aware of the risks associated with providing services in ways other than in-person 
interactions.  

Once the telepractice session begins, practitioners must obtain the patient’s informed consent before 
treatment. Consent is an ongoing process; practitioners should re-confirm consent at each visit/session 
and ensure that patients understand their right to withdraw consent. Practitioners must document 
consent in the patient's file. 

For more information, please see the Standard for Consent and the Health Care Consent Act, 1996. 

https://www.ipc.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/Resources/hguide-e.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Standard-for-Consent-2020.pdf
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7. Record Keeping 

Practitioners engaged in telepractice are required to maintain patient records in accordance with the 
College's Standard for Record Keeping. Practitioners must maintain comprehensive clinical records and 
document all patient encounters that take place through telepractice. If applicable, patient records 
should clearly indicate that a service was provided remotely. 
 
For more detailed information, please see the Standard for Record Keeping and Record Keeping 
Guideline. 
 

8. Fees and Billing 

Practitioners are already required to advise patients of fees prior to providing treatment. Practitioners 
are also expected to advise their patients (upfront) of any additional fees associated with telepractice. 
The fee information must be clear and should not be misleading or hard to understand.  
  
Invoices should be an accurate representation of the service provided to the patient. If applicable, an 
invoice should indicate that a service was provided remotely. Practitioners should advise their patients 
to check that insurance providers cover services provided by telepractice. 
 
For more information, please see the Standard for Advertising and the Advertising Guideline. 
 

9. Maintaining Professional Boundaries 

Practitioners must establish and maintain professional boundaries with their patients and be aware of 
the potential for boundary violations.  
  
Telepractice may provide opportunities for more informal types of interaction, which may lead to 
potential boundary crossings. For example, suppose a practitioner allows for text messaging with 
patients. In that case, they should carefully consider their expectations of how and when they will use 
and respond to text messages from their patients. Members will also want to remember and consider 
how these text messages are incorporated into the patient record. 
 
Practitioners should also pay attention to the environment where telepractice will occur and avoid any 
personal items that may increase the risk for boundary crossings or violations. 
 
For more information, please refer to the Standard for Maintaining Professional Boundaries.  

10. Professional Liability Insurance 

Practitioners are required to maintain Professional Liability Insurance coverage as specified in the 
College By-Laws. When engaged in telepractice, practitioners must ensure that their PLI policies offer 
adequate coverage for that type of service delivery. For more information, please see the Professional 
Liability Insurance Policy.  

https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Standard-for-Record-Keeping-2019.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Record_Keeping_Guideline_v003_2017-06-14.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Record_Keeping_Guideline_v003_2017-06-14.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Standard-for-Advertising-2019.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Standard-for-Maintaining-Professional-Boundaries-2019.pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Policy_Reg_03-ProfLiability(November-09-2015).pdf
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/forms-and-documents/Policy_Reg_03-ProfLiability(November-09-2015).pdf
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EXECUTIVE 

Issue 
An update regarding public appointments to Council. 

Background 
The TCM Act, 2006 sets out that the Council shall be composed of at least five and no more than eight 
persons appointed by the Lieutenant Governor. Council has been unconstituted for over a year with a 
total of three Public members currently sitting on Council. Out of the three Public members, only two 
are actively attending Committee meetings.  

At the June 22, 2021 open meeting of the Executive Committee, Council had requested staff to reach 
out to the Public Appointments Secretariat (PAS) to inquire whether they would be available to attend 
the College’s next scheduled Council / open meeting. The purpose was to have the PAS speak with 
Council and address questions and concerns regarding public appointments to Council. Staff extended 
an invitation to the PAS however they responded that they do not have updates to provide at this time. 

The College has also advised both the PAS and the Ministry regarding the current public members whose 
terms will be expiring within the coming year, and challenges with panel composition for the Discipline 
Committee due to the insufficient number of public members. The PAS’s response has remained the 
same. Staff will continue to regularly follow up with the PAS.  

Through the recommendation of several other colleges, the College contacted Counsel Public Affairs Inc. 
(Counsel), a government and public relations firm to address the urgent need to acquire public 
appointments. Counsel specializes in government relations, strategic communications, and integrated 
campaigns, and has experience advocating for regulated professions and regulatory colleges in Ontario.  

Counsel submitted a proposal to the College for review. At the August 19, 2021 Executive Committee 
meeting, Caroline Pinto, Managing Principal and Devan Sommerville, Associate VP at Counsel presented 
to the Executive Committee about the process. After discussion, the Executive Committee decided to 
bring the proposal to the open meeting to obtain feedback from the rest of Council.  

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: Government Relations Consultant 

Reported By: Ann Zeng 

Action: Discussion, Motion 



EXECUTIVE 

Next Steps
The Executive Committee with the support of Council to decide whether to proceed with Counsel Public 
Affairs Inc. to act for the College in acquiring public appointments and other potential government 
relations matters. 



  EXECUTIVE 
 

 
Issue 
The College is providing an update on the 2021 election of Council members for District 3.  
 
Background 
On July 14, 2021, the College sent out the nomination package for the 2021 election of Council members 
for District 3. Two nomination packages were received for the three available seats on Council. As a 
result, Justin Wei-Kit Lee and Ryan Tze-Wai Longenecker have been acclaimed to Council.  
 
As Council remains unconstituted, the newly acclaimed members will begin their term at the next 
regular Council meeting. Until then, the three Council members who currently hold their seats will 
continue their term. Their contribution and continued support are greatly appreciated.  
 

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: Election Update 

Reported By: Ann Zeng 

Action: Information 



EXECUTIVE 

Issue 
A discussion on next steps for the Doctor Title Project. 

Background 
Since the completion of phase 1 of the Doctor Title Project, phase 2 has been put on hold due to the 
Pandemic and the need for Council to appoint new members to the Dr. Title Working Group. Since 
Council is unconstituted, the Executive Committee is able to make decisions on behalf of the Council; 
however, these decisions need to be confirmed by the Council once it has the necessary number of 
public members. Because of this, it was recommended that only urgent matters be decided on by the 
Executive Committee.  

Staff is bringing this item back for discussion on whether or not the appointment/reappointment of Dr. 
Title Working Group members is an urgent matter that should be decided on despite the Council being 
unconstituted.   

At the last Registration Committee meeting, it was suggested that since the Dr. Title Project is related to 
the registration process, the Registration Committee could resume the work of the Doctor Title Project 
instead of appointing new members to the Dr. Title Working Group. The Registration Committee 
currently consists of 4 professional members and only 2 public members (1 of which does not actively 
participate in committee work). As public opinion is an important factor in the project, this is something 
the Executive Committee may want to take into consideration. 

Next Steps 
The Executive Committee to discuss the following options: 

a) To continue putting the Doctor Title Project on hold until Council is constituted to appoint new
Dr. Title Working Group members

b) The College to put out a call for interest to seek members for the Dr. Title Working Group.
c) To have the work of the Dr. Title Working Group be resumed by the Registration Committee

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Subject: Dr. Title Working Group 

Reported By: Ann Zeng 

Action: Discussion, Direction 



EXECUTIVE

Issue 
The College is updating Council on the current risk management plan, which includes a complete look at 
the risks facing the College. 

Public Interest Rationale 
The College must be able to carry out its responsibilities set out in legislation. In order to avoid 
situations where we are prevented from doing that, a risk management plan is necessary to predict and 
mitigate risks. 

Background 
The College provides Council with the risk management plan at each quarterly meeting, and staff will 
update members if there are any changes. For the September 22, 2021 meeting, staff have not 
identified any major changes to the risks facing the College, but have moved some additional treatments 
to current and added some proposed treatments based on the trends, best practices and the CPMF 
requirements. 

Encl: Risk Management Plan 

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: Risk Management Plan 

Reported By: Ann Zeng, Sean Cassman 

Action: Information 
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College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario (CTCMPAO) Risk Management Plan 

 

Risk Management Vision 
CTCMPAO is committed to building and fostering an enterprise risk management culture that clearly faces reality through systematic process of risk identification, assessment, and management 
and will affect this through its strategic planning process.   CTCMPAO’s value of serving and protecting the public interest, providing quality service, accountability and transparency, teamwork and 
collaboration are the foundation of the organizational risk culture and will guide our actions.   

Stakeholder Roles and Responsibilities 
Role Risk Management Responsibility Assignment 

Council Responsible for approving Risk Tolerance Evaluation, reviewing Risk Management Plan and periodically reassessing success 
of Risk Management strategies. 

Council Members 

President Responsible for leading Executive Committee and Council in reviewing the Risk Management Plan, implementing certain 
procedures needed in specified emergency situations, ensuring action is taken as necessary to protect the separation of 
Council from operations. 

Richard Dong 

Registrar and CEO Responsible for ensuring comprehensive risk assessment within the organization, development and implementation of 
mitigation strategies, and ongoing evaluation of effectiveness of risk management by the organization. 

Ann Zeng 

Director, IT, Finance 
and Corporate 
Services 

Responsible for identifying risk factors relating to financial management policies and procedures, adhering to sound financial risk 
management and mitigation policies and strategies.  Champions organization-wide effort to protect the vital assets of the College and 
engage key stakeholders in risk management activities. 

Francesco Ortale 

Program Managers Responsible for complying with obligations outlined in the Health Professional Procedural Code respecting procedure, 
timelines, transparency, objectivity and fairness. 

Ryan Chu, Ania Walsh 
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Risk Management Process and Activities 
 
The CTCMPAO regularly undertakes risk management activities to protect the interests of the public, its members and the Government of Ontario to which it is accountable.  Risk management 
involves complex processes of risk assessment, development and implementation of mitigation strategies and evaluation of effectiveness, change and opportunity.   Effective risk management 
requires the active engagement of everyone actively engaged in the organization and may include consultation with external experts such as auditors.  The College adheres to a Risk Management 
Policy which requires regular review, evaluation and reporting to Council. 
 
Risk Analysis Matrix 
 
College staff engage in a collective and joint process to identify types of risks that are likely to affect the achievement of business goals.  For each risk, staff consider what could happen, how and 
why it could happen, and the consequences of said risk.  
 
Staff systematically review the following to identify potential risks and to categorize potential risks using a risk occurrence matrix:  
 

• each function performed within the College,   

• records and reports generated or retained by the College.  

• business processes, policies and procedures. 

• resources of the College including knowledge of history, processes and legislative, operational and policy environment, staff, furnishings and equipment. 

 
Types of Risk Identified: 
 

1. Governance    
 

2. Loss Confidence in CTCMPAO   
 

3. Finance      
 

4. Information Management                         
 

5. Facility/Site Safety and Security            
 

6. Human Resources    
                            

7. Statutory Obligations 
 

8. Exam 
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Risk Occurrence Matrix 
 

 
Likelihood 

(probability of occurring) 
 
Consequence/ 
Impact 

Rare 
 
The event may 
occur in exceptional 
circumstances. 
 

(0 – 5 %) 

Unlikely 
 
The event has happened 
at some time. 
 
 

(6-33%) 

Possible 
 
The event has 
happened periodically 
 
 

(34-65%) 

Likely 
 
The event has happened 
previously and could 
reasonably occur again. 
 

(66-79%) 

Almost Certain 
 
The event is extremely likely 
to occur 
 
 

(80-100%) 

 Level 1 2 3 4 5 
Negligible 
 
Low financial/reputation loss, 
small impact on operations 

1 1 2 3 4 5 

Minor 
 
Some financial loss, moderate 
impact on business 

2 2 4 6 8 10 

Moderate  
 
Moderate financial loss, moderate 
loss of reputation, moderate 
business interruption 

3 3 6 9 12 15 

Major 
 
Major financial loss, several 
stakeholders raised concerns, 
major loss of reputation, major 
business interruption 

4 4 8 12 16 20 

Extreme 
 
Complete cessation of business, 
extreme financial loss, irreparable 
loss of reputation 

5 5 10 15 20 25 

 
Risk Rating Risk Priority Description 

1-3 L Low Risk: May require consideration in any future changes to the work area or processes, or can be fixed immediately 
3-6 M Medium Risk: May require corrective action, planning and budgeting process 
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8-12 H High Risk: Requires immediate corrective action 
15-25 E Extreme Risk: Requires immediate prohibition of the work, process and immediate corrective action 

 
  
Risk Assessment  
 
This step involved analysing the likelihood and consequences of each identified risk using the measures provided in the table above.  The staff looked at the existing controls for each risk and 
identified what we would do to control the risk. Then, using the chart, they rated the effectiveness of existing controls in preventing the risk from happening or minimising its impact should it occur.  
 

• Likelihood is a qualitative description of probability and frequency, asking the question ‘what is the likelihood of the risk occurring?’ 

• Consequence was described as the outcome of the event, being a financial loss, loss of reputation, or business interruption, asking the question, ‘what is the consequence of the risk 

event?’ 

• The risk rating was the sum of the consequence rating times the likelihood rating. 

• The risk priority chart provides an indication of urgency to how soon the staff needed to implement a strategy to address the risk.  
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CTCMPAO Risk Registry – 2019 - 2021 
 

Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Governance Not reaching quorum to 

constitute a Committee resulting 
in or Council becomes 
unconstituted: 
 

• Public perception of not 
meeting College 
mandate of public 
protection 

• Delays in decision-
making affecting 
applicants (i.e. 
registration) or 
members 
(QA/ICRC/Discipline) 

5 
Almost Certain 

4 
Major 

20 
 

Extreme 

Council, 
President, 
Registrar 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Staff try to accommodate Council/committees members’ 
schedules to ensure quorum in all meetings. 

• Continued ongoing communications with Public Appointments 
Secretariat 

• The Registrar has acted on legal advice for procedures to 
ensure the College functions properly while the Council is 
unconstituted.  

o Committees continue to function as per section 12.09 of 
College by-laws. Committees remain constituted as 
long as there is quorum. 

 
 
Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Outreach to TCM associations and schools to reach prospective 
members to ensure understanding of the College’s role and why 
regulation matters. 

• Create and advertise opportunities for engagement with the 
College. 

• Allow non-council members to sit on statutory committees. 
Governance Council/Committees operating 

outside of mandate or becoming 
engaged with operational 
matters resulting in: 
 

• Poor or inconsistent 
decisions 

3 
Possible 

4 
Major 

12 
High 

President, 
Council, 
Registrar 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Council and Committee orientation to occur annually. 
• Prepare Terms of References for all statutory/non-statutory 

committees 
• Conduct a governance review with a third party consultant to 

examine governance practices. 
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Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 

• Increased likelihood of 
conflict 

• Inefficiencies in 
operations 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Prepare a College governance manual outlining major 
responsibilities and separation of roles between Council and 
operations. 

Governance Council/Committee not adhering 
to Code of Conduct, Conflict of 
interest, bylaws and other 
Council policies resulting in: 
 

• Inefficiencies  
• Poor decision 
• Negative reporting by 

stakeholders 
• Decreased morale on 

Council/Committees 

4 
Likely 

4 
Major 

 

16 
Extreme 

President, 
Registrar, 
Council  

Current Treatment: 
 

• Each Council/Committee are properly trained and prepared for 
their service. 

• Legal Counsel delivers the orientation at the Council/Committee 
levels.  

• Evaluate Council effectiveness on its performance through a 
council effectiveness survey after each meeting. 

• Have each Council/Committee member annually complete and 
signs a statement declaring any known conflicts and agreeing to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 
Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Conduct regular Council/Committee training. 
• Competency requirements for prospective Council/Committee 

members 

Loss of Confidence 
in CTCMPAO 

Applicant/member 
disengagement resulting in: 
 

• Lack of interest for 
election to Council 

3 
Possible 

4 
Major 

12 
High 

Council, 
Registrar, 

 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Create and advertise opportunities for engagement with 
College. 
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Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 

• Lack of membership on 
Committees/working 
groups 

• Reduction in overall 
registration numbers 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Continuous outreach to key stakeholders to ensure they are 
able to keep their members informed and engaged. 

• Regular outreach meetings and educational sessions through 
professional associations, TCM schools, and other events as 
presented. 

• Develop “stories” for publication, describing benefits of 
engagement. 

• Incorporate simple plain language in all college documents. 
Loss of Confidence 

in CTCMPAO 
Public, government, 
stakeholders perceive the 
College as not being 
transparent and/or fair 

3 
Possible 

3 
Moderate 

9 
High 

President, 
Council, 
Registrar 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Implementation of bylaws related to transparency i.e. posting 
additional information on public register. 

• Conduct annual review of bylaws.  
• Continuous outreach to TCM schools to reach prospective 

members to ensure understanding of the College’s role and why 
regulation matters. 
 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Adoption of ARGE transparency principles. 
• Update and post all statutory policies on website. 
• Collaborate with other regulatory colleges on strategies to 

promote transparency. 
Loss of Confidence 

in CTCMPAO 
Poor customer service/public 
relations 

3 
Possible 

2 
Minor 

6 
Medium 

Registrar, 
Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services, 
Program Managers 

Current Treatment: 
 

• One point of contact.  An enquirer is provided with the name by 
respondent and that person commits to and takes necessary 
action. 
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Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Research and develop internal organizational customer service 
standards and policies (i.e. client services policy part of AODA 
requirement. 

• Statutory teams to prepare FAQs for each department. 
• Invite feedback through customer service surveys. 
• Review of website material to ensure accessible and easy to 

understand. 

Financial Insufficient financial resources 
impact the ability of the College 
to meets its mandate. This will 
result in: 
 
 

• Lack of retained funds 
to carry out  

• Low membership in 
College 

• Uneven cash flow 

3 
Possible 

4 
Major 

12 
High 

Registrar, 
Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Prepare operating budgets using 5-year projections and 
outlook. 

• Strategies in place for cost savings.  
• Develop reserve funds to cover unexpected expenses 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Prepare multiple scenarios for forecasting and develop plans 
that are flexible. 

• Calendarize revenue to predict cash flow. 
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Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Financial Poor financial management 

results in the College being 
unable to meet strategic 
initiatives 

2 
Unlikely 

4 
Major 

 

8 
High 

Registrar, 
Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Budget is prepared annually and approved by Council.  
• Use of 5-year time horizon for financial planning. 
• Prepare multiple scenarios for forecasting and develop plans 

that are flexible. 
• Prepared a formal Reserve Fund Policy outlining specific 

purpose of each internally restricted fund to ensure funds are 
used for its intended purpose 

• Calendarize revenue to predict cash flow. 
 

Finance Risk of Fraud/Theft 2 
Unlikely 

3 
Moderate 

6 
Medium 

Registrar, 
Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Financial audit completed annually by chartered accountants. 
• Finance coordinator reviews and verifies invoices prior to 

submitting Registrar for approval. 
• Bank cheques require documentation and two signatures 
• Bank statements are reviewed and reconciled monthly. 
• Financial update provided at each Council meeting. 

Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Prepare formal financial policies to document financial 
procedures as part of the College’s financial policies. 

• Establish a procurement policy through a process that is open, 
fair and transparent.  
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Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Information 

Management 
Information and computer 
systems are compromised due 
to: 
 

• Viruses, worms and 
malicious software 

• Security breach/hacking 
• Loss of power 

3 
Possible 

4 
Major 

12 
High 

Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Backup procedures carried out daily on electronic files. 
• Processes such as encryption, access control procedures, and 

network firewalls in place. 
• Adequate cyber security insurance in place. 

 
Proposed Additional Treatment: 
 

• Prepare a disaster recovery plan. 
• Solicit services of an external vendor to conduct an IT audit, 

vulnerability assessment and security penetration assessment. 
 

Information 
Management 

Improper handling of data by 
staff or vendors leads to 
exposure of sensitive data 

3 
Possible 

3 
Moderate 

9 
High 

Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• College ensures that personal information is stored in electronic 
and physical files that are secure.  Physical files are under lock 
and key. 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Add additional security measures to safeguard information 
which include restricting access to personal information to 
authorized personnel. 

Information 
Management 

Breach of confidentiality: 
 

• Member/applicant 
personal information 

• Public information 

3 
Possible 

3 
Moderate 

9 
High 

All Current Treatment: 
 

• Applicant/registrant information housed on secure external 
server (CRM). 

• Use secure login protocols, data encryption, and passwords. 
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Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 

• Vendor information 
• Council member 

information 
 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Develop protocols for reporting, investigating and correcting 
security breaches to ensure PHIPA compliance. 

• Require signed commitment to adhere to College confidentiality 
requirements by Council and College staff. 

• Facilitate regular orientation and training on privacy and 
confidentiality for Council and College staff. 

 
Information 

Management 
Unintended destruction or loss 
of records results in: 
 

• Inaccurate info posted 
on public register 

• Duplication of records 
• Inaccurate information 

provided to 
Council/committees  

2 
Unlikely  

3 
Moderate 

 

6 
High 

Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Staff adopt filing protocols for naming, deletion of copies, 
electronic and paper storage. 

• Backup procedures carried out daily on electronic files. 
• File room/cabinets are secured and locked daily. 

Proposed Additional Treatment: 
 

• Increase security in the College server room. 

Facility/Site Safety 
and Security 

Permanent damage to 
equipment and/or furnishings 
due to water/fire damage. 

2 
Unlikely 

2 
Minor 

4 
Medium 

Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Office building is code compliant for building and fire standards. 
• Adequate insurance in place to recover replacement. 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Ongoing annual fire training for all staff, Council and Committee 
members. 
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 September 2021 

Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Facility/Site Safety 

and Security 
Computers, servers and other 
items of value belonging to the 
College are stolen 

2 
Unlikely 

1 
Negligible 

2 
Low 

Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Security cameras installed at each exit, common hallways and 
meeting rooms. 

• College maintains a complete inventory of its electronic 
equipment, computers and technology systems. 

• Adequate insurance in place to recover replacement of loss 
goods. 

Human Resources Disruption in work due to 
unexpected and/or extended 
absence of an employee, or 
employee permanently leave 
organization resulting in: 
 

• Backlog of work 
• Inability to meet 

required timelines 
• Major interruption in 

work 

2 
Unlikely 

3 
Moderate 

6 
Medium 

Registrar, 
 

Director, IT, 
Finance and 

Corporate Services, 
Program Managers 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Job descriptions have been created for all positions. 
• Regular staff meetings are held to update all staff on work in 

progress. 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Prepare succession plan for the Registrar position. 
• All college departments to document procedures for all key 

functions. 
 

Human Resources Interpersonal conflicts result in: 
 

• Complaints of 
harassment 

• Decrease productivity 
• Poisoned work 

environment 
• Staff discontent and 

poor morale 
• High turnover rate in 

staff 

2 
Unlikely 

1 
Negligible 

2 
Low 

Registrar Current Treatment: 
 

• HR policies in place. 
• Staff receive legislated training on violence in the workplace. 

and this is documented.  
• Team-building events held involving all staff. 
• Registrar addresses all issues of conflict promptly. 
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 September 2021 

Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Statutory Obligations 
(Patient Relations) 

College is not doing everything 
possible to keep client/patients 
safe from sexual abuse.  

3 
Possible 

4 
Major 

12 
High 

Registrar, 
Program Manager, 

Policy and 
Governance 

Analyst  
 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Therapy and counselling forms have been updated to be 
compliant with legislation. 

• New Standards for Maintaining Professional Boundaries and 
Preventing Sexual Abuse. 

 
Additional Proposed Treatment: 

• Develop a comprehensive and effective Sexual Abuse Plan. 
• Adopt a number of policies and measures that underpin a zero-

tolerance approach to sexual abuse. 
• Provide resources to the membership and public to be aware of 

the measures the College has in place to prevent and deal with 
sexual abuse;  

Statutory Obligations 
(Registration) 

Majority of TCM education 
programs are unregulated 
eroding public confidence 

4 
Likely 

4 
Major 

16 
Extreme 

Registrar, 
Program Managers 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Registration regulations outline entry requirements. 
• College is working with provincial regulators to develop 

approval framework. 
 
Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Encourage the Ministry to accredit TCM education programs. 
 

Statutory Obligations 
(Registration) 

Ensuring the College’s 
registration process is fair, open 
and transparent. 

3 
Possible 

2 
Minor 

6 
Medium 

Registrar 
Program Managers 

Current Treatment: 
 

• College underwent an audit of its registration practices from the 
Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC). 

• Recommendations from the OFC have been implemented  
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 September 2021 

Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Statutory Obligations 

(QA) 
Quality Assurance Program is 
not an effective tool for ensuring 
the continuing competency  

4 
Likely 

3 
Moderate 

12 
High 

Program Manager, 
 

Policy and 
Governance 
Analyst  

Current Treatment: 
 

• Only small percentage of members randomly selected to submit 
paper-based self-assessment form. 

• Current Peer and Practice Assessment are only done for 
members ordered by an ICRC/Discipline program.  

• QA policies developed to support current QA program.   
Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Develop standards of practice that outline practice expectations 
of members 

• Develop a new QA program that supports member engagement  

Statutory Obligations 
(ICRC) 

Lack of tools for members who 
must complete additional 
education or remediation 

4 
Likely 

3 
Moderate 

12 
High 

Registrar, 
Program Managers 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Record-keeping guideline developed and webinar developed. 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Develop working group to establish TCM specific standards of 
various modalities i.e. Acupuncture 

Statutory Obligations 
(ICRC) 

Complaints received are not 
resolved in a timely manner.  
Backlog of Registrar’s reports. 

2 
Unlikely 

3 
Moderate 

6 
Medium 

Registrar, 
Program Managers 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Fast track complaints that are high risk to public safety (i.e. 
sexual abuse) using a risk chart. 

Statutory Obligations 
(ICRC/Discipline) 

Ensuring fairness to member 
who receives a complaint or is 
going through discipline. 

3 
Possible 

2 
Minor 

6 
Medium 

Registrar, 
Program Managers 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Post more information on the website for members related to: 
o Sexual abuse complaints and investigation process 
o Mandatory reporting of sexual abuse 
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 September 2021 

Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Statutory Obligations 

(CPMF) 
The College must be able to 
demonstrate to the Ministry that 
it is meeting its statutory 
obligations in a clear and 
transparent way. 

3 
Possible 

3 
Moderate 

9 
High 

 
 

All Current Treatment: 
• Staff have conducted a full review of the College based on 

CPMF requirements and to identify where we are deficient. 
• Some deficiencies have been identified. Steps have been taken 

to either address the deficiency in the previous reporting period, 
or to address it in future reporting periods. 

 
Exam Exam security is breached 3 

Possible 
4 

Major 
12 

High 
Registrar 

Program Managers 
 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Examination and Item-Writing Committee sign confidentiality 
agreement and are provided with training from ASI. 

• Computer-based examination developed with provincial 
regulators 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Strict protocols should be in place for handling examination 
materials. 

• Any report of a breach of agreement will be referred to 
registration/ICRC for immediate action. 

• No hard copies or electronic copies of the examination or items 
are retained by the College or any other person involved in the 
development of the exam. 

 
Exam Validity of the administration of 

the exam sitting is challenged 
due to: 
 

• Hydro failure 
• Illness 
• Medical Emergency 

2 
Unlikely 

2 
Minor 

4 
Medium 

Registrar, 
Program Manager 

 

Current Treatment: 
 

• Research sites to ensure stability of sites. 
• Procedures in place for invigilators to deal with emergencies. 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Educate exam candidates on withdrawing prior to exam  
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 September 2021 

Risk Type Risk and Description Risk Likelihood Risk Impact Risk Priority Risk Owner Mitigation Actions 
Exam Validity of examination is 

challenged 
2 

Unlikely 
2 

Minor 
4 

Medium 
Registrar, 

Program Manager 
Current Treatment: 
 

• Examination development and administration conducted by 
highly qualified vendor with extensive experience and highly 
credible. 

• Each exam sitting undergoes extensive psychometric analysis 
and further review by examination committee. 

Additional Proposed Treatment: 
 

• Performance of vendor is reviewed annually and any concerns 
addressed at that meeting. 

• Clear separation between non-statutory committee 
(Examination/Item Writing Committee) and Council members so 
no perceived conflict of interest. 

• Work with provincial counterparts to establish proper 
governance channels. 

 



Issue 

The College is providing a summary of the steps it has taken up until September 3, 2021 in response to 
COVID-19. 

Background 

• A Business Continuity Plan (BCP) was drafted to address action plans in the event leading up to,
during, and after an emergency pandemic or disaster.

• A business continuance – department function guide was developed to anticipate and plan for,
the needs of each department during the event of a pandemic or disaster.

• A dedicated response team was temporarily formed, comprised of key personnel at the College.
The purpose of this team is to ensure a coordinated response from the College on multiple
fronts during the pandemic.

• Moved the CTCMPAO office to remote operations on March 17, 2020 and staff are adhering to
physical distancing requirements.

• Attends daily meetings with the Ministry, and hosts daily meetings with the College response
team and weekly meetings with all staff.

• Suspended all work-related travel for staff and Council members.
• All Council, Committee, staff meetings are held by teleconference/virtual meetings.
• Postponed General Conference, Safety and Jurisprudence tests, and practice assessments.
• Created a webpage dedicated to COVID-19 containing useful information for the public and the

practitioners, links to the Ministry of Health, and other reliable sources of COVID-19
information.

• An emergency preparedness plan was developed and shared with staff on March 13, 2020. It
included response plans in the event staff was required to quarantined, what and how to gain
access to key functions of the company during the pandemic to minimize disruptions to core
business functions.

• Sent regular communications to membership on COVID-19 updates and announcements via
email, College website updates and frequent social media updates.

• Completed Ministry of Health – Request for Information survey.
• Verified the Volunteers list for the MOH
• Drafted FAQ based on questions asked by members to be posted on the College website.
• Drafted financial support statement to be shared with individuals who ask specific questions and

separate statement that was posted on the website.
• Drafted College position statements on telepractice and essential services.
• Registration team drafted a procedure for transfer to and from the Inactive class.

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: COVID-19 Activity Log 

Reported By: Ann Zeng 

Action: Information 

https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/covid-19/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/covid-19/


 
 

• Registration Committee approved interim changes to the application and registration process. 
Drafted a notice to applicants regarding these changes.  

• Drafted letter to applicants/candidates regarding online courses and the Pan-Canadian 
examinations eligibility requirements. 

• As a result of advertising concerns received to the College during the Pandemic, the College sent 
out cease and desist, along with educative letters to members that were found to be advertising 
inappropriately.  

• Implemented the three-installment payment plan for members facing financial hardship. 
• The Registrar attends bi-weekly video conference with other regulators to explore and discuss 

potential opportunities to collaborate with other regulators regarding a post-pandemic infection 
control plan. 

• In the process of drafting a return to practice guidance for members. 
• Worked in collaboration with other regulators to provide a unified response to insurance 

provider Sun Life regarding insurance claims that did not appear to be in compliance with the 
current guidelines of Ministry Directives and emergency regulations. 

• Scheduled a virtual meeting with schools to address their questions regarding interim changes in 
the registration and application process due to COVID-19. 

• Announced reduction of renewal fees for 2021-2022. 
• Circulated draft return to practice guidance with MOH, professional associations and Council 

members for feedback. 
• Allowed members who are unable to make the renewal fee payment in full to email the College 

with details of their financial situation by June 1, 2020 and the College will consider appropriate 
accommodations on a case-by-case basis. 

• Shared the ministry directory of PPE suppliers in Ontario with the membership. 
• Shared the 1-page return to practice guidance summary with membership before amended 

Directive 2 was released. 
• Compiled a reference guide for ministry recommendations on PPE 
• Revised the College’s telepractice position statement to be reviewed by QAC 
• Compiled an FAQ for members’ return to practice 
• Published updated telepractice position statement  
• Published Return to Practice Guidance  
• Announced full details of the reduction of the Registration renewal fee for 2021-2022  
• Shared updated the COVID-19 Operational Requirements: Health Sector Restart document with 

members and public 
• Shared webinar on COVID-19 Infection Prevention and Control for Regulated Health 

Professionals with members and public  
• Shared updated Return to Practice Guidance and COVID-19 FAQ 
• Reshared Ministry’s operational requirements and the College’s return to practice guidance 

document in light of Ontario regions entering modified Stage 2 
• Announced that TCM practitioners and acupuncturists in Toronto and Peel regions may continue 

to operate amidst lockdown stage 
• Summarized the Ontario Government’s Stay-at-Home Order and reminded members to follow 

all Ministry directives and requirements and the College’s guidance document  



 
 

• Shared COVID-19 vaccination information and resources on College website 
• Acted as a communicator on behalf of the Public Health Units (PHUs) to relay information 

regarding COVID-19 vaccination to CTCMPAO registrants in the respective areas 
• Shared requirements for Pan-Can exams and supervised clinical training during COVID-19 
• Informed of emergency brake shutdown, stay-at-home order, and updates to the Ministry of 

Health’s Directive 2 
• College continues to operate virtually as we monitor the COVID-19 situation. All meetings will 

continue to be held virtually until further notice 
• Communicated to members regarding Directive 2 which was rescinded by the Ministry of 

Health, and reminded members that the College’s return to practice guidance and telepractice 
position statement are still in effect 

• Continued to assist Public Health Units (PHUs) in their effort to communicate second dose 
vaccination information to members of the College 

• Communicated the government’s provincial reopening plan announcements, the Ministry of 
Health’s Directive 6, and updates to the COVID-19 patient screening guidance document to 
members 

• Assisted York Region Public Health to thank members of the College in the region for their 
dedication to patients throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, and to provide an update on current 
vaccination efforts and case counts 

• Continued to attend COVID-19 meetings with the Ministry every 5 weeks to informed on the 
latest COVID-19 updates 

 

COVID-19 Website Updates: 
 

Published Date 
 

Article Name 
 

Aug 27, 2021 
(New update) 

 

Updated COVID-19 Patient Screening Guidance Document 
 

Aug 18, 2021 
(New update) 

 

Ontario Makes COVID-19 Vaccination Policies Mandatory for High-Risk Settings 
 

July 19, 2021 
(New update) 

 

COVID-19 Update: Ontario Moves to Step 3 of the Reopening Plan 
 

June 30, 2021 
(New update) 

 

COVID-19 Update: Ontario Moves to Step 2 of the Reopening Plan 
 

May 20, 2021 Directive 2 Rescinded – Practitioners Must Continue to Follow All COVID-19 
Guidance 

 
Apr 28, 2021 Clarification from Ministry of Health on Updated Directive 2 

 

https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/updated-covid-19-patient-screening-guidance-document/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/updated-covid-19-patient-screening-guidance-document/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-makes-covid-19-vaccination-policies-mandatory-for-high-risk-settings/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-makes-covid-19-vaccination-policies-mandatory-for-high-risk-settings/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid-19-update-ontario-moves-to-step3-of-the-reopening-plan/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid-19-update-ontario-moves-to-step3-of-the-reopening-plan/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid-19-update-ontario-moves-to-step2-of-the-reopening-plan/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid-19-update-ontario-moves-to-step2-of-the-reopening-plan/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directive2-rescinded-practitioners-must-continue-to-follow-all-covid-19-guidance/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directive2-rescinded-practitioners-must-continue-to-follow-all-covid-19-guidance/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directive2-rescinded-practitioners-must-continue-to-follow-all-covid-19-guidance/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/clarification-from-ministry-of-health-on-updated-directive2/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/clarification-from-ministry-of-health-on-updated-directive2/


 
 

Apr 22, 2021 Directive 2 Updated – No Change to Current CTCMPAO Guidance 
 

Apr 7, 2021 Ontario Government Issues Stay-at-Home Order – No Changes for Regulated 
Health Professionals 

 
Apr 1, 2021 Regulated Health Professionals May Continue to Operate During Emergency 

Brake Shutdown 
 

Mar 18, 2021 Pan-Canadian Examinations and the Supervised Clinical Training Requirement 
during the COVID-19 Pandemic 

 
Feb 17, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccination Prioritization of Health Care Workers 

 
Jan 14, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccination Information and Resources 

 
Jan 12, 2021  Ontario Government Issues Stay-at-Home Order and Introduces 

Enhanced Enforcement Measures to Reduce Mobility 
 

Dec 21, 2020 Regulated Health Services May Continue to Operate During Shutdown 
 

Dec 18, 2020 Recording and FAQs for Standard for Infection Control Webinar 
 

Dec 14, 2020 Regulated Health Services Remain Open in Regions Under Lockdown 
 

Nov 23, 2020 Regulated Health Services Remain Open in Regions Under Lockdown 
 

Oct 22, 2020 Ontario Regions Entering Modified Stage 2 
 

Aug 17, 2020 Updated Return to Practice Guidance and COVID-19 FAQ 
 

June 29, 2020 Recording Now Available: COVID-19 Infection Prevention and Control for 
Regulated Health Professionals 

 
June 18, 2020 Reduction of Registration Renewal Fees for 2021-2022 

 
June 3, 2020 Return to Practice Guidance and Updated Telepractice Position Statement 

 
June 3, 2020 Revised Telepractice Position Statement 

 
May 27, 2020 Directive 2 Amendment – Non-Essential Services May Restart 

 
May 26, 2020 Return to Practice Guidance Summary Document 

 
May 25, 2020 Directory of Ontario PPE Suppliers Available 

 
May 15, 2020 Reduction of Renewal Fees for 2021-2022 Coming 

 

https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directive-2-updated-no-change-to-current-ctcmpao-guidance/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directive-2-updated-no-change-to-current-ctcmpao-guidance/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-stay-at-home-order-no-changes-for-regulated-health-professionals/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-stay-at-home-order-no-changes-for-regulated-health-professionals/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-stay-at-home-order-no-changes-for-regulated-health-professionals/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/rhps-may-continue-to-operate-during-emergency-brake-shutdown/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/rhps-may-continue-to-operate-during-emergency-brake-shutdown/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/rhps-may-continue-to-operate-during-emergency-brake-shutdown/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/pan-canadian-exams-and-the-supervised-clinical-training-requirement-during-the-pandemic/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/pan-canadian-exams-and-the-supervised-clinical-training-requirement-during-the-pandemic/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/pan-canadian-exams-and-the-supervised-clinical-training-requirement-during-the-pandemic/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid-19-vaccination-prioritization-for-health-care-workers/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid-19-vaccination-prioritization-for-health-care-workers/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/COVID-19-vaccination-information-and-resources/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/COVID-19-vaccination-information-and-resources/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-government-issues-stay-at-home-order-and-enhanced-enforcement-measures/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-government-issues-stay-at-home-order-and-enhanced-enforcement-measures/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-government-issues-stay-at-home-order-and-enhanced-enforcement-measures/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/regulated-health-services-may-continue-to-operate-during-shutdown-dec-21-2020/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/regulated-health-services-may-continue-to-operate-during-shutdown-dec-21-2020/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/recording-and-faqs-for-standard-for-infection-control-webinar/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/recording-and-faqs-for-standard-for-infection-control-webinar/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/regulated-health-services-remain-open-in-regions-under-lockdown-dec-14-2020/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/regulated-health-services-remain-open-in-regions-under-lockdown-dec-14-2020/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/regulated-health-services-remain-open-in-regions-under-lockdown/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/regulated-health-services-remain-open-in-regions-under-lockdown/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-regions-entering-modified-stage2/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-regions-entering-modified-stage2/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/updated-return-to-practice-guidance-and-covid19-faq/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/updated-return-to-practice-guidance-and-covid19-faq/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid19-ipac-recording-now-available/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid19-ipac-recording-now-available/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/reduction-of-registration-renewal-fees-for-2021-2022/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/return-to-practice-guidance-and-updated-telepractice-position-statement/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/revised-telepractice-position-statement/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directive-2-amendment-non-essential-services-may-restart/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directive-2-amendment-non-essential-services-may-restart/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/return-to-practice-guidance-summary-document/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/return-to-practice-guidance-summary-document/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directory-of-ontario-ppe-suppliers-available/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/directory-of-ontario-ppe-suppliers-available/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/reduction-of-renewal-fees-for-2021-2022-coming/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/reduction-of-renewal-fees-for-2021-2022-coming/


 
 

Apr 24, 2020 COVID-19 Screening Documents for Healthcare Workers 
 

Apr 24, 2020 2020 Annual Registration Renewal Update 
 

Apr 21, 2020 Interim Changes to the Application Process due to COVID-19 
 

Apr 15, 2020 Education and Supervised Clinical Training Requirements during the COVID-19 
Pandemic 

 
Apr 14, 2020 Ministry of Health Directives, Memos and Other Resources 

 
Apr 8, 2020 Ontario Health Workforce Matching Portal 

 
Apr 2, 2020 College Position Statements on Essential Services and Telepractice 

 
Mar 30, 2020 Advertising Claims Regarding COVID-19 Products, Treatments or Therapies 

 
Mar 24, 2020 Request for Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Donations 

 
Mar 23, 2020 Ministry of Health Recruitment of Health Care Providers for COVID-19 

 
Mar 20, 2020 Chief Medical Officer of Health Directive #2 for Health Care Providers 

 
Mar 18, 2020 Announcement on the Suspension of Non-Essential Services 

 
Mar 17, 2020 College Updates & Guidance for COVID-19 

 
Mar 16, 2020 CTCMPAO Providing Services Remotely Due to COVID-19 

 
Mar 13, 2020 Updated Coronavirus (COVID-19) Information and Resources Webpage 

 
Mar 6, 2020 Coronavirus (COVID-19) Information and Resources Page 

 
Jan 30, 2020 Ministry of Health Website for Health Workers and Health Sector Employers 

 
Jan 29, 2020 Ministry of Health Website on Novel Coronavirus 

 
Jan 24, 2020 Novel Coronavirus Advisory 

 
 

COVID-19 Mailchimp Emails: 
 

Published Date 
 

Email Heading 
 

https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/COVID-19-screening-documents-for-healthcare-workers/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/2020-annual-registration-renewal-update/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/interim-changes-to-application-process-due-to-COVID-19/
file://CTCMPAO-SERVER/TCM%20Corporate%20Data/TCM%20All%20Users/Council%20&%20Committees%20-%20003/Council/Meetings/2020/June%2010,%202020/Working%20Documents/Education%20and%20Supervised%20Clinical%20Training%20Requirements%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20Pandemic
file://CTCMPAO-SERVER/TCM%20Corporate%20Data/TCM%20All%20Users/Council%20&%20Committees%20-%20003/Council/Meetings/2020/June%2010,%202020/Working%20Documents/Education%20and%20Supervised%20Clinical%20Training%20Requirements%20during%20the%20COVID-19%20Pandemic
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ministry-of-health-directives-memos-and-other-resources/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ontario-health-workforce-matching-portal/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/resources/college-position-statements-on-essential-services-and-telepractice/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/advertising-claims-regarding-covid-19-products-treatments-or-therapies/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/request-for-personal-protective-equipment-ppe-donations/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ministry-of-health-recruitment-of-health-care-providers-for-covid-19/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/chief-medical-officer-of-health-directive2-for-health-care-providers/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/announcement-on-suspension-of-non-essential-services/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/college-updates-and-guidance-for-covid-19/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ctcmpao-providing-services-remotely-due-to-covid-19/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/updated-covid-19-webpage/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/covid-19-info-resource-page/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ministry-of-health-website-health-workers-and-employers/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/ministry-of-health-website-on-novel-coronavirus/
https://www.ctcmpao.on.ca/announcements/novel-coronavirus-advisory/


 
 

Sept 1, 2021 Update from York Region Public Health to Health Care Providers 
(COVID-19 Information sent to members working/residing in York Region) 

 
Aug 27, 2021 Updated COVID-19 Patient Screening Guidance Document 

 
Aug 18, 2021 Ontario Makes COVID-19 Vaccination Policies Mandatory for High-Risk Settings 

 
Jun 3, 2021 Booking A Second Dose Of The COVID-19 Vaccine 

(COVID-19 Vaccine Information from Eastern Ontario Health Unit) 
 

May 20, 2021 Directive 2 Rescinded – Practitioners Must Continue To Follow All COVID-19 
Guidance 

 
May 4, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccine: Dose 2 Appointments 

(COVID-19 Vaccine Information from Simcoe Muskoka District Health) 
 

Apr 19, 2021 Eastern Ontario Health Unit (EOHU) Job Opportunity - Vaccinators Needed 
(COVID-19 Vaccine Information from Eastern Ontario Health Unit) 

 
Apr 14, 2021 Halton Region update: All HCW not working at home, now eligible to book 

COVID-19 vaccine appointment 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Halton Region Public Health) 

 
Apr 6, 2021 Health Care Worker Vaccination Instructions for Those Working/Residing in HKPR 

District Health Unit Area 
(COVID-19 Vaccine Pre-Registration from Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge 

District Health Unit) 
 

Mar 31, 2021 Vaccine Confidence Information and Tools for Healthcare Workers 
(COVID-19 Vaccine Information from Eastern Ontario Health Unit) 

 
Mar 26, 2021 Moderate Priority Health Care Workers (HCWs) in Simcoe Muskoka District Now 

Eligible For COVID-19 Vaccination 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Simcoe Muskoka District Health) 

 
Mar 24, 2021 Peterborough Public Health COVID-19 Vaccination Info For 'Moderate Priority' 

Health Care Workers 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Peterborough Public Health) 

 
Mar 19, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccine Appointments For Health Care Workers In The Huron Perth 

Public Health Region 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Huron Perth Health Unit) 

 
Mar 19, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccine Appointments for Health Care Workers in the Eastern Ontario 

Health Unit Region 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Eastern Ontario Health Unit) 

 

https://mailchi.mp/6d60d483ddcb/update-from-york-region-public-health-to-health-care-providers
https://mailchi.mp/6d60d483ddcb/update-from-york-region-public-health-to-health-care-providers
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/updated-covid-19-patient-screening-guidance-document
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/updated-covid-19-patient-screening-guidance-document
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/ontario-makes-covid-19-vaccination-policies-mandatory-for-high-risk-settings
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/ontario-makes-covid-19-vaccination-policies-mandatory-for-high-risk-settings
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/eohu-booking-a-second-dose-of-the-covid-19-vaccine
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/eohu-booking-a-second-dose-of-the-covid-19-vaccine
https://mailchi.mp/074d3b656870/directive-2-rescinded-practitioners-must-continue-to-follow-all-covid-19-guidance
https://mailchi.mp/074d3b656870/directive-2-rescinded-practitioners-must-continue-to-follow-all-covid-19-guidance
https://mailchi.mp/074d3b656870/directive-2-rescinded-practitioners-must-continue-to-follow-all-covid-19-guidance
https://mailchi.mp/4afe6691ccb4/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012256
https://mailchi.mp/4afe6691ccb4/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012256
https://mailchi.mp/6ac19544275c/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012244
https://mailchi.mp/6ac19544275c/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012244
https://mailchi.mp/6a3177805cf2/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012240
https://mailchi.mp/6a3177805cf2/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012240
https://mailchi.mp/6a3177805cf2/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012240
https://mailchi.mp/6911c6a2145e/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012228
https://mailchi.mp/6911c6a2145e/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012228
https://mailchi.mp/6911c6a2145e/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012228
https://mailchi.mp/6629fe509496/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012212
https://mailchi.mp/6629fe509496/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012212
https://mailchi.mp/0f0b883edd92/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012192
https://mailchi.mp/0f0b883edd92/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012192
https://mailchi.mp/0f0b883edd92/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012192
https://mailchi.mp/dcc6069ca62f/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012180
https://mailchi.mp/dcc6069ca62f/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012180
https://mailchi.mp/dcc6069ca62f/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012180
https://mailchi.mp/601076d1c137/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012168
https://mailchi.mp/601076d1c137/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012168
https://mailchi.mp/601076d1c137/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012168
https://mailchi.mp/3184406c74d4/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012160
https://mailchi.mp/3184406c74d4/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012160
https://mailchi.mp/3184406c74d4/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012160


 
 

Mar 18, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccination Booking Instructions For Peel Region Health Care Workers 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Peel Region Public Health) 

 
Mar 16, 2021 Memo To Invite High Priority Health Care Workers In York Region For Vaccination 

(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from York Region Public Health) 
 

Mar 15, 2021 ‘High Priority’ Health Care Workers in Halton Region Now Eligible for COVID-19 
Vaccine 

(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Halton Region Public Health) 
 

Mar 12, 2021 Toronto COVID-19 Vaccine Call Centre and Website Announcement 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Toronto Public Health) 

 
Mar 11, 2021 Peterborough Public Health COVID-19 Vaccination Information For Health Care 

Workers 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Peterborough Public Health) 

 
Mar 8, 2021 IMPORTANT INFORMATION: Pre-Registration Process For COVID-19 Vaccine 

(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public 
Health) 

 
Mar 8, 2021 Community Healthcare Workers Can Now Register For COVID-19 Vaccination In 

Hamilton 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Hamilton Public Health) 

 
Mar 8, 2021 Vaccination Booking Process: Email 1 of 2 

Vaccination Booking Process: Email 2 of 2 
(COVID-19 Vaccination Pre-Registration from Niagara Region Public Health) 

 
Feb 17, 2021 COVID-19 Prioritization of Health Care Workers 

 
Jan 20, 2021 Can I discuss vaccines with my patients? 

 
Jan 14, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccination Information and Resources 

 
Jan 12, 2021 Ontario Government Issues Stay-At-Home Order And Introduces Enhanced 

Enforcement Measures To Reduce 
 

Dec 21, 2020 
 

Regulated Health Services Remain Open During Lockdown 

Dec 7, 2020 Keeping Common Areas Clean 
 

Nov 20, 2020 Infection Control: Clinic Environment and Equipment 
 

Oct 22, 2020 Ontario Regions Entering Modified Stage 2 
 

Aug 31, 2020 COVID-19 Update: Mandatory Mask Orders 

https://mailchi.mp/b7f0aa500c56/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012156
https://mailchi.mp/b7f0aa500c56/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012156
https://mailchi.mp/0137367e9569/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012152
https://mailchi.mp/0137367e9569/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012152
https://mailchi.mp/6a86fcf12078/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012140
https://mailchi.mp/6a86fcf12078/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012140
https://mailchi.mp/6a86fcf12078/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012140
https://mailchi.mp/4bb549f9f1bf/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012136
https://mailchi.mp/4bb549f9f1bf/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012136
https://mailchi.mp/05c46f7122b7/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012132
https://mailchi.mp/05c46f7122b7/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012132
https://mailchi.mp/05c46f7122b7/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012132
https://mailchi.mp/f8c419fa4ce9/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012116
https://mailchi.mp/f8c419fa4ce9/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012116
https://mailchi.mp/dec963bb6f72/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012112
https://mailchi.mp/dec963bb6f72/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012112
https://mailchi.mp/dec963bb6f72/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012112
https://mailchi.mp/e4373a8ff7f6/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2
https://mailchi.mp/e4373a8ff7f6/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2
https://mailchi.mp/f8b13a4f6a82/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012108
https://mailchi.mp/f8b13a4f6a82/vaccination-booking-process-email-1-of-2012108
https://mailchi.mp/8570e82d8cde/covid-19-vaccination-prioritization-for-health-care-workers
https://mailchi.mp/8570e82d8cde/covid-19-vaccination-prioritization-for-health-care-workers
https://mailchi.mp/32920b4d7c0a/can-i-discuss-vaccines-with-my-patients
https://mailchi.mp/32920b4d7c0a/can-i-discuss-vaccines-with-my-patients
https://mailchi.mp/512c2f954bca/covid-19-vaccination-information-and-resources
https://mailchi.mp/512c2f954bca/covid-19-vaccination-information-and-resources
https://mailchi.mp/31755d289546/ontario-government-issues-stay-at-home-order-and-introduces-enhanced-enforcement-measures-to-reduce-mobility
https://mailchi.mp/31755d289546/ontario-government-issues-stay-at-home-order-and-introduces-enhanced-enforcement-measures-to-reduce-mobility
https://mailchi.mp/31755d289546/ontario-government-issues-stay-at-home-order-and-introduces-enhanced-enforcement-measures-to-reduce-mobility
https://mailchi.mp/50088345e97c/regulated-health-services-remain-open-during-lockdown
https://mailchi.mp/50088345e97c/regulated-health-services-remain-open-during-lockdown
https://mailchi.mp/c3050da270d9/keeping-common-areas-clean
https://mailchi.mp/c3050da270d9/keeping-common-areas-clean
https://mailchi.mp/7f098a44e05e/in-regards-to-doctors-notes-2011972
https://mailchi.mp/7f098a44e05e/in-regards-to-doctors-notes-2011972
https://mailchi.mp/4c8333af180a/ontario-regions-entering-modified-stage-2
https://mailchi.mp/b3fcb5b04f30/covid-19-update-mandatory-mask-orders


 
 

 
Aug 17, 2020 Updated Return to Practice Guidance and COVID-19 FAQs 

 
July 10, 2020 Infection Control: Clinic Environment and Equipment 

 
June 30, 2020 Recording Now Available: COVID-19 Infection Prevention & Control For Regulated 

Health Professionals 
  

June 25, 2020 Updated COVID-19 Operational Requirements: Health Sector Restart 
 

June 22, 2020 Patient Screening Guidance Document Update 
 

June 18, 2020 2020-2021 Registration Renewal Fee Reduction 
 

June 10, 2020 Members Must Meet the Return to Practice Requirements Before Restarting 
Practice 

 
June 3, 2020 Return to Practice Guidance and Updated Telepractice Position Statement 

 
May 27, 2020 Directive 2 Amendment – Non-Essential Services May Restart 

 
May 26, 2020 Return to Practice Guidance Summary Document 

 
May 25, 2020 Directory of Ontario PPE Suppliers Available 

 
May 15, 2020 Reduction of Renewal Fees for 2021-2022 Coming 

 
May 7, 2020 COVID-19 Update and College Development of Return to Practice Guidelines 

 
Apr 24, 2020 

 
COVID-19 Screening Documents For Healthcare Workers 

Apr 14, 2020 
 

Ministry Of Health Directives, Memos And Other Resources 

Apr 8, 2020 
 

Ontario Health Workforce Matching Portal 

Apr 2, 2020 
 

College Position Statements On Essential Services And Telepractice 

Mar 30, 2020 
 

Advertising Claims Regarding COVID-19 Products, Treatments Or Therapies 

Mar 23, 2020 
 

Ministry Of Health Recruitment Of Health Care Providers For COVID-19 

Mar 20, 2020 
 

Chief Medical Officer Of Health Directive #2 For Health Care Providers 

Mar 18, 2020 
 

Announcement On The Suspension Of Non-Essential Services 

Mar 16, 2020 
 

College Updates & Guidance For COVID-19 To Applicants 

https://mailchi.mp/2b9dbbceee17/updated-return-to-practice-guidance-and-covid-19-faqs
https://mailchi.mp/6921541a3ac0/in-regards-to-doctors-notes-2011860
https://mailchi.mp/5c298d7c2733/recording-now-available-covid-19-infection-prevention-and-control-for-regulated-health-professionals
https://mailchi.mp/5c298d7c2733/recording-now-available-covid-19-infection-prevention-and-control-for-regulated-health-professionals
https://mailchi.mp/5c298d7c2733/recording-now-available-covid-19-infection-prevention-and-control-for-regulated-health-professionals
https://mailchi.mp/b78f8007af7f/updated-covid-19-operational-requirements-health-sector-restart
https://mailchi.mp/b78f8007af7f/updated-covid-19-operational-requirements-health-sector-restart
https://mailchi.mp/5161a59364e7/patient-screening-guidance-document-update
https://mailchi.mp/5161a59364e7/patient-screening-guidance-document-update
https://mailchi.mp/2b4c2e4610e7/announcement-for-the-reduction-of-registration-renewal-fees-for-2021-2022
https://mailchi.mp/2b4c2e4610e7/announcement-for-the-reduction-of-registration-renewal-fees-for-2021-2022
https://mailchi.mp/7b6691a3c822/members-must-meet-the-return-to-practice-requirements-before-restarting-practice
https://mailchi.mp/7b6691a3c822/members-must-meet-the-return-to-practice-requirements-before-restarting-practice
https://mailchi.mp/7b6691a3c822/members-must-meet-the-return-to-practice-requirements-before-restarting-practice
https://mailchi.mp/968dcabb116e/return-to-practice-guidance-and-updated-telepractice-position-statement
https://mailchi.mp/968dcabb116e/return-to-practice-guidance-and-updated-telepractice-position-statement
https://mailchi.mp/3aa1434ed2b5/directive-2-amendment-non-essential-services-may-restart
https://mailchi.mp/3aa1434ed2b5/directive-2-amendment-non-essential-services-may-restart
https://mailchi.mp/6f16bac23060/return-to-practice-guidance-summary-document
https://mailchi.mp/6f16bac23060/return-to-practice-guidance-summary-document
https://mailchi.mp/b2c06320d599/announcement-directory-of-ontario-ppe-suppliers-available
https://mailchi.mp/b2c06320d599/announcement-directory-of-ontario-ppe-suppliers-available
https://mailchi.mp/7eb8db6fe15a/announcement-reduction-of-renewal-fees-for-2021-2022-coming
https://mailchi.mp/7eb8db6fe15a/announcement-reduction-of-renewal-fees-for-2021-2022-coming
https://mailchi.mp/1704a0094aa2/covid-19-update-and-college-development-of-return-to-practice-guidelines
https://mailchi.mp/1704a0094aa2/covid-19-update-and-college-development-of-return-to-practice-guidelines
https://mailchi.mp/afcacc6dfa08/covid-19-screening-documents-for-healthcare-workers
https://mailchi.mp/afcacc6dfa08/covid-19-screening-documents-for-healthcare-workers
https://mailchi.mp/64da37600070/ministry-of-health-directives-memos-and-other-resources
https://mailchi.mp/64da37600070/ministry-of-health-directives-memos-and-other-resources
https://mailchi.mp/b5b1ef87c522/ontario-health-workforce-matching-portal
https://mailchi.mp/b5b1ef87c522/ontario-health-workforce-matching-portal
https://mailchi.mp/6dcc7daeceee/college-position-statements-on-essential-services-and-telepractice
https://mailchi.mp/6dcc7daeceee/college-position-statements-on-essential-services-and-telepractice
https://mailchi.mp/7306c3d256ed/advertising-claims-regarding-covid-19-products-treatments-or-therapies
https://mailchi.mp/7306c3d256ed/advertising-claims-regarding-covid-19-products-treatments-or-therapies
https://mailchi.mp/8cc359b0c08b/ministry-of-health-recruitment-of-health-care-providers-for-covid-19
https://mailchi.mp/8cc359b0c08b/ministry-of-health-recruitment-of-health-care-providers-for-covid-19
https://mailchi.mp/05670ada5f4f/chief-medical-officer-of-health-directive-2-for-health-care-providers
https://mailchi.mp/05670ada5f4f/chief-medical-officer-of-health-directive-2-for-health-care-providers
https://mailchi.mp/f0737bc2e47e/announcement-on-the-suspension-of-non-essential-services
https://mailchi.mp/f0737bc2e47e/announcement-on-the-suspension-of-non-essential-services
https://mailchi.mp/4a0fc7db7d89/college-updates-and-guidance-for-covid-19-to-applicants
https://mailchi.mp/4a0fc7db7d89/college-updates-and-guidance-for-covid-19-to-applicants


 
 

Mar 16, 2020 
 

College Updates & Guidance For COVID-19 

Mar 13, 2020 Updated Coronavirus (COVID-19) Information And Resources Webpage - Mar 13 
 

Mar 6, 2020 
 

Postponement Of CTCMPAO General Conference 

Feb 27, 2020 Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) New Case Definition And Self-Isolation Guides 
 

Jan 30, 2020 Ministry Of Health Website, Hotline For Healthcare Providers And Situation 
Report #5 

 
Jan 29, 2020 

 
Situation Report #4: 2019-nCoV (Novel Coronavirus) 

Jan 28, 2020 
 

Situation Report #3: 2019-nCoV (Novel Coronavirus) 

Jan 27, 2020 
 

Novel Coronavirus Advisory Update 2 

Jan 24, 2020 
 

Novel Coronavirus Advisory 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://mailchi.mp/713d352519fa/college-updates-guidance-for-covid-19
https://mailchi.mp/713d352519fa/college-updates-guidance-for-covid-19
https://mailchi.mp/ed855975e4af/updated-coronavirus-covid-19-information-and-resources-webpage
https://mailchi.mp/ed855975e4af/updated-coronavirus-covid-19-information-and-resources-webpage
https://mailchi.mp/a47012dd77c3/postponement-of-ctcmpao-general-conference
https://mailchi.mp/a47012dd77c3/postponement-of-ctcmpao-general-conference
https://mailchi.mp/97568cd18be2/coronavirus-2019-covid-19-new-case-definition-and-self-isolation-guides
https://mailchi.mp/97568cd18be2/coronavirus-2019-covid-19-new-case-definition-and-self-isolation-guides
https://mailchi.mp/eeab3ae0d1c6/ministry-of-health-website-hotline-for-healthcare-providers-and-situation-report-52019-ncov-novel-coronavirus
https://mailchi.mp/eeab3ae0d1c6/ministry-of-health-website-hotline-for-healthcare-providers-and-situation-report-52019-ncov-novel-coronavirus
https://mailchi.mp/eeab3ae0d1c6/ministry-of-health-website-hotline-for-healthcare-providers-and-situation-report-52019-ncov-novel-coronavirus
https://mailchi.mp/0c69f81d7f9a/situation-report-4-2019-ncov-novel-coronavirus-revised
https://mailchi.mp/0c69f81d7f9a/situation-report-4-2019-ncov-novel-coronavirus-revised
https://mailchi.mp/bcf6082b8fab/situation-report-3-2019-ncov-novel-coronavirus
https://mailchi.mp/bcf6082b8fab/situation-report-3-2019-ncov-novel-coronavirus
https://mailchi.mp/aebfc7b0f569/novel-coronavirus-advisory-update-2
https://mailchi.mp/aebfc7b0f569/novel-coronavirus-advisory-update-2
https://mailchi.mp/ed346510c84c/novel-coronavirus-advisory
https://mailchi.mp/ed346510c84c/novel-coronavirus-advisory


 
 

 

 

 

 

COVID-19 Related Social Media Posts: 

 
Published 

Date 

 
Social Media Post 

 
Aug 27, 2021 
(New Post) 

 



 
 

Aug 19, 2021 
(New Post) 

 



 
 

Aug 19, 2021 
(New Post) 

 
Aug 18, 2021 
(New Post) 

 



 
 

July 22, 2021 
(New Post) 

 



 
 

July 9, 2021 
(New Post) 

 
July 9, 2021 
(New Post) 

 



 
 

June 30, 2021 
(New Post) 

 
June 28, 2021 

(New Post) 

 



 
 

June 24, 2021 
(New Post) 

 
June 21, 2021 

(New Post) 

 



 
 

June 17, 2021 
(New Post) 

 



 
 

June 17, 2021 
(New Post) 

 



 
 

June 11, 2021 

 
June 11, 2021 

 



 
 

Jun 4, 2021 

 



 
 

May 31, 2021 

 
May 21, 2021 

 



 
 

May 21, 2021 

 
May 18, 2021 

 



 
 

May 17, 2021 

 
May 14, 2021 

 



 
 

May 10, 2021 

 



 
 

May 5, 2021 

 



 
 

Apr 30, 2021 

 
Apr 27, 2021 

 



 
 

Apr 19, 2021 

 
Apr 15, 2021 

 



 
 

Apr 12, 2021 

 
Mar 30, 2021 

 



 
 

Mar 29, 2021 

 
Mar 24, 2021 

 



 
 

Mar 23, 2021 

 
Mar 17, 2021 

 



 
 

Mar 10, 2021 

 
Mar 5, 2021 

 



 
 

Feb 19, 2021 

 
Jan 25, 2021 

 



 
 

Jan 21, 2021 

 
Jan 15, 2021 

 



 
 

Jan 14, 2021 

 
Jan 13, 2021 

 



 
 

Jan 11, 2021 

 



 
 

Jan 6, 2021 

 
Jan 5, 2021 

 



 
 

Dec 28, 2020 

 
Dec 21, 2020 

 



 
 

Dec 18, 2020 

 
Dec 11, 2020 

 



 
 

Dec 10, 2020 

 
Dec 9, 2020 

 



 
 

Nov 24, 2020 

 
Nov 20, 2020 

 
Nov 12, 2020 

 



 
 

Nov 3, 2020 

 



 
 

Oct 29, 2020 

 
Oct 22, 2020 

 



 
 

Oct 9, 2020 

 



 
 

Oct 10, 2020 

 
Oct 7, 2020 

 



 
 

Sept 30, 2020 

 
Sept 8, 2020 

 



 
 

Sept 3, 2020 

 
Sept 2, 2020 

 



 
 

Sept 1, 2020 

 
Aug 27, 2020 

 



 
 

Aug 20, 2020 

 
Aug 18, 2020 

 



 
 

Aug 8, 2020 

 
Aug 6, 2020 

 
July 28, 2020 

 



 
 

July 15, 2020 

 
July 10, 2020 

 



 
 

June 30, 2020 

 
June 26, 2020 

 
June 25, 2020 

 



 
 

June 23, 2020 

 
June 18, 2020 

 
June 11, 2020 

 



 
 

June 10, 2020 

 
June 10, 2020 

 



 
 

June 9, 2020 

 
June 4, 2020 

 



 
 

June 1, 2020 

 
May 29, 2020 

 



 
 

May 28, 2020 

 
May 28, 2020 

 



 
 

May 27, 2020 

 
May 26, 2020 

 



 
 

May 26, 2020 

 
May 25, 2020 

 



 
 

May 22, 2020 

 



 
 

May 21, 2020 

 
May 20, 2020 

 



 
 

May 19, 2020 

 
May 15, 2020 

 



 
 

May 14, 2020 

 
May 13, 2020 

 



 
 

May 12, 2020 

 
May 8, 2020 

 



 
 

May 7, 2020 

 
May 6, 2020 

 



 
 

May 5, 2020 

 
May 4, 2020 

 



 
 

Apr 28, 2020 
 

 
Apr 28, 2020 

 

 
Apr 27, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Apr 23, 2020 
 

 
Apr 22, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Apr 21, 2020 
 

 
Apr 16, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Apr 15, 2020 
 

 
Apr 14, 2020 

 

 
Apr 10, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Apr 9, 2020 
 

 
Apr 8, 2020 

 

 
Apr 7, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Apr 3, 2020 
 

 
Apr 2, 2020 

 

 
Apr 1, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Mar 30, 2020 
 

 
Mar 30, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Mar 26, 2020 
 

 
Mar 25, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Mar 24, 2020 
 

 
Mar 23, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Mar 23, 2020 
 

 
Mar 20, 2020 

 

 
Mar 20, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Mar 18, 2020 
 

 
Mar 16, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Mar 13, 2020 
 

 
Mar 6, 2020 

 

 
Mar 6, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Feb 6, 2020 
 

 
Jan 30, 2020 

 

 



 
 

Jan 28, 2020 
 

 
Jan 24, 2020 

 

 
 



EXECUTIVE 

Issue 
The College is providing the results from the Return to In-Person Meeting survey that was circulated 
with Council members in mid August.  

Background 
A survey was circulated with members of Council to obtain feedback on the College’s current format of 
virtual meetings, and their level of comfort if in-person meetings were to be resumed. 

Based on the majority of the survey results, the College has decided that it will continue its virtual 
meeting format into the foreseeable future. The College will reassess the situation at a later time to 
determine whether the feedback from Council members have changed since the completion of the 
survey.  

Meeting Date: September 22, 2021 

Issue: Council Member Survey Results 

Reported By: Ann Zeng 

Action: Information 
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From: Dr. Nancy Whitmore, Registrar and CEO, CPSO <registrarceo@cpso.on.ca>  
Sent: September 1, 2021 11:24 AM 
To: Registrar <Registrar@ctcmpao.on.ca> 
Subject: REGISTRAR: Launch of the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal 

Launch of the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal   View Online 

Good morning, 

I am thrilled to share the news with you that the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal (OPSDT) has 
officially launched. 

The OPSDT replaces the Discipline Committee and has an arms‐length relationship with the College of Physicians and 
Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO). The OPSDT is a neutral, independent, administrative tribunal that adjudicates allegations of 
professional misconduct or incompetence of Ontario physicians made by the CPSO. The Tribunal is made up of 
physicians, public members and highly‐experienced adjudicators and holds hearings in a trial‐like process. 

The new website (www.opsdt.ca) also launched today, and now hosts the information about the Tribunal, legal 
resources, a hearings schedule and outcomes which were previously listed on the CPSO website. As part of our 
commitment to improving accessibility, I’m pleased to share that the new website launched in both English and French 
(www.tdmco.ca). 

I want to give a special thank you to David Wright, Chair of the Tribunal and his team who have worked especially hard 
these last few months to make this significant transition happen. The new independent Tribunal is a positive step 
forward for the discipline process in Ontario. I encourage you to visit the new site and familiarize yourself with the 
changes. I truly believe these changes will continue to ensure a fair, consistent and timely discipline process. 

Warm regards, 

Nancy Whitmore, MD, FRCSC, MBA 
Registrar and Chief Executive Officer 
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September 10, 2021 
 
Dear Ms. Zeng, 
 
On April 1, 2021, the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) 
launched its new Risk-informed Compliance Framework (RICF).  As we 
have communicated to regulators previously, the first year of the 
framework will serve as a transitional period during which the OFC will 
review the historical performance of each regulator and place them in a 
provisional compliance category. The next phase will involve the 
assignment of risk categories based on a more detailed analysis. 
 
For your information, the five historical performance indicators that we 
will consider for the transitional period are: 
 

1- The nature and extent of material compliance recommendations 
that the OFC has issued to the regulator in the last compliance 
cycle.  
2- The extent to which the regulator has completed these 
recommendations and avoided new issues.  
3- The regulator’s observed motivation to work with the OFC on 

defined compliance objectives. 
4- The content of decisions issued by the courts or tribunals that 
discuss the regulator’s registration practices.  
5- The degree to which the regulator’s registration processes 

exhibit the attributes of transparency, objectivity, impartiality and 
fairness, as demonstrated, for example, by the number of OFC  
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recognized “commendable practices” and/or best practices and 
innovations that the regulator has instituted over time. 
 

Based on our review of how your organization has performed against 
these indicators, the OFC has determined that the College of Traditional 
Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists should be assigned a 
“full compliance” provisional rating.  
 
This means that the regulator has successfully implemented each of the 
compliance recommendations that the OFC has issued, additional 
recommendations were not identified, and other criteria have been met. 
 
For your information, and for comparative purposes, the provisional 
compliance categories that the OFC has allocated to the 39 regulators 
over which it has jurisdiction are as follows:  
 

Distribution of Compliance Categories among Regulators 

 
Compliance Category 
 

 
Number of Regulators in Category 

 
Full Compliance  
 

 
32 

 
Substantial Compliance  
 

 
                            4 

 
Falls Short of Compliance  
 

 
  3 

 
Totals  
 

 
                          39 

 
In the Fall of this year, we will contact you again to gather information 
about forward-looking risk factors pertaining to the conduct of your 
registration processes. This information will allow us to allocate a risk 
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category to your organization once our Risk Informed Compliance 
Framework is fully in place. 
 
If you have any questions about the contents of this communication, 
please contact me at james.mendel@ontario.ca. 
 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
James Mendel 
Compliance Analyst 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:james.mendel@ontario.ca
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RISK-INFORMED COMPLIANCE FRAMEWORK 
 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS 
 

1. What is the effective date of the new Risk-informed Compliance Framework (RICF) 
and will there be a transition period to help regulators adjust? 

 
The Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) will launch its new RICF on April 1, 
2021, for an initial 12-month transition period.  The new scheme will fully come into 
effect on April 1, 2022. 
 
During the transition period, the OFC’s assessment of a regulator’s risk profile will be 
based predominantly on its historical performance. Individual regulators will then be 
placed in provisional risk categories. 
 
The transition period will also provide an opportunity for those regulators with 
outstanding OFC recommendations to complete the changes necessary to meet these 
requirements.  Finally, during this time frame, OFC staff will obtain information from 
regulators on how the forward-looking risk factors, identified in the RICF, apply to their 
situations. 
 
2. Why is the OFC implementing a new regulatory compliance framework? 
 
For the last few years, the OFC has signaled its intent to develop a RICF. A key 
objective underlying this scheme is to ensure that the Office’s finite compliance 
resources are focused on those regulators that have not advanced as far as others in 
developing fair registration practices.  To achieve this objective, the OFC has 
incorporated a number of modern regulator principles into its new compliance 
framework. 
 
The RICF has been specifically designed to achieve the following three outcomes: 
 

▪ To enable regulators to more effectively comply with their legal obligations, and 
to adopt associated best practices, in order to achieve better registration 
outcomes for all applicants.   
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▪ To promote the identification of targeted risk factors to enable necessary 
mitigation and remediation efforts.  

 
▪ To reduce unnecessary burdens on regulators and OFC staff, recognizing that 

all public sector organizations operate with constrained resources. 
 

3. How did the OFC select the historical performance indicators and forward-looking 
risk factors that will apply to regulators? 

 
The OFC selected these factors based on the experience that it has garnered since 
Ontario’s fair access legislation was introduced in 2006, advice from subject-matter 
experts in the spheres of immigration, regulatory compliance and risk 
management, and the collective input received from regulators.   
 
The OFC has identified five specific measures to serve as historical performance 
indicators.  These are: 
 

1. The nature and extent of material compliance recommendations that the 
OFC has issued to the regulator in the last compliance cycle. 

 
2. The extent to which the regulator has complied with these 

recommendations and avoided new issues. 
 

3. The regulator’s observed motivation to work with the OFC on defined 
compliance objectives. 

 
4. The content of decisions issued by the courts or tribunals that discuss the 

regulator’s registration practices.  
 

5. The degree to which the regulator’s registration processes exhibit the 
attributes of transparency objectivity, impartiality and fairness, as 
demonstrated, for example, by the number of OFC recognized 
“commendable practices” and/or other best practices and innovations that 
the regulator has instituted over time. 

 
The five forward-looking risk factors focus on a regulator’s operating environment, 
stability, overall reliance on third party-service providers and policy considerations.  
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These factors pertain to:   
 

1. Organizational Capacity. 
 

2. The overall control that a regulator exerts over its assessment and 
registration. processes. 
 

3. The response to emergency situations, such as the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

4. Over-reliance on Canadian experience requirements. 
 

5. Public policy considerations, specifically: 
 

a. critical labour shortages of professionals or tradespersons that 
involve the regulator, and 

b. the need to apply inclusion and anti-racism approaches to the 
regulator's assessment and registration processes. 

 
4. What are the risk categories under the new compliance framework?  

 
There are three risk categories into which a regulator may be placed according to its 
performance and risk profile. 
 

▪ Low – those regulators whose performance constitutes full compliance with the 
objectives of fair access legislation and that exhibit a low risk profile. 
 

▪ Moderately Low – those regulators whose performance constitutes substantial 
compliance with the objectives of fair access legislation and that exhibit a 
moderately low risk profile. 

 
▪ Moderate to High – those regulators whose performance falls short of 

compliance with the objectives of fair access legislation and that exhibit a 
medium to high risk profile. 

 
5. What methodology will the OFC employ to place regulators into discrete risk 

categories?  
 
In determining a regulator’s risk category, the OFC will employ a three-step 
process.  It will: 
 

Step 1:  Assess the historical performance of a regulator using the five 
indicators described above. 
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Step 2:  Assess the forward-looking risk factors by determining the 
likelihood that each risk would occur and the impact of that risk. 
 
Step 3:  Determine the cumulative risk category by aggregating the results 
of the historical performance and forward-looking risk assessments. 

 
6. How will the OFC ensure consistency in the application of risk categories, given the 

diverse mandates and circumstances of regulators? 
 
While the OFC will refine its risk assessment methodology over time, notably 
during the first year of operation, the Office will strive to implement a consistent 
approach.  This objective will be achieved by relying on evidence, focusing on 
relative performance across regulators and by instituting an internal review 
process. 

 
7. What are the implications to a regulator if it is placed in the moderate to high 

compliance category? 
 
The risk category attributed to a regulator will determine the relative degree of 
attention that the OFC applies to the regulator and the appropriate compliance 
activity or tools used to either monitor the regulator’s compliance or bring it to 
compliance.   
 
The nature and extent of these activities will be based on a compliance continuum.  
Those regulators that are in the low risk category will receive a “light touch”.  The 
OFC will reserve its more focused compliance processes (e.g., more frequent 
meetings, completion of an action plan, reports and/or audits) for those regulators 
that are placed in the moderate to high risk category. 

 
8. How does a regulator move out of the moderate to high risk category into a lower 

one? 
 
The OFC’s ultimate goal is for regulators to establish registration practices and 
processes that are transparent, objective, impartial and fair.  The historical 
performance and forward-looking risk components of the framework provide insight 
on how regulators are meeting this general duty.  Therefore, where a regulator 
makes progress in addressing its forward-looking risks, the OFC would consider 
whether the steps taken were sufficient to move the regulator down one or two risk 
categories. During the transition year, the OFC will further refine this process and 
provide further information to regulators.  
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9. Will the regulator have the opportunity to dispute the risk category in which it is 
placed?  How would that work?  
 
The OFC’s approach to regulatory compliance will be based on transparency, 
professionalism and collaboration.  The OFC welcomes collaborative dialogue with 
regulators on issues or concerns about their specific risk category.  The OFC will 
consult with the regulators on a defining such a process.  More information will be 
shared with the regulators at a future date. 
 

10. What are the implications for a regulator that is unable to implement its outstanding 
OFC recommendations during the transition period? 
 
During the transition period, the OFC’s Compliance Analysts will work with their 
regulators towards implementing any outstanding compliance recommendations.  
This period will provide the affected regulators with an opportunity to move to a 
different risk category.   
 
Towards the end of the transition period, the Compliance Analyst will re-assess the 
risk categorization, in discussion with the regulator.  This re-assessment would 
turn, to a large degree, on the extent to which the regulator has made progress in 
implementing any outstanding compliance recommendations.  On this basis, if a 
regulator is unable to make any meaningful changes, then the provisional 
performance compliance category ascribed to a regulator would be confirmed. 

 
11. Will the OFC publicly disclose the risk categories of individual regulators in its 

annual report or otherwise? 
 
One of the OFC’s modern regulator principles is that the office strives to be an 
accountable regulator that it is prepared to justify its decisions and is open to public 
scrutiny.  The OFC may, therefore, decide to publicly disclose the risk categories of 
individual regulators, subject to any obligations contained in the Freedom of 

Information and Protection of Privacy Act.  If such a decision is subsequently 
made, the OFC will notify the regulators in question in advance of disclosure. It 
would not be the OFC’s intention to provide such disclosures in the transitional 
phase of the scheme. 

 
12. Will the OFC exercise its audit powers under this new framework? 

 
The province’s fair access legislation affords the OFC with the authority to require a 
regulator to undergo an audit.  The audit process is analogous to an independent 
investigation conducted by a qualified third-party service provider that the OFC 
approves.  
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Typically, such a process would constitute a defined and targeted review of 
material and persistent deficiencies in a regulator’s registration processes.  The 
audit would yield a report with findings and recommendations. Under the 
legislation, the cost of the audit is borne by the regulator and the final report must 
be filed with the minister.   

 
Given the significant nature of the audit authority, and consistent with past practice, 
the OFC will employ this tool only when necessary. 

 
13. Will the OFC modify its risk factors in the future? 

 
The OFC will review the relevance and appropriateness of its forward-looking risk 
factors on an annual basis.  Any decision to modify the risk factors will go through a 
thoughtful analysis with appropriate consultation. 
 

14. How will the OFC collect the information that it needs to populate its RICF? In 
particular, will it need to modify the information that it now requests in its Fair 
Registration Practices Report (RPF)? 
 
Under its current compliance framework, the OFC collects relevant 
information/data about a regulator’s registration practices, challenges and 
accomplishments through various mechanisms, including the Fair Registration 
Practices (FRP) report, periodic meetings, the regulator’s annual report, council 
minutes and a review of the organization’s website.   
 
During the transition period, the OFC will review these processes to ensure that 
they align with the RICF.  The OFC will then make appropriate modifications to the 
type and breadth of the data collected and the frequency of the process. These 
adjustments will be made to: 
 

▪ ensure that the assessment of regulator risk categories is accurate,  
▪ inform the Office’s strategic planning process and priorities, and  
▪ facilitate the evaluation of program efficiency and effectiveness.   

 
15. How will the OFC and Ministry of Health (MOH) ensure that their respective 

reporting requirements are complementary and do not overlap? 
 
The MOH has recently launched its College Performance Measurement 
Framework (CPMF), which is a new reporting requirement for health colleges.  The 
MOH and OFC are currently reviewing the parameters of their respective reporting 
requirements to identify any overlaps and to develop strategies to mitigate any 
unnecessary administrative burdens. 
 



    Sept           22             2021 

 

 
  

2021 Council Meeting Dates 
 

 

 

*All dates are tentative and are subject to change. 

 

2021 Council Meeting Dates 
March 25, 2021 June 22, 2021 
September 22, 2021 *December 8-9, 2021 (Including orientation) 
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Fixing Good Character 

Registration Requirements 
 
by Erica Richler 
Summer 2021 - No. 2581 
 
As a general rule, regulators cannot discipline 
practitioners for conduct that occurred before they 
became registered: Association of Professional 

Engineers of Ontario v. Leung, 2018 ONSC 4527 
(CanLII), https://canlii.ca/t/htl3k. One exception is 
where the applicant provided false information on their 
application for registration about their pre-registration 
conduct. However, the questions posed on the 
application form must then be clear and unambiguous 
before the regulator can act on a failure to disclose past 
examples of bad conduct: Payne v. Law Society of 

Upper Canada, 2014 ONSC 1083 (CanLII), 
https://canlii.ca/t/g6982.  
 
Therefore it is important for regulators to screen for 
applicants whose past conduct suggests that they will 
act unprofessionally in the future. Regulators who fail 
to do so face considerable criticism. Even someone 
with good technical skills can cause significant damage 
through inappropriate, dishonest or abusive conduct: 
https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/article-
the-good-doctor-its-time-to-stop-treating-character-
like-an/. 
 
In the case of police officers, the evidence shows that 
officers who have had conduct issues in the past are 
much more likely to have additional complaints in the 
future when they move to a different jurisdiction: 
https://www.newyorker.com/news/us-journal/how-
violent-cops-stay-in-law-enforcement.  
                                                 
1 This is a reprinted version of a paper published by the 
Canadian Network of Agencies of Regulation (CNAR). 

 
However, in recent years, regulators have been 
criticized for imposing good character requirements 
that are misguided, ineffective, intrusive, 
unnecessarily traumatic and discriminatory.  
 
 
Misguided and Ineffective 

 
Many criticisms of good character registration 
requirements go back to the seminal article by Alice 
Woolley’s on Tending the Bar: The "Good Character" 

Requirement for Law Society Admission: 
https://digitalcommons.schulichlaw.dal.ca/cgi/viewco
ntent.cgi?article=1911&context=dlj (now Justice 
Woolley).  
 
Alice Woolley argues that the conceptual foundation 
of the good character approach is flawed: 
 

Good character is thus defined not simply as a 
matter of moral behaviour, but also as a matter 
of having the virtues which will result in moral 
behaviour… 

 
It is impossible to prove that conduct flows 
from character, and some have argued that the 
assertion that it does is largely indefensible… 
[footnote omitted] 

 
To the social psychologist the overwhelming 
empirical evidence is that it is the 
circumstances of the lawyer's life—the 
pressures, culture and temptations of legal 
practice—which will dictate the ethics of his 
practice. 

 

mailto:info@sml-law.com
https://canlii.ca/t/htl3k
https://canlii.ca/t/g6982
https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/article-the-good-doctor-its-time-to-stop-treating-character-like-an/
https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/article-the-good-doctor-its-time-to-stop-treating-character-like-an/
https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/article-the-good-doctor-its-time-to-stop-treating-character-like-an/
https://www.newyorker.com/news/us-journal/how-violent-cops-stay-in-law-enforcement
https://www.newyorker.com/news/us-journal/how-violent-cops-stay-in-law-enforcement
https://digitalcommons.schulichlaw.dal.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1911&context=dlj
https://digitalcommons.schulichlaw.dal.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1911&context=dlj
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Alice Woolley also expressed significant concerns 
about how the good character process is administered: 

 
First, there is little consistency with respect to 
how past misconduct will be treated. Second, 
there is little consistency with respect to the 
significance which will be accorded to positive 
third party references about the applicant. 
Third, there is significant variation in how 
psychological evidence is used. Fourth, 
decisions often turn less on the evidence 
received about the applicant than on the panel's 
impression of the applicant as a witness during 
the proceeding. Finally, and perhaps most 
significantly, even when two cases present 
similarly on several evidentiary levels, 
inconsistent outcomes may be reached… 

 
Further, and more significantly, because law 
societies do not undertake independent 
investigation of applicants, there is no 
assurance that all applicants with issues arising 
from prior misconduct have been identified. 
Even a basic requirement that applicants 
provide a criminal record check, or a social 
services check, would significantly widen the 
scope of the law societies' inquiries. … [The] 
investigation of potential applicants should 
reach beyond the simple self-reporting system 
currently used. 

 
Alice Woolley concludes: 
 

[T]he focus needs to be less on an applicant's 
"character" writ large than on her "fitness" for 
the ethical rigours of legal practice. 

 
Research in the United States suggests that past 
criminal findings are poor predictors of future 
professional misconduct: Levin, Leslie, "Rethinking 

the Character and Fitness Inquiry" (2014). Faculty 
Articles and Papers. 125, cited at: 
https://opencommons.uconn.edu/law_papers/125.  
 

 

Intrusive, Unnecessarily Traumatic and 

Discriminatory 

 
The May 2021 article in Canadian Lawyer entitled 
Good character, bad predictor, for law societies cites  
Alice Woolley: 
https://www.canadianlawyermag.com/resources/profe
ssional-regulation/good-character-bad-predictor-for-
law-societies/356482.  
 
The article goes further, suggesting that the good 
character questions asked of applicants are too broad. 
 

Amy Salyzyn, an associate professor at the 
University of Ottawa’s faculty of law, says 
there is a lack of evidence that the “good 
character” process is even effective in 
protecting the public. “If you look at the 
number of questions on the good character 
requirement form . . . it would be interesting to 
know what empirical evidence is behind [each] 
question,” says Salyzyn. “Because the 
connection between those questions and future 
concerns aren’t always evident. I think it’s a 
part of a broader need for law societies to 
engage in evidence-based regulation.” 

 
Samantha Peters from the University of Ottawa law 
school raised the issue of the discriminatory impact of 
the good character requirements: 
 

“I understand that the good character 
requirement is intended to protect the public 
and maintain high ethical standards in the 
profession,” says Peters. “But I think that the  

https://opencommons.uconn.edu/law_papers/125
https://www.canadianlawyermag.com/resources/professional-regulation/good-character-bad-predictor-for-law-societies/356482
https://www.canadianlawyermag.com/resources/professional-regulation/good-character-bad-predictor-for-law-societies/356482
https://www.canadianlawyermag.com/resources/professional-regulation/good-character-bad-predictor-for-law-societies/356482
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current process, as it stands, does not fully take 
into account the over-policing, wrongful 
convictions and criminalization of everyday 
movements of Black, Indigenous and 
criminalized folks.” 

 
An earlier article in Canadian Lawyer by Naomi 
Sayers, an Indigenous lawyer, described the trauma of 
going through the good character screening process: 
https://www.canadianlawyermag.com/news/opinion/t
he-trauma-of-proving-my-good-character/275404.  
 
In an article published earlier this year, Andrew 
Flavelle Martin reviewed the case law and literature on 
regulators asking questions about applicants’ mental 
health: Mental Illness and Professional Regulation: 
The Duty to Report a Fellow Lawyer to the Law 
Society | Alberta Law Review. Such questions may be 
presumptively discriminatory and need to be worded 
in such a way as to not to be overly inclusive, capturing 
medical histories that are unlikely to be relevant to the 
suitability to practise the profession.  
 
The CBC recently reported on a request for a regulator 
to reduce the kinds of good character information that 
applicants for regulation need to disclose because the 
questions are “an intrusion of privacy …. [and] also 
deter members of marginalized groups from joining 
the legal profession ….” 
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/manitoba-
lawyers-good-character-screening-1.5954198  
 
In the United States there has been a concern that 
criminal records have unduly excluded people from 
occupations and professions, particularly racialized 
and marginalized individuals. Reforms are ongoing to 
reduce this barrier: https://ij.org/report/barred-from-
working/; https://www.clearhq.org/page-1860709.   
 

So What is a Regulator to do? 

 
These critiques are not entirely consistent. Some call 
for broader scrutiny of past conduct to identify possible 
concerns. Others call for more limited questions 
focused on the most relevant of conduct and which do 
not have discriminatory effect.  
 
However, even the strongest critics seem to see some 
sort of ongoing role for regulators to screen the past 
conduct of applicants for registration. As Alice 
Woolley states: 

 
Moreover, it is possible to imagine plausible 
but hypothetical cases … in which maintenance 
of the character requirement seems essential. If, 
for example, a lawyer were to be disbarred by 
the Law Society of Alberta for 
misappropriation of client funds and then apply 
for admission to the Nova Scotia Barristers' 
Society, it is obvious that his admission should 
be denied on the basis of his character as 
evidenced by his disbarment. [footnote 

omitted] 
 
A good starting point for regulators is the leading case 
of Ontario (Alcohol and Gaming Commission of 

Ontario) v. 751809 Ontario Inc. (Famous Flesh 

Gordon's), 2013 ONCA 157 (CanLII), 
https://canlii.ca/t/fwk8l. That case dealt with whether a 
member of the Hells Angels met the “good character” 
requirements to obtain a liquor licence. The learning 
points from that case include the following: 
 

 The test in that legislation did not even refer to 
“good character”. Rather it took the more 
modern and relevant approach of asking 
whether the past conduct of the applicant 
afforded reasonable grounds for belief that the 

https://www.canadianlawyermag.com/news/opinion/the-trauma-of-proving-my-good-character/275404
https://www.canadianlawyermag.com/news/opinion/the-trauma-of-proving-my-good-character/275404
https://www.albertalawreview.com/index.php/ALR/article/view/2644
https://www.albertalawreview.com/index.php/ALR/article/view/2644
https://www.albertalawreview.com/index.php/ALR/article/view/2644
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/manitoba-lawyers-good-character-screening-1.5954198
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/manitoba-lawyers-good-character-screening-1.5954198
https://ij.org/report/barred-from-working/
https://ij.org/report/barred-from-working/
https://www.clearhq.org/page-1860709
https://canlii.ca/t/fwk8l
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applicant will not carry on business in 
accordance with the law and with integrity and 
honesty. 

 The regulator could look at any past conduct of 
the applicant, not just past conduct in the 
practice of the business or profession. 

 The past conduct did not need to result in 
criminal findings. 

 The analysis of the past conduct was for the 
sole purpose of assessing whether it was likely 
to affect the future conduct of the practitioner.  

 
Also, the standard of suitability based on anticipated 
future conduct is less generous to the applicant than the 
standard for removing someone from the profession 
who is already a member. That a practitioner has not 
been removed by their current regulatory body does 
not mean that another regulator has to register someone 
with a troubled practice history: Lum v Alberta Dental 

Association and College (Review Panel), 2016 ABCA 
154 (CanLII), https://canlii.ca/t/grmxn; Nowoselsky v 

Saskatchewan Association of Social Workers, 2015 
SKQB 390 (CanLII), https://canlii.ca/t/gmn1w.  
 
See also the discussion by Rebecca Durcan about how 
Canadian regulators, generally, are analyzing the 
relevance of past conduct concerns, from whatever 
source, to the future professional behaviour of the 
applicant: https://www.clearhq.org/page-1860709.  
 
Going beyond the guidance of the case law, regulators 
might consider the following: 
 

1. The legislative test should be amended if 
necessary so that it is based on whether the past 
conduct of the applicant provides a reasonable 

                                                 
2 In some jurisdictions, human rights provisions limit scrutiny of 
offence records. Those restrictions need to be honoured. 

basis to believe that their future behaviour is 
likely to cause harm. 

2. Even though the questions posed should not be 
limited to criminal conduct,2 they should be as 
objective as possible. For example, conduct 
that resulted in complaints, investigations, 
formal allegations, charges, tribunal findings or 
court findings might all be reportable. 

3. The questions should capture concerns where 
consequences were avoided, for example, by 
resigning from a position or similar avoidance 
strategies. 

4. Regulators should consider whether it is 
appropriate to obtain additional information 
beyond the applicant’s self-declaration. For 
example, contacting prior regulators of 
applicants should probably be routine. Even 
better would be a searchable database shared 
with other regulators. Are internet searches 
appropriate? Should CanLII or other court and 
tribunal case databases be searched? Should 
criminal record checks be required? 

5. The regulator should have a comprehensive 
published policy explaining in plain language 
the purpose of the registration conduct 
requirements, the process followed, and the 
considerations taken into account by the 
regulator. The policy should expressly address 
concerns about how disabilities will be 
accommodated and how the experience of 
individuals from marginalized groups will be 
taken into account.  

6. Communications strategies should be 
developed to ensure that potential applicants 
learn of the expectations and processes early on 
in their education and training for entry into the 

https://canlii.ca/t/grmxn
https://canlii.ca/t/gmn1w
https://www.clearhq.org/page-1860709
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profession. Posting a policy on the regulator’s 
website may not be sufficient. 

7. Special care must be taken in formulating the 
questions that will be asked about mental 
illness, addictions and historical conduct so as 
to comply with human rights obligations. 

8. Regulators should carefully review their 
processes and language used in communicating 
with applicants where there are concerns, 
particularly where those concerns might be 
related to disabilities and past trauma. For 
example, inviting the applicant to have a 
preliminary telephone call before receiving a 
formal letter requesting additional information 
may be appropriate in some cases. Perhaps the 
regulator can offer a resource person, who is 
not involved in the decision making, to 
communicate with the applicant, if desired. 

9. Investigations into concerns should be planned 
and focused. Requiring an applicant to report 
on their entire life experiences may not be 
necessary or appropriate. 

10. Both staff conducting investigations of prior 
conduct concerns and decision makers on 
whether the applicant’s past conduct creates a 
risk of future harm should receive training. The 
training should not only cover the published 
criteria, but should also include awareness of 
the impact of disabilities, race and social 
disadvantages on creating reportable past 
conduct concerns. 
 

Regulators will continue to face competing demands in 
the assessment of prior conduct of applicants for 
registration. However, awareness of the issues should 
enable regulators to balance protection of the public 
with humane, legally defensible processes and relevant 
criteria. 



 

FOR MORE INFORMATION 
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional regulation. If you are not receiving a copy and would like one, 
please contact: Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, 401 Bay Street, Suite 2308, P.O. Box 23, Toronto, ON M5H 2Y4, Tel: 416-599-2200  Fax: 416-593-7867,  
E-Mail: info@sml-law.com  

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE 
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter 
and the firm. Please send us a copy of the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas. 
 

Complaints Screening Criteria 
 
by Natasha Danson 
September 2021 - No. 259 
 
What criteria should be used to screen complaints for 
a possible referral to discipline? Decades ago most 
screening bodies simply referred a complaint where 
there was a prima facie case. Restated, the test was 
whether, if the evidence were believed, a finding could 
be made. 
 
Following the 1993 G. Arthur Martin report on charge 
screening in criminal cases, most screening bodies felt 
they could scrutinize the evidence somewhat to 
ensure that there was a reasonable prospect of a 
finding before making a referral. This represented a 
change from the previous test, permitting screening 
bodies to do some weighing of the evidence.   
 
With the advent of educational and remedial 
alternatives to a referral to discipline, screening bodies 
began to consider a second criterion in addition to the 
strength of the evidence as part of the reformulated 
test: whether the allegations warranted a discipline 
hearing. See Re Matheson and College of Nurses of 
Ontario, 1980 CanLII 1614 (ON CA), 
https://canlii.ca/t/g1hzj.  
 
The Alberta Court of Appeal has recently conducted a 
detailed review of the criteria for referral to discipline 
in the context of police discipline cases in Conlin v 
Edmonton (City) Police Service, 2021 ABCA 287 
(CanLII), https://canlii.ca/t/jhksl.  
 
The Conlin case involved a number of appeals of 
screening decisions made by the Chief of Police (the 
screening body under that legislation). The Court 
identified the primary issue before it of whether 
previous cases had conflated the two tests for 
assessing the evidence (i.e., the evidence if believed 
test or the reasonable prospect of a finding test).  
 

The Court said that it was inappropriate to conflate the 
two tests. The proper reasonable prospect of a finding 
test has three components to it: 
 

(a) The test, overall, is whether there is a 
“reasonable prospect of establishing the facts 
necessary for a conviction” at a hearing. This 
test only requires “a reasonable basis in the 
evidence” that would support a conviction, not 
that a conviction be probable or likely. The 
alternative formulation of the test in Land as 
being “enough evidence that, if believed, could 
lead to conviction” has turned out to be less 
helpful, and it should be avoided. 

 
(b) In performing this screening role, the chief 
of police is entitled to consider, as a whole, all 
of the evidence that has been gathered by the 
investigation, both direct and circumstantial, 
and inculpatory and exculpatory. While a 
limited weighing of the evidence is appropriate, 
the chief of police is not to determine if the 
charges are “proven”, nor the comparative 
reliability of parts of the evidence. This limited 
weighing of the evidence can include an 
assessment of plausibility, reliability and 
credibility …. 

 
(c) … The chief is entitled to take a realistic 
view of the evidence using the lens of his 
experience with policing. 

 
The Court added, however, that this test does not 
mean that a “he said, she said” case should not be 
referred to a hearing. Even without corroboration, 
there could be a reasonable prospect of a finding: 
 

For example, a recurring scenario in sexual 
assault prosecutions is that the complainant 
testifies there was “no consent”, whereas the 
accused testifies there was “consent”. Since 
sexual assault tends to be a crime committed 
in private, there are rarely any independent 

mailto:info@sml-law.com
https://canlii.ca/t/g1hzj
https://canlii.ca/t/jhksl
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witnesses or corroborating evidence on the 
issue of consent. Yet convictions result with 
some frequency in this situation. The 
explanation is simply that the complainant is 
believed at trial, and her evidence is of 
sufficient weight to allow the Crown to prove 
the case beyond a reasonable doubt. That 
eventuality is what can show a reasonable 
prospect of conviction. 
 
At a hearing, the law does not require proof 
based on uncontradicted evidence…. 
 
While a chief of police is entitled to engage in 
some weighing of the evidence in performing 
the gatekeeping function, it would be an error 
for the chief to proceed on the assumption that 
complainants generally are not believable or 
that the evidence of the police officer will 
always be preferred. Such assumptions 
undermine the need to hold police officers to 
account for their conduct. 

 
The Court accepted that there was a second part of 
the screening process, namely whether the allegations 
were serious enough to warrant a discipline hearing: 
 

Further, the chief of police is entitled to 
consider the seriousness of the allegations, the 
need to maintain discipline within the police 
service, and the need to maintain the 
reputation of the police service. 

 
Somewhat perplexing was the Court’s suggestion that 
this second part of the test could affect the first, 
reasonable prospect of a finding, test. One would think 
that the two parts of the test for referral should be 
applied independently.  
 
Another perplexing comment by the Court was 
reference to policy reasons for not holding a hearing 
even where there is a reasonable prospect of a finding: 
“The “policy reasons” for not holding a hearing arise in 

‘unusual circumstances’”. It is unclear whether this 
comment relates to the second part of the test 
(whether a referral to discipline is warranted) or 
whether there is a third criterion where even serious 
allegations might not be referred to a hearing (e.g., 
compassionate grounds such as where the 
practitioner is seriously ill).  
 
Care should be taken in applying this case to 
professional regulators. The Court indicated that 
different considerations may apply because the Police 
Chief was not an external regulator and the police 
officers involved were employees, among other 
considerations. However, the emphasis on clarity of 
screening criteria should be relevant to all regulators.  
 
In addition, the breadth of the types of factors that 
should be taken into account when screening a 
complaint in police matters has analogies to other 
professions: 
 

In the policing context, the range of reasonable 
outcomes justified by the relevant constellation 
of law and facts anticipates consideration of 
the factors previously mentioned, including: 
the evidence uncovered in the investigation; 
the strength of the evidence; the validity or 
appropriateness of any explanation given by 
the police officer for the impugned conduct; the 
Chief of Police’s experience as a police officer; 
the chief’s knowledge of the police service and 
its policies; the Chief’s general knowledge 
about policing standards; the seriousness of 
the allegations; the need to maintain discipline 
within the police service; the need to maintain 
the reputation of the police service; the overall 
context in which the events happened; the 
event itself; the complainant’s and the police 
officer’s perceptions of what occurred; and the 
perception that an objective observer would 
have of the events. 
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While perhaps not providing the clarity a regulator 
might desire, this case does contribute to the 
discussion. The case can be found at: 
https://canlii.ca/t/jhksl.  
 

https://canlii.ca/t/jhksl


June 28, 2021 

Sean Court 
Assistant Deputy Minister 
Strategic Policy, Planning & French Language Services Division 
Ministry of Health 
438 University Avenue, 10th floor 
Toronto ON M7A 2A5 

Dear ADM Court: 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide feedback on this important issue in healthcare 
regulation. 

Governance has been a particular area of focus for CTCMPAO over the past several months, as 
CTCMPAO has contracted a third party, Governance Solutions Inc., to conduct a review of our 
governance practices and provide recommendations on how we can improve our practices and 
modernize. Governance Solutions delivered the governance report on June 14, 2021. The 
Executive Committee and “Council” initially discussed the governance report at the open 
Executive Committee meeting on June 22, 2021. The “Council” has not yet had a chance to fully 
consider the report and a decision as to which recommendations should be implemented has 
not yet occurred. However, in general CTCMPAO is supportive of measures to improve our 
efficiency and our ability to respond swiftly to emerging needs. 

Although CTCMPAO is in the preliminary stages of discussing governance modernization, we do 
have a number of requests that would assist us in this process and improve our governance 
practices. 

Council Vacancies 

Since November of 2019, the Council of CTCMPAO has been without the requisite number of 
public appointees, and therefore unable to hold Council meetings, elections of officers and 
make major governance decisions. Despite conducting a governance review, receiving a 
governance review report, and holding discussions on how we would like to implement the 
recommendations set out in the report, because of the unconstituted Council, we are unable to 
proceed with making any changes. CTCMPAO believes that remaining unconstituted for 
prolonged periods harms a Council’s ability to carry out its functions in public safety.  



 
 

While we continue to request additional public members be appointed to our Council, we 
additionally request legislative amendments to state that a Council remains properly 
constituted even when it has vacancies. This provision would allow Council to continue to fulfill 
its duty at all times. 
 
Competency-Based Selection 
 
Competency-based selection of Council and Committee members is a major recommendation 
of the governance review report submitted by our third-party consultants. In addition to this, 
the CPMF makes it clear that there is some expectation that colleges will begin to adopt 
competency-based selection for their councils and committees going forward. CTCMPAO asks 
that the ministry support this initiative through a legislative change that makes it clear that 
colleges can implement competency-based selection through their by-laws. 
 
CTCMPAO is further asking for a competency-based selection process to be implemented for 
public appointees, that is done transparently with each college. For a timelier process, please 
consider allowing colleges a more involved role in the appointments of public members. For 
example, if there is difficulty in finding a candidate, colleges could become involved in the 
recruitment of potential public members. 
 
Separation of Discipline/Fitness to Practice Decisions 
 
Another recommendation from the governance review report is to have adjudicative functions 
of the College be independent. A possible solution to this is a legislative change to remove this 
function from the College and placed in another entity.  
 
This change would improve the public confidence in discipline and fitness to practice decisions, 
and ease a great deal of burden from the College in administering these Committees. In 
particular, it can be difficult in finding public representation to sit on panels, as we have a 
limited number of public members, and some will be conflicted from serving on the panel due 
to being involved in the earlier investigation of the matter. 
 
Increased Public Representation 
 
The governance review report recommends a public member to professional member ratio of 
50/50 on its statutory committees. CTCMPAO further acknowledges that it is a trend nationally 
to increase the representation of the public in professional regulation. A legislative change to 
make the number of public appointees equal to the professional elected members of Council 
would enable us to have public members available to sit on statutory committees and improve 
the representation of the public in our decisions. 
 



 
 

Terminology 
 
CTCMPAO supports modernizing language in the legislation that defines our role more clearly. 
For example, the terms “College” and “member” can be replaced with “Regulator” and 
“registrant”. 
 
We thank you again for the opportunity to provide feedback on this matter, and look forward 
to hearing more on governance improvements.  
 
 
Yours truly, 
 
  
_____________________________                                        ________________________                                                     
Richard Guo Qing Dong (President)    Ann Zeng (Registrar and CEO) 
 
 
Cc. Allison Henry, Director, Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch 
 
 



 

CTCMPAO Educational Tips Report 
January 2021 – September 2021 
 
Public Interest Rationale 
The College began sending out short educational email blasts to its members in 2019. The goal is to 
provide short and easy to understand emails that will help educate members on safe practice, changes 
in the regulatory environment and professional responsibilities. The emails are available in multiple 
languages to help members for whom English is not the first language to better understand the content. 
The College protects the public interest by keeping TCM practitioners and acupuncturists informed of 
their professional responsibilities so they can provide safe, competent and ethical care to their patients. 
 

Educational Tip Topics and Statistics 

Published On Topic Open Rate 
Percentage 

Click Rate 
Percentage 

Aug 31, 2021 Issues with Notifying Patients When Leaving a 
Practice 

1652 times 
61% 

158 times 
5.8% 

Aug 6, 2021 Fact Sheet on Suspensions 1780 times 
65.9% 

176 times 
6.5% 

Jul 9, 2021 Contact Information for Multiple Practice 
Locations 

1944 times 
72.2% 

177 times 
6.6% 

Jun 16, 2021 Advertising Best Practices 1578 times 
58.8% 

151 times 
5.6% 

May 31, 2021 Roles of Regulatory Colleges and Professional 
Associations 

1963 times 
73.2% 

185 times 
6.9% 

May 10, 2021 Patient Access to Health Care Records 1773 times 
66.3% 

225 times 
8.4% 

Apr 6, 2021 Closing or Leaving a Practice 2017 times 
76.1% 

232 times 
8.8% 

Mar 22, 2021 Billing Best Practices 1778 times 
67.2% 

302 times 
11.4% 

Mar 2, 2021 How Many Patient Visits Am I Required to 
Complete to Maintain My Registration with the 
College 

1843 times 
69.9% 

270 times 
10.2% 

Feb 12, 2021 Inappropriate Patient Behaviour in the Clinic 1820 times 
69.1% 

190 times 
7.2% 

https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/issues-with-notifying-patients-when-leaving-a-practice
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/issues-with-notifying-patients-when-leaving-a-practice
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/issues-with-notifying-patients-when-leaving-a-practice
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/fact-sheet-on-suspensions
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/fact-sheet-on-suspensions
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/contact-information-for-multiple-practice-locations
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/contact-information-for-multiple-practice-locations
https://mailchi.mp/ctcmpao/contact-information-for-multiple-practice-locations
https://mailchi.mp/612e36a3abdb/advertising-best-practices
https://mailchi.mp/612e36a3abdb/advertising-best-practices
https://mailchi.mp/39135487b77c/roles-of-regulatory-colleges-and-professional-associations
https://mailchi.mp/39135487b77c/roles-of-regulatory-colleges-and-professional-associations
https://mailchi.mp/39135487b77c/roles-of-regulatory-colleges-and-professional-associations
https://mailchi.mp/91d6ba5e354b/patient-access-to-health-care-records
https://mailchi.mp/91d6ba5e354b/patient-access-to-health-care-records
https://mailchi.mp/d8912ac1b139/closing-or-leaving-a-practice
https://mailchi.mp/d8912ac1b139/closing-or-leaving-a-practice
https://mailchi.mp/b00581f70690/billing-best-practices
https://mailchi.mp/b00581f70690/billing-best-practices
https://mailchi.mp/5d64f0e82be8/how-many-patient-visits-am-i-required-to-complete-to-maintain-my-registration-with-the-college
https://mailchi.mp/5d64f0e82be8/how-many-patient-visits-am-i-required-to-complete-to-maintain-my-registration-with-the-college
https://mailchi.mp/5d64f0e82be8/how-many-patient-visits-am-i-required-to-complete-to-maintain-my-registration-with-the-college
https://mailchi.mp/5d64f0e82be8/how-many-patient-visits-am-i-required-to-complete-to-maintain-my-registration-with-the-college
https://mailchi.mp/2d95ee07f648/inappropriate-patient-behaviour-in-the-clinic
https://mailchi.mp/2d95ee07f648/inappropriate-patient-behaviour-in-the-clinic


 

Jan 20, 2021 Can I Discuss Vaccines with My Patients? 1779 times 
68.2% 

161 times 
6.2% 

 
(Please visit the College’s website for previous years’ Educational Tips.) 
 
 
 
 
 

Open Rate Percentages for Educational Tips in 2021 
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The purpose of this Work Plan is to set the targets of the College for the period of 2018 –2021. The work plan is a high-level document that outlines what 
is needed to accomplish each goal (collaboration, resources, target dates, anticipated obstacles and solutions).  

*Please note due to the COVID-19 pandemic and Council being unconstituted, the College has had to shift its priorities and resources. The 
work plan timeline will have to be extended and certain projects are temporarily delayed or put on hold. 
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Strategic 
Direction 

Key Activities Accountability/A
nticipated 

Resources  

Budget 
 

Timelines Current Status 

Good 

Governance 
a) Regulatory Modernization 

• Participate in 
consultations, working 
groups 

• Implement policies 
resulting from legislation 
changes 

• Council 
• Registrar 
• Policy Analyst 
• Legal Counsel 

• $5000 
annually for 
legal counsel 
to review 
policies 

• Current  
• Ongoing 

• The President, Registrar had 
attended a session hosted by 
HPRO that discussed Governance 
Frameworks for regulatory bodies 
in Ontario, Nationally and 
internationally.   

b) Governance Enhancement 
• Evaluation Process 
• Provide training and 

available resources 
• Committee Terms of 

Reference 
• Prepare governance 

manual 

• Council 
• Registrar 
• Legal Counsel  
• Presenters 

• $15,000 
annually for 
presenters 
and training 
sessions 
 

• Council 
Evaluation 
Process every 
quarter 

• Training 
conducted 
annually 

• December 2018 
• December 

2018/March 
2019 

• December 18, 
2019 

• Updated the Council Evaluation 
form for the Sept 2018 Council 
meeting.  
District 3 elections held in Sept-
Oct 2018  

• Council training for new and 
current members scheduled for 
Dec 2018 

• By-Election to fill a vacant seat in 
District 1 being held Oct 2019. 

• Districts 4 & 5 Elections held with 
2 members in District 4 and one in 
District 5 being acclaimed to 
Council beginning Dec. 2019 

• Full day Council training on Dec 
18, 2019, discussed College Roles 
and responsibilities, invited 
President of Dundee Consulting 
Group and legal counsel to present 
on good governance, conflict of 
interest. 

• Governance manual being drafted 
• Initiate governance review 
• Reached out to consultants. Ms. 

Shenda Tanchak to be lead 
consultant, Ms. Deanna Williams to 
act as advisor. 

• Elections for District 1 & 2 held on 
Oct 29 2020 with two members re-
elected onto Council from District 1 
and 1 member acclaimed to 
Council from District 2. 

• Researched different possible 
consultants for governance review. 

• Invited Andrew Parr, CEO of CONO 
to speak to EC on their recently 
completed governance review. 



CTCMPAO Workplan 2018-2021  (September, 2021)      Page 3 of 12 

• Invited Richard Steinecke to 
present on governance at Dec 9, 
2020 Council orientation/training 
session. 

• On September 17, 2020 open 
meeting of the EC, the EC agreed 
to conduct the College governance 
review and directed staff to do 
more research on possible 
candidates for the governance 
review. 

• Received proposals from different 
consultants. 

• The EC decided to proceed with 
Governance Solutions Inc. for the 
College’s governance review. 

• Governance Solutions Inc. held 
kick-off meeting with EC at Feb 18, 
2021 EC meeting. 

• Submitted College governance 
documents to GSI for review.  

• Scheduled interviews between GSI 
and Council members and senior 
staff. 

• GSI has provided the College with 
the completed report. 

• Report will be reviewed with 
Council members at the June 22, 
2021 open meeting of the EC. 

• Began research on competency 
requirements. 

• Received revised governance 
review report from consultant. 

• Election of District 3 will be held in 
October 2021. 

• 2 members were acclaimed to 
District 3.  

c) Annual By-Law Review to 
ensure currency 

 

• Council 
• Registrar 
• Policy Analyst 
• Legal Counsel 

• $5000 
annually for 
legal counsel 
to review and 
make by-law 
amendments 

• Conducted 
annually 
January 

• Revised By-Laws are in effect with 
the new fee schedule.  

• Revised By-Laws and fees schedule 
were sent out for circulation in 
2018-2019. Back at Council for 
discussion and approval  

• Completed a full review of the By-
Laws and in effect since April 1, 
2018 



CTCMPAO Workplan 2018-2021  (September, 2021)      Page 4 of 12 

• Worked with legal counsel to 
review by-laws in Jan 2020. 
Pending approval by Council. 

• More proposed changes based on 
governance report.  
 

d) Evaluation planning 
• Develop evaluation 

planning tools for all 
statutory programs and 
communications with 
stakeholders   

• Setup CRM to produce 
reports for analysis 

• Surveying membership 
• Prepare baseline data and 

evaluation reports  

• Registrar 
• Director of IT 
• Program 

Managers 
• IT consultant 

• $15,000 to 
develop CRM 
reports 

• December 2018 
- Evaluation 
Plan 

• March 2019 - 
CRM Reports 

• April 2019 - 
Membership 
surveys 
 

• Ministry is creating a working 
group to develop a framework on 
performance management.  

• Registrar is actively attending 
working groups to provide 
feedback. 

• CPMF has been launched and 
College is working on the report. 

• Registrar and College staff 
attended weekly meetings with 
HPRO working group and 
collaborated with other colleges on 
the CPMF project. 

• An initial draft of the CMPF report 
has been completed.  

• The EC approved the initial draft of 
the CPMF report in principle.  

• CPMF report was submitted to the 
Ministry. 

• Published report on College 
website. 

• College worked on action items for 
CPMF requirements that have not 
been met or have partially been 
met. 
 

Practitioner 
Competence 

a) Develop Standards of Practice 
• Standards addressing 

prevention of sexual abuse 
(consent, communication, 
boundaries, etc.) 

• Standards for TCM modalities 
(acupuncture, tuina, cupping, 
etc) 

• Registrar 
• Policy Analyst 
• SMEs 

(practitioners) 
• Legal Counsel 

• $5,000 
annual for per 
diems 

• $5,000 
annually for 
legal counsel 
 

• January 2019 - 
Standards for 
Prevention of 
Sexual Abuse 

• Jan 2021 - 
Profession 
specific 
standards 
 

• Standards have been presented to 
QA and Patient Relations. Will be 
reviewed by legal counsel and sent 
out for consultation.  

• 4 standards of practice have been 
approved by Council. 2 standards 
require public consultation. 

• The Standard for Record-Keeping 
was sent out for public 
consultation 

• Standard for Preventing Sexual 
Abuse and Standard for Consent 
came into effect on April 1, 2020. 

• Public consultation for Standard for 
Record-Keeping complete.  
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• Standard for Record Keeping 
approved to come into effect on 
January 1, 2021. 

• Public consultation for Standard for 
Fees and Billing is complete. 

• Standard for Fees and Billing 
approved to come into effect on 
April 1, 2021. 

Professional Development  
• Produce webinars and videos 

for Standards of Practice and 
mandatory courses. 

 

• Registrar 
• Director of IT 
• Managers 
• Communications 

Coordinator 
• Communications 

Firm 

• $40,000 
annually for 
video 
production/we
binar costs 

• Semi-Annual 
Webinars 
 

• A webinar on record keeping was 
offered on Oct 10th, 2018 to the 
membership. Over 800 members 
attended.  

• The webinar was recorded and will 
be posted on the College website.  

• Produced first video and in 
progress of selecting third party 
company. 

• Webinar on Standard for 
Preventing Sexual Abuse was held 
on April 1, 2020. Over 700 
members attended. 

• Webinar on the Standard for 
Advertising was held on July 17, 
2020. 

• Webinar on Standard for Infection 
Control held on Nov 27, 2020. 

• Webinar on Standard for Record-
Keeping was held on March 26, 
2021. 

• Webinar on Standard for Fees and 
Billing scheduled for June 25. 

• Webinar on Standard for Consent 
scheduled for end of October. 

b) Enhance Entry to Practice 
Examination 

• New exam format to 
increase security and 
consistency 

• More examination 
offerings 

• Further develop the 
examination item bank.  

• Registrar 
• Manager of 

Registration 
• Project Manager 
• SMEs 

(practitioners) 

• Cost 
recoverable 
through 
Candidate 
Fees 

• $120,000 
annually 

• October 2020 • Transition timelines have been 
approved to offer the current PCE 
for one more attempt. Will be 
moving to CBT in the Fall of 2020. 

• Candidate handbook is being 
reviewed and updated 

• Master list of Performance 
Indicators was shared with schools 

• Practical assessment blueprint 
being developed 

• April 6, 2020 Practical Assessment 
Blueprint Development session 
changed to remote meeting due to 
COVID-19. 
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• SME activity meeting dates for 
May-Nov will be held remotely due 
to COVID-19. 

• Opening of Pan-Can exam 
applications scheduled for first 
week of May. 

• Applications for Pan-Can exam 
closed on July 15, 2020. 

• CARB-TCMPA Candidate Handbook 
was revised and updated on 
College website. 

• CARB-TCMPA has decided to 
deliver the October 2020 sitting 
using an online proctored format. 

• CARB will be offering two sittings of 
the Pan-Can exam next year. 

• Work to assume the development 
and administration of Pan-Can 
Exams has been transferred from 
the Consortium of TCM Regulators 
to CARB-TCMPA. 

• Applications for April 2021 Pan-
Can exam closed on January 14, 
2021. 

• The results of the Dec 2020 clinical 
case study retake exam were 
released on Feb 17, 2021. 

• Results of the April 2021 exam was 
released on June 25, 2021. 

• Applications for October 2021 Pan-
Can exam closed on July 15, 2021. 

c) Enhance QA Program 
• Hire a consultant to 

revamp a new QA program 
• Develop an online QA tool 

for annual self-
assessments  

 

• Registrar 
• Manager of 

Registration and 
QA  

• Director of IT 
• QA Coordinator 
• QA Consultant 

• $180,000 for 
the first year 

• $56,000 
annually after 
year one 

• July 2020 
• April 2021 

• Dr. David Cane presented to the 
QA committee on Career Span 
Competencies and explore a new 
model for professional 
development. A similar 
presentation was provided to the 
College Council on March 26. 

• Dr. David Cane presented to the 
QA committee in Aug 2019 and 
discussion is on-going.   

• Invited 3 colleges to present on 
their QA program. Staff has 
drafted and sent out RFP for 
Consulting Services for the Quality 
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Assurance Program Enhancement 
Project. 

• Received two proposals in 
response to the RFP. In the 
process of scheduling an interview 
with both consultants. 

• Scheduled two interviews with 
consultants and QA Committee.  

• QA Committee has selected the 
consultant.  

• Finalized project service 
agreement with consultant.  

• Met with QA Committee for project 
update. 

• College staff met with consultant 
to discuss the first deliverable of 
the project and stakeholder 
interviews. 

• Stakeholder Interview Script and 
Guide was received and reviewed 
by the QA Committee. 

• The Summary Report for Quality 
Assurance (QA) in the Context of 
Regulated Health Professions: 
Policy Review, Best Practices, and 
Emerging Trends was received and 
reviewed by the QA Committee. 

• Draft of the Summary Report for 
CTCMPAO QA Program Review was 
received and is currently 
undergoing revision. 

• College staff and Mr. Gontcharov 
met to discuss a draft of the 
second deliverable of the project. 

• The Program Review Summary 
Report was received and reviewed 
by the QA Committee. 

• The stakeholder survey was sent 
to the membership. 

• A draft of the Summary Report for 
the Stakeholder Interviews was 
received. 

• College staff and Mr. Gontcharov 
met to discuss the survey results 
and draft Summary Report for the 
Stakeholder Interviews. 
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• QA Committee reviewed updated 
Stakeholder Interviews Summary 
Report and member survey 
results. 

• College staff and consultant met to 
discuss the draft final report. 

• Consultant presented draft final 
report to QAC. 

• Consultant submitted a plain-
lanuage summary of the final 
report and recommendations. 

• QAC accepted the final report for 
Phase 1 and recommended the 
Framework to Council for approval  

• Consultant to present to Council on 
the summary of the report. 

Stakeholder 

Communicati
ons 

• Outreach with 
stakeholders including, 
schools, associations, and 
other organizations 

• President 
• Vice President 
• Registrar 
• Manager of 

Registration 
• Communications 

Coordinator 

• $5000 
annually for 
travel costs 
and printing 
costs 

• Ongoing 
communication
s 

• Annual 
meetings 

• School visits 

• Qi Newsletter sent out May 31. 
• Held a meeting with TCM schools 

on August 21 to discuss the new 
Exam format and provide updates 
to current College activities. 

• Presented and provided remarks at 
Humber College TCM conference 
and OCTCM conference.  

• Held a meeting with TCM schools 
on August 30, 2019 re updates on 
CBE and current scoring. 

• Qi newsletter sent out Dec 13, 
2019. 

• Qi newsletter sent out April 30, 
2020. 

• Regular communications with 
associations, schools and other 
regulators. 

• Held virtual meeting with TCM 
schools on May 15, 2020 regarding 
interim changes to registration and 
application process for Pan-Can 
Exams due to COVID-19. 

• Virtual annual meeting with 
schools scheduled for August 26, 
2020. 

• To plan a meeting with 
associations. 

• Sent support letter to the 8th 
International Conference of 
Western Studies on Chinese 
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Medicine and 2020 Canadian 
Acupuncture and TCM Continuing 
Education Conference. 

• Sent initial email to associations 
for a meeting. 

• Qi Newsletter sent out on Oct 9, 
2020. 

• Held virtual meeting with TCMO on 
Oct 26, 2020 to exchange updates. 

• Qi Newsletter sent out Dec 18, 
2020. 

• Qi Newsletter sent out March 10, 
2021. 

• Semi-annual meeting with schools 
was held on May 26, 2021. 

• Staff presented to students on 
registration process and Pan-Can 
exams 

• Qi Newsletter sent out July 20, 
2021. 

 
• Develop a communication 

plan  
• Registrar 
• Communications 

Firm 

• N/A • March 2019 • Draft Communication Plan 
presented to Council on March 26, 
2019 

• Communication Plan was adopted 
by Council on March 26, 2019. 

Public 
Confidence 

School Program Approval 
• RFP for a third Party to 

develop a process 
 

• Registrar 
• CARB-TCMPA 
• Consultant 

• $50,000 first 
year 

• $20,000 
annually after 
year one 

• April 2019 – 
RFP  

• December 2019 
- RFP 
 

• Exploring various options for a 
school program approval process. 

• Met with a vendor to discuss 
program approval and 
accreditation options.  

• Discussions are on-going and 
timelines will be adjusted to 
account for changes in leadership.  

• Drafted RFP. CARB-TCMPA Board 
approved RFP to be sent out from 
CARB. RFP will be reviewed by 
legal counsel. 

• Sent out finalized RFP. Submission 
deadline is April 6, 2020. 

• RFP submission deadline extended 
to May 15, 2020. 

• Proposals have been reviewed by 
directors of CARB. Interviews to be 
scheduled for consultants to 
present their proposals to CARB. 
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• TOR for an Education Accreditation 
Working Group have been 
finalized. A working group to be 
appointed.  

• Consultant has been selected. 
• TOR Accreditation Requirements 

Advisory Committee Traditional 
Chinese Medicine and Acupuncture 
Education Accreditation was 
drafted. 

• Call for members for the TCM 
Education Accreditation 
Requirements Advisory Committee 
(ARAC). 

• ARAC finalized. Kick off meeting 
was held on Oct 23, 2020. 

• FICS provided a virtual 
presentation to all educators on 
the Education Accreditation Project 
on Nov 3, 2020. 

• First draft of the national 
accreditation standards has been 
completed and is being reviewed 
by ARAC. 

• Draft standards were sent out for 
national consultation in late 
January. 

• CARB-TCMPA and FICS held virtual 
meeting with Ontario educators to 
discuss draft standards on Feb 2, 
2021. 

• Deadline for the national 
consultation has been extended to 
March 26, 2021. 

• The RC reviewed the survey and 
provided comments to the draft 
Standards and the College response 
to survey. 

• Submitted response to draft 
standards survey to CARB. 

• ARAC reviewed feedback from 
survey and made revisions to 
standards for a second 
consultation. 
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• Second consultation for revised 
standards was held on September 
9, 2021. 

TCM Education 
• Further communication 

about differences between 
TCM and other 
acupuncture 

• Video platform/Resources 
• Communications plan 

• Registrar 
• Communications 

Coordinator 
• SMEs 

• $40,000 for 
video 
production 

• March 2019– 
Communication
s Plan 

• Dec 2019 – 
Public 
communication 

• Dec 2019 – 
Video 
platform/resour
ces 

 

• Communication plan presented at 
the Council meeting on Mar 2019 

• Educational newsletters have been 
sent. 

• A new format for by-weekly 
Educational Bits effect September 
20, 2019. 

• General educational conference 
has been scheduled for March 25, 
2020. 

• Produced first video and in 
progress of selecting third party 
company. 

• the College received direction from 
the Executive Committee to move 
forward with the two 
recommended video production 
companies, Fifth Story and Maltese 
Media. 

• General Conference postponed due 
to COVID-19.  

• Received first draft of Introduction 
to Standards of Practice video from 
Maltese Media.  

• Completed Standards of Practice 
video 

• Two videos have been published: 
1) Standards of Practice and 2) 
What is CTCMPAO? 

• Two videos are currently being 
produced with the help of a third-
party video production company: 
1) What is the Public Register? and 
2) How to File a Complaint 

• Video production of “What is 
Traditional Chinese Medicine from 
a Public Safety Perspective” is 
currently postponed due to COVID-
19. 

• Completed two videos on “What is 
the Public Register?” and “How to 
File a Complaint” 

• Began work with third-party video 
production company on video for 
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“How to Become a Registered 
Traditional Chinese Medicine 
Practitioner and/or Acupuncturist 
in Ontario?” 

 Doctor Title 
• Complete Phase 1 

environmental scan 
• Phase 2  

o Develop 
competencies 

o Class entry 
requirements 

o Assessment 
processes 

• Doctor Title 
Working Group 

• Registrar 
• Manager of 

Registration & 
QA 

• Policy Analyst 
 

• $100,000 
annually 

• July 2019 – 
Phase 1 

• Ongoing – 
Phase 2 

• Worked with practitioners and 
schools to finalize the survey. It 
was sent out to all stakeholders.  
Deadline to complete survey is 
June 14. 

• Focus groups with the public and 
members in July 

• Will be sending out a survey to the 
membership in August. Draft final 
report has been delivered by 
Malatest for review. 

• New terms of reference was 
approved. 

• In progress of drafting RFP for 
phase 2. 

• Call for interest for Dr. Title Group 
has been posted and College has 
received applications. 

• New members to be appointed to 
the working group when Council is 
constituted. 
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